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Dated: Date of Delivery

The Bonds are being executed and delivered in fully registered form and when executed and delivered will
be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York.
Individual purchases will be made In principat amounts of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof and wilt be In book
entry form only. Purchasers of the Bonds will not receive certificates representing thelr beneficial ownership in the
Bonds but will receive credit balances on the books of their respective nominees. Interest evidenced by the Bonds is
payable semiannually on 1 and 1 of each year, commencing 1, 2022, The
princlpal of and interest with respect to the Bonds is payable by the Trustes to Cede and Co.; and such interest and
principal payments and premium, if any, are to be disbursed to the beneficial owners of the Bonds through their
nominees.

The Bonds are subject to optional and extraordinary prepayment as more fully described herein.

The Bonds are being delivered to provide funds (i) to fund a construction fund; (i) to fund a reserve fund,
and (jii) to pay costs of delivery of the Bonds, all as more fully described herein.

The Bonds are being delivered pursuant fo the Trust Agreement dated as of 1, 2021, by
and among the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services Distriot and U.S. Bank Global Trust as Trustee, The
obilgation of the District to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds is a special limited obligation of the District
payable solely from Net Water Revenues of the Dlstrict and certain funds and accounts created under the Trust
Agreement.

Principal and Interest on the Bonds are payable from Net Water Revenues of the Distiict, consisting of the
District's water system revenues and certain other revenues of the District remaining after payment of Operation and
Maintenance Costs. The District may incur additional obligations payable from Net Water Revenues on parity with the
Bonds, subject fo the terms and conditions of the Trust Agreement, as more fully described herein,

The obligation of the District to pay principal and interest on the Bonds does not censtitute an obligation for
which the District Is obligated to levy or pledge any form of taxation or for which it has levied or pledged any form of
taxation. The obligation of the District to pay principal and interest on the Bonds is a special limited obligation of the
District payable solely from net water revenues, and does not constitule a debt of the District or of the state of
california or of any political subdivision thereof in contravention of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or

restriction.

in the opinion of Robert M. Haight, Alterney at Law, under existing statues, regulations, rulings and judiclal
decisions, and assuming the accuracy of cerain representations and compliance with certain covenants and
requiremants described hereln, the portion of each Water Revenue Payment constituting interest (and original issue
discotnt) Is excluded from gross income for federat Income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference for
purposes of calculating the federal alternalive minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations. In the further
opinton of the Special Counsel, the portion of each Water Revenue Payment constituting Interest (and orlginal issue
discount) is exempt from State of California perscnal income tax. See “TAX MATTERS" herein with respect to tax

consequences with respect to the Bonds.

This cover page contalns certain information for reference only. It is not a summary of this issue. Invesiors are
advised to read the entire official statement to obtain information essental to the malking of an informed investment

decision.

STINSON SECURITIES LLC
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The Bonds are offered when, as and if dslivered and recelved by the Underwriter, subject o the approval of the valid,
tegal and binding nature of the Trust Agreement by Robert M. Haight, Attorney at Law, Special Counsel, and certain
other conditions, Gertain legal matters will be passed upon for the District by Alan Smith, Esq., and for the Trustee by

its counsel. It is anticipated that the Bonds will be available for delivery through the facilities of The Depository Trust
Company on or about . 2021,

$ .
PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
2021 WATER REVENUE BONDS
MATURITY SCHEDULE

Maturity Princlpal Amount Rate Yield




No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the District or the Underwriter to give
any Information or te make any representations other than those contained in this Official Statement in connection
with the offering made hereby and, if given or made, such other Information or representations must not be relied
upon as having been authorized by the District or the Underwriter. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer
to seli or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by a person in any jurisdistion in
which it is unlawful for such person to make such an offer, solicitation or sale.

This Officlal Statement Is not to be consfrued as a contract with the purchasers of the Bonds. Statements
contained in this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly
so described herein, are intended solely as such and are not to be construed as a representation of facts,

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this official statement.

The Underwriter has reviewad the Information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a part of,
its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this
transaction, bul the Underwriter does not guarantee the aceuracy or completeness of such information.

The information set forth herein has been oblained from officlal sources which are helieved to be reliable but
it is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness, and is not to be construed as a representation by the
Underwriter. The Information and expression of opinions hereln are subject to change without notice and neither
delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hersunder shall, under any sircumstances, create any
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Distrlct since the date hereof.

In connection with this offering, the Underwriter may over allot or effect transactions which stabilize or
rnaintain the market price of the Bonds at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. Such
. stabilizing, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

Certain statements contained in this Official Statement reflect not historical facts but forecasts and “forward-
looking statements.” No assurance can be given that the future results discussed herein will be achieved, and actual
results may differ materially from the forecasts describad herein. In this respect, the words “estimate,” “project,”
“anticipate,” "expect,” “intend,” "believe” and similar expressions are intended fo identify forward-looking statements,
All prajections, forecasts, assumptions, expressions of opinions, estimates and other farward-looking statements are
expressly qualified in thelr entirety by the cautionary statements set forth in this Officlal Statement.

The Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon an
exemption contained in such act. The Bonds have not been registered or qualified under the securities laws of any

state,

All information material to the maling of an informed investment decislon with respect to the Bonds is
contained in this Official Statement. While the District maintains an internet website for various purposes, none of the
Information on its website Is incorporated by reference info this Officlal Statement. Any such Information that is
incensistent wlth the information set forth In this Official Statement should be disregarded.
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This summaty is subject in all respects to the more complete information contained in this OFfcial Statement,
and the offering of the Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of the entire Official Statement.

Purpose. The Bonds are being delivered to provide funds {i) to fund a construction fund; (i) to fund a reserve
fund, and (jil) to pay costs of delivery of the Bonds, all as more fully described herein, |

Security for the Bonds. The Bonds are payable from Net Water Revenues of the District, censisting of water
system revenues and certaln other revenues of the Dislrict remalning aiter payment of Cperation and Maintenance
Costs, and are additionally secured by certain funds and accounts established pursuant to the Trust Agreement,
Under the Trust Agreement, the District has covenanted not to issue or Incur any obligations payable from Net Water
Revenues senior to the Bonds. The District may Issue additional Bonds or incur contracts payable from Net Water
Revenues on a parity with the Bonds in the future as described herein. The District may at any time execute an
obligation payahle from Water Revenues payable on a subordinated baslsto the payment of the principal of and
interest on the Bonds, .

The abligation of the District fo pay principal of and Interest on the Bonds is absolute and unconditional, and
until such time as all payments required thereunder shall have been paid in full (or provision for the payment thereof
shall have been made as provided for in the Trust Agreement).

The obligation of the District to pay principat of and interest on the Bonds does not constitute an obligation
for which the District Is obligated fo levy or pledge any form of taxation or for which the District has jevied or pledged
any form of taxation. The obligation of the District to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds is a speclal limited
obligation of the District payable solely from the Net Water Revenues, and does not constitute a debt of the District or
of the State of California or any political subdivision thereof In eontraventlon of any constitutional or stalutory debt
limitation or restriction. '

The Bonds are issued on a parity with {a) 2007 Loan Refinancing, more particularly set forth In Table 1t
herein, and (b) the 2015 Water Revenue Bonds more parficularly set forth,

Rate Covenant. The Trust Agreement will require the District, to the fullest extent permitted by faw, to fix,
presciibe and collect rates and charges for the Water Service provided by the Water System which will be at least
sufficient fo yield during each Flscal Year Water System Net Water Revenues equal to one hundred fifteen percent
(115%) of Debt Service for such Fiscal Year, an the Bonds and any then cutstanding parity obligations.

Additional Bonds Test. The Trust Agreement permits the District to exectte any contract or issue any Bonds,
as the case may be, payable from Net Water Revenues on parity with the Bonds, provided that certain conditions
uncier the Trust Agreement are satisfled as described herain, :

Reserve Fund. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of the Bonds, the Trustee is to establish, -
malntain and hold in trust a Reserve Fund and the District will deposit therein District reserves in an amount equal to
the Reserve Requirentent. Moneys in the Reserve Duns wiil be used and withdrawn solely for the purpose of paying
principal of and interest evidenced by the Bonds in the avent moneys In the Bond Payment Fund are insufficient
therefore and making the final payments of principal of and interest evidenced by the Bonds.

Redemption, The Bonds are subject to optional prepayment as described herein.

The District. The Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services Distiict (the "District”) was incorporated in 1983
pursuant to the Community Services District Act as set forth In the Govemnrent Code of the State of California. The
present District was formed in 1992 by consolidating the area formerly served by the Pajaro Fire District and the
Sunny Mesa Mutual Water Company. it is located in the foothills of the Pajaro Valley which is adjacent to the Cily of
Walsonville, California, eighty (80) miles southeast of San Francisco, Californla, and fifteen (15) miles north of
Salinas, California (see the location map above).
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The District is, among other things, empowered to provide park and street lighting services to the community
of Royal Oaks and fo supply domestic water from its varlous facilities, which,a s of January 1, 2021, consisted of
1403 connagtions,

The District is governed by a 8-member Board of Directors who are appointed by the Monteray County
Board of Supervisors to serve 4-year terms,
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
2021 WATER REVENUE BONDS

INTRODPUCTION

This Official Statement, including the cover page and all appendices hereto, provides certain
information concerning the sale and delivery of Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District 2021 Water
Revenue Bonds (the "Bonds™). Descriptions and summaries of various documents hereinafier set forth do not
purport to be comprehensive or definitive, and reference is made to each document for complete details of all
terms and conditions, All staternents herein are qualified in their entirety by reforence to each document.
Capitalized termos 1ised and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Appendix
B hereto entitled "DEFINITIONS AND SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS. "

The Bonds are payable by the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Communify Services Distriot (the "District®) and
are issued under the Trust Agreement dated as of , 2021 (the "Trust Agreement"), by and between the
District and U.S, Bank Global Trust (the "Trustee™).

The Bonds are being delivered to provide funds (i) to fiund a construction fund; (ii) to fund a reserve
fund, and (iii) to pay costs of delivery of the Bonds, as more fully described under the caption "ESTIMATED
SOURCES AND TSES OF FUNDS" herein.

The principal of and interest on the Bonds are payable from Net Water Revenues of the District,
consisting of water system revenues and certain other revenues of the District remaining after payment of
Operation and Maintenauce Costs and are additionally secursd by certain funds and accounts established under
the Trust Agreement. The District may incur additional obligations payable from Net Water Revenues on
parity with the Bonds, subject to the texms and conditions of the Trust Agreement, as more filly described
under the caption "SECURITY FOR THE BONDS" hersin.

The obligation of the District to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds under the Trust Agreement
is absolute and unconditional, and until such time as all payments required thereunder shall have Been paid in
full {or provision for the payment theyeof shall have been made as provided for in the Trust Agreement).

The obligation of the District to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds pursuant to the Trost
Agreement does not constifute an obligation for which the District is abligated to Ievy or pledge any form of
taxation or for which the District has levied or pledged any form of taxation, The obligation of the District fo
pay principal of and interest on the Bonds is a special limited obligation of the District payable solely from the
Net Water Revenues, and does not constitute a debt of the District or of the State of California or any political
subdivision thereof in contravention of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction.

Under the Trust Agreemend, the District has covenanted not to issue or incur any obligations payable
from Net Water Revenues senior to the Bonds, The District may issue additional Bonds or execute coniracts
payable from Net Water Revenues on parity with the Bonds in the future as described herein. The Tiust
Agreement does not impose any limitation on the issuance of additional obligations payable from Net Water
Revenues subordinate to the Bonds.

The summaries and references to the Trost Agreement and afl documents, statutes, reporis and ofher
instruments referred to herein do noet purport to be complete, comprehensive or definfiive, and cach such
summary or reference is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full the Trust Agreement and each such

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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document, statute, report or instrument, copies of which are available for inspection at the offices of the
District in Royal Oaks, California and will be available from the Trustee upon request and payment of
duplication cost. The capitalization of any word not conventionally capitalized or otherwise defined herein,
indicates that such word is defined in the Trust Agreement and, as used herein, has the meaning given to it in
the Trust Agreement Unless otherwise Indicated, all financial and statistical information herein has been
provided by the Disixiet.

The District regularly prepares a variety of reports, including audits, budgets and related documents.
Any Bond Owner may obtain a copy of such report, as available, from the Trustee or the District. Additional
information regarding this Official Statement may be obtained by contacting Don Rosa, General Manager,
Pajaro/Suony Mesa Community Services District, 136 San Juan Road, Royal Qaks, California 95076,
telephone (831) 722-1389. '

THE BONDPS

General Provisions

The Bonds will be executed and delivered in the aggregate principal amount of § % The

Bonds will be dated as of the date of initial delivery thereof (the "Delivery Date"), will represent interest from

such date at the rates per annum set forth on the inside front cover page hereof, payable semiannualty on

1 and 1 of each year, commencing 1, 2022 (each, an “Inerest

Payment Daie"), aud wiil matue on the dates sot forth on the cover page hersof. Interest with respect to the
Bond will be coraputed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve thirty-day months. '

The Bonds will be delivered only in fully registered form and, when executed and delivered, will be
vegistered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York
(“DTC*" or the "Depository™). DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. Ownership interests in the
Bonds may be purchased in book-entry form, in denominations of $5,000 or any integral muitiple thereof See
the caption "Book-Entry Only System* below and Appendix D attached herefo.

In the event the book-enty only system described below is discontinued, the principal and
prepayment premium (if any) evidenced by any Bonds are payable by check or draft of the Trustee upon
presentation and surrender thereof at maturity or upon prior prepayment at the office of the Trustee in San
Francisco, California (the "Office of the Trustee"). Interest evidenced by each Bond is payable on each Interest
Payment Date to the person whose name appears on the regisiration books maintained by the Trustes (the
"Repistration Books") as the Owner thereof as of the close of business on the fificenth day of the calendar
month preceding the Interest Payment Date (the "Record Date"), such interest to be paid by check or draft of
the Trustee, sent by first class mail to the Owner at such Owner's address as it appears on the Registration
Books. An Owner of $1,000,000 or more in principal amount of Bonds may, at such Owner's option, be paid
interest by wire transfer of immediately available funds in accordance with written instructions provided to the
Trustee by such Owner prior to the applicable Record Date. The principal of and interest and premivm
evidenced by the Bonds shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America,

Interest with yespect to any Bond will be payable from the Interest Payment Date preceding the date
of execution thereof, unless such date is after a Record Date and on or before the succeeding Interest Payment
Date, in which case interest with respect thereto will be payable from such Inferest Payment Date, or unless
such date is on or before the fiftcenth day of the calendar month prior to the first Interest Payment Date, in
which case interest with respect thereto will be payable from the Delivery Date.

* Prefiminary, subject to change.

PRELIMMNARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT
PATARDYSUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES PISTRICT
Pape 2




Book-Entry Only System

Prior to the execution and delivery of the Bonds, the District may provide that such Bonds shall be
initially executed and delivered as book-entry Bonds, If the District shall elect to deliver any Bonds in
bookentry form, fhen the District shall cause the delivery of a separate single fully registered bond (which may
be typewritten) for each maturity date of such Bonds in an authorized denomination corresponding to that total
principal amount of the Bonds designated to mature on such date, Upon initial execution and delivery, the
ownership of each such Bond shall be registered in the Bond registration books in the name of the Nominee, as
nominee of the Depository and ownership of the Bonds, or any portion thereof may not thereafter be
transferred except as provided in the Trust Agreement.

In the event (i) the Depository determines not to continue to act as securities depository for bookeniry
Bonds, or (ii) the District determines that continuation of the book-entry system is not in the best interest of the
beneficlal owners of the Bonds or the Distrlct, then the District will discontinue the book-entry system with the
Depository. If the District determines to replace the Depository with another qualified securities depository,
the District shall prepare or direct the preparation of a new single, separate, fully registered Bond for each of
the maturity dates of such book-entry Bonds, registered in the name of such successor or substitute qualified
securities depository or its Nominee as provided in the Trust Agreement. If the District fails to identify another
qualified securitios depository fo replace the Depository, then tho Bonds shall no longer be resiricted to being
registered in such Bond register in the name of tho Nominee, but shall be registered in whatever name or
names the Owners transferring or exchanging such Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of
the Trust Agreement.

With respect to book-entry Bonds, the District and the Trustee shall have no responsibility or
abligation to any Participant or to any person on behalf of which such a Participant holds an interest in such
book-entry Bonds. Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the District and the Trustee shall
have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of the Depository, the
Nominge, or any Participant with respect to any ownership interest in book-entry Bonds, (ii) the delivery to
any Participant or any other person, other than an Owner as shown in the Bond registration books, of any
notice with respect to book-entry Bonds, including any noticé of prepayment, (iif) the selection by the
Depository aud jts Participants of the beneficial interests in book-entty Bonds to be prepaid in the ¢vent the
District prepays the Bonds in part, or (iv) the payment by the Depository or any Participant or any other
person, of any amount with respect to principal, premium, if any, or inferest with respect to book-entry Bonds.
See Appendix D hereto for additional information concetning DTC.

Transfers and Exchanges upon Termination of Book-Entry Only System

Any Bond may, in accoydance with ils terms, be transferred by the person in whose name it is
registered, in person or by such person’s duly authorized atiorney, upon surrender of such Bond for
cancellation at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, accompanied by delivery of a duly
executed written instrument of fransfer in a form approved by the Trustee.

Whenever any Bond or Bonds shall be surrendered for transfer, the Trustee shall execute and deliver
a new Bond or Bonds of the same maturity, for a like ageregate principal amount and of authorized
denomination or denominations. The Trustee may charge a sum for each new Bond executed and delivered
upon any transfer. The Trustee may require the payment by any Bond Owner requesting any such transfer of
any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with vespect to such fransfer, Following any transfer
of Bonds, the Trustee shall cancel and destroy the Bonds it has received.

Bends may be exchanged at the Piincipal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, for a like aggregate
principal amount of Bonds of other authorized denominations of the same maturity. The Trostee may charge a
sam for each new Bond executed and delivered upon any exchange except in the case of any exchange of
temporary Bonds for definitive Bonds. The Trustee may require the payment by the Owner requesting such
exchange of any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect fo such exchange.
Following any exchange of Bonds, the Trustee shall cancel and destroy the Bonds it has received.

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT
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The Trustee shall not be required:to register the exchange, or transfer pursvant to the Trast
Agreement, of any Bond (i) within 15 days preceding selection of Bonds for prepayment or (ii} selected for
prepayment.

Optional Redemption

The Bonds with stated maturities on or after , 20__ shall be subject to
redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in pait on any Interest
Payment Date in the order of maturity as directed by the District in a Written Request
provided to the Trustee at least 60 days prior to such date and by lot within each maturity in
integral multiples of $5,000, on or after 220 from amounts prepaid by the
District pursuant to the Trust Agreement at a Prepayment Price below equal to the principal
amount of such Bonds to be prepaid plus acorued interest evidenced and represented theteby
to the date fixed for prepayment:

Redemption Dates " Redemption Price
{Inclusive)

TO COME

Extraordinary Redempfion from Insurance simd Condemmation Proceeds
The Bonds shall be subject to exiraordinaty prepayment from insurance and condemnation
proceeds prior fo their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part on any date in the
order of maturity as directed by the District in a Written Request provided to the Trustee at
least 30 days prior to such date and by lot within each matwity in integral multiples of
$5,000 from prepaid Water Revenue Payments made by the District from Net Proceeds,
upon the terms and conditions of, and as provided for in the Trust Agreement, at a
Prepayment Price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest evidenced and
represented thereby to the date fixed for prepayment, without premium.

Notice of Redemption

Before making any redemption, the District may, within five (§) days following the
event permitting the exercise of such right to redeem or creating such obligation to redeem,
give written notice to the Trustee describing such event and specifying the date on which the
tedemption of the Bonds will be paid, which date shall be not less than twenty (20) days
from the date such notice is given, unless such redemption must occur on an Interest
Payment Date, in which case such date shall be the next Interest Payment Date with respect
to which notice of redemption may be timely given pursuant to the Trust Agreement.

Notice of redemption shall be mailed, first class postage prepaid, to the respective Owners of any
Bonds designated for redemption at their addresses appearing on the Bond regisiration books and to the
Information Services and by registered or ceértified or overnight mail to the Securities Depositories at jeast 20
days but not more than 30 days prior to the redemption date,

Each notice of redemption shail state the date of notice, the redemption date, the place or places of
redemption and the Redemption Price, shall designate the maturities, CUSIR numbers, if any, and, if less than
all Bonds of any such matwity are to be redeemed, the serial numbers of the Bonds of such matutity to be

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT
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redeemed by giving the individual number of each Bond or by stating that all Bonds between two stated
numbers, both inclusive, have been called for redemption and, in the case of Bonds to be redeemed in part
only, the respective portions of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, Each such notice shail also state
that on said date there will become dye and payable on each of said Bonds the Redemption Price thereof or of
said specified portion of the principal represented thereby in the case of a Bond to be redeemed in part only,
together with interest accrued with respect thereto to the redemption dato, and that (provided that moneys for
redemption have been deposited with the Trustee) from and afler such redemption date interest with respect
thereto shall cease to accrue, and shall require that such Bonds be then sutrendered to the Trustee. Any defect
in the notice or the mailing thereof will not affect the valldity of the redemption of any Bond.

Notice of redemption of Bonds shall be given by the Trustee on behalf of and af the expense of the
District.

2007 LOAN PAYMENT SCHEDULE

The 2007 Loan Refinancing and District Improvement Project (the "2007 Loan"} in the original
principal amonnt of $520,000 was executed and delivered on Mareh 14, 2007 for the purpose of refinancing an
oxisting loan with Santa Cruz County Bank and the construction of vatious District improvements, and
constituted a first Hen on all District Net Water Revenues, The Bonds are secured by a lien on Net Water
Revenues on parity with the 2007 Loan. The present outstanding 2007 Loan payment schedule, assuming the
2007 Loan is outstanding until the maturity date, is set forth in Table 1:

TABLE 1
Due Date Interest Rate  Principal Interest  Debt Service Anuual Debt
Service

September 14, 2021 $5,643.75 $5,643.15

May 14,2022 5.250 $30,000 3,643.75 35,643,775 $41,287.50
September 14, 2022 4,856.25 4,856.25

May 14, 2023 5250 35,000 4,856,25 39,856.25 44,712.50
September 14, 2023 3,937.50 3,937.50

May 4, 2024 5250 35,000 3,937.50 38,937.50 42.875,00
September 14,2024 3,018.75 3,018.75

May 14, 2025 5.250 35,000 3,018.75 38,018.75 41,037.50
September 14,2025 2,100.00 2,100.00

May 14, 2026 5250 40,000 2,100.00 42,100.00 44,200.00
September 14, 2026 1,050.00 £,050.00
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May 14, 2027 5250 40,000 1,050.00 41,050.00 42,100.00
Total $215,000 $41,212.50 $256,212.50 $256,212.50
TABLE 2
DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE
2015 WATER REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS

Bond Payment Date  Principle Interest Rate  Debf Service  Annual Debt
Service

11/01721 $37,697.50 $37,697.50

05/01/22 $70,000 37,697.50 107,697.50 $145,395.00

11/01/22 36,647.50 36,647.50

05/01/23 70,000 36,647.50 106,647.50 143,295.00

11/01/23 35,562.50 35,562.50 ]

05/01/24 75,000 35,562.50 110,562.50 146,125.00

11/01/24 34,343.75 34,343.75

05/01/25 75,000 34,343.75 109,343.75 143,687.50

11/01/25 33,031.25 33,031.25

05/01/26 80,000 33,031.25 113,031.25 146,062.50
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11/01/26

31,571.25

31,571.25
05/01/27 80,000  |31,57125  |111,57125 | 143,142.50
11/01/27 3007125  |30,071.25
05/01/28 85000  |30,07125  |115071.25 | 145,142.50
11/01/28 2843500 |28,435.00
[osi019 90,000  |28435.00  |11843500  |146,870.00
11/01/29 26,680.00 | 26,680.00
05/01/30 90,000  |26,680.00 |116,680.00  |143,360.00
11/01/30 24,880.00 | 24,880.00
05/01/31 95,000  |24.880.00  |119,880.00 |144760.00
11/01/31 22,05625  |22,956.25
05/01/32 100000 |22,95625  |122,95625 | 145,912.50
11/01/32 20,0625  |20,906.25
05/01/33 105000 |20,00625  |12590625  |146,812.50
11/01/33 18,727.50 | 18,727.50
05/01/34 110,000 |18,72750  |128,727.50 | 147,455.00
11/01/34 16417.50 | 16,417.50
05/01/35 110,000 |16417.50  |126417.50  |142,835.00
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11/01/35 14,080,600 14,080.00
05/01/36 115,000 14,080.00 129,080.00 143,160.00
11/01/36 11,550.00 11,550.00
05/01/37 120,000 11,550.00 131,550.00 143,100.00
11/01/37 8.910.00 8,910.00
Figures are rounded to the nearest doliar.
SECURITY FOR THE BONDS

Limited Obligations Payable from Net Water Revenues

Principal and interest on the Bonds are payable from Net Water Revenues of the District,
consisting of the District's water system revenues and certain other revenues of the District remaining
after payment of Operation and Maintenance Costs, The District may incur additional obligations
payable from Net Water Revenues on parity with the Bonds, subject to the terms and conditions of the
Trust Agreesnent, as more fully described herein.

The obligation of the District to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds is absolute and
unconditional, and until such time as theo Bonds specified in the Trust Agreement shall have been paid
in full {or provision for the payment thereof shall have been made as provided for in the Trust
Agreement).

THE OBLIGATION OF THE DISTRICT TO PAY PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THE
BONDS DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OBLIGATION OF THE DISTRICT FOR WHICH THE
DISTRICT 1S OBLIGATED 10 LEVY OR PLEDGE ANY FORM OF TAXATION OR FOR WHICH
THE DISTRICT HAS LEVIED OR PLEDGED ANY FORM OF TAXATION. THE OBLIGATION OF
THE DISTRICT TQ PAY PRINCIPAL OF AND INFEREST ON THE BONDS UNDER THE TRUST
AGREEMENT IS A SPECIAL LIMITED OBLIGATION OF THE DISTRICT PAYABLE SOLELY
FROM NET WATER REVENUES, AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OR INDEBTEDNESS OF
THE DISTRICT, THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA OR ANY OF ITS POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS.

Tn order fo catry out and effectuate the pledge and lien contained herein, the District agrees and
covenants to receive all Water Revenues in trust hereunder and shall be deposited when and as received
in a special fund designated as the “Water Revenue Fund," which fund has been previously established
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by the Disirict and is hereby continued and which fund the District agrees and covenants to maintain
and to hold sepatate and apart from other funds so long as the 2021 Bonds remain unpaid. Moneys in
the Water Revenue Fund shall be used and applied by the District as provided in Section 5.1 of the
Trust Agreement, All moneys in the Water Revenue Fund shall be held jn trust and shall be applied,
used and withdrawn for the purposes set forth in this Section.

The District shall, from the moneys in the Water Reverue Fund, pay all Operation and
Maintenance Costs (including amounts reasonably required to be set aside in contingency reserves for
Operation and Maintenance Costs, the payment of which js not then immediately required) as such
Operation and Maintenance Costs become due and payable.

Rate Covenant

The Trust Agreement will require the District to the fullest extent permitted by law, to fix,
prescribe and collect rates and charges for the Water Service provided by the Water Systera which will
be at least sufficient to yield during each Fiscal Year Water System Net Water Revenues equal to one
hundred fifieen percent (115%) of Debt Service, for such Fiscal Year allocable to the Water System,
including any patity obligations.

The District may make adjustments from time to fime in such rates and charges and roay make
such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges then in
effect unless the Water System Net Water Revenues from such reduced rates and charges will at all
times be sufficient to meet the covenant described in the prior paragraph.

Additional District Indebfedness

General, Under the Trust Agreement, the District has covenanted not to issue or incur any
obligations payable from Net Water Revenues senior to the Boads. The District may issue contracts or
additional bonds payable from Net Water Revenues on parity with the Bonds in the futwre as deseribed
herein, The Trust Agreement does not impose any, limitation on the issuance of additional obligations
payable from Net Water Revenues subordinate to the Bonds under the Trust Agreement, the District
may execute any Contracts or issue any Bonds, as the case may be, payable from Net Water Revenues
after payment of Operation and Maintenance Costs, ou parity with the Bonds, provided that cerfain
conditions are satisfied as provided below.

a. The Net Water Revenuss for the most recent audited Fiscal Year
preceding the date of adoption by the Boatd of Directors of the District of the resolution
authorizing the issuance of such Contracts or Bonds, as the case may be, as gvidenced by
both a calculation prepared by the District and a special report prepared by an Independent
Certified Public Accountant or an Independent Financial Consultant on such calculation on
file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least one hundred fifteen
percent {115%) of the Debt Service on any oufstanding Parity debt for such Fiscal Year;
and

b. The Net Water Revenues for the most recent andited Fiscal Year
preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolntion
authorizing the issuance of such Contracts or Bonds, as the case may be, including
adjustments to give effect as of the first day of such Fiscal Year to increases or decreases in
rates and. charges for the Water Service approved and in effect as of the date of calculation,
as evidenced by a calculation prepared by the District, shall have produced 8 sum equal to
at least one hundred fifteen percent (115%) of the Debt Service on any outstanding Parity
debt for such Fiscal Year. (See Table 1 and 2 above for the amount of payments.)
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Reserve Fund

A Resorve Fund is established under the Trust Agreement in an amount equal to $
representing the Reserve Requirement (the "Reserve Requirement™). The Reserve Requirement will be
funded from the proceeds of the Bonds, If one day prior to any Payment Date the moneys in the Bond
Payment Fund are insufficient to make the payments required by the Trust Agreement with respect to
Bonds on such Payment Date, the Trustee will transfer ftom the Reserve Fund to the Bond Payment
FFund the amount of such insufficiency,

The "Reserve Requirement" means the lesser of (i) 10% of the proceeds of the Bonds, (i) the
maximuom annual debt service, or (jif) 125% of the average annual debt service on the Bonds,

If the amount available and contained in the Reserve Fund exceeds the Reserve Requirement
and if the District is not then in defavlt wnder the Trust Apreement, the Trustee shall semiannually on or
hefore 1 and 1 withdraw the amount of such excess from the Reserve Fund and
shall deposit such amount in the Bond Payment Fund, and for this determination the Trustee shall make
a valuation of the Reserve Pund on each Payment Date. Except for such withdrawals, all moneys in the
Reserve Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the purpose of paying, when due,
pringipal and interest with respect to the Bonds in the event that no other moneys of the District are
available therefor or to pay such amounis at maturity.

For the porpose of determining the amount in the Reserve Fund, all Parmitted Tnvestmenis
credited to the Reserve Fund shall be valed at the lower ofvost (inclosive of all iuterest acorued but
not paild) or market value. In making any valuations of Permitted Investments, the Trustee shall utilize
such securities pricing services as may be available to it, including those within the Trustee's regular
acgounting systein.

ESTIMATED SQURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The following table sets forth the estimated sources and uses of fuads:
SOURCES:
Bond Proceeds $

Original Issue Discount

Total Sources §

USES:

Construction Fund
Reserve Fund()
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Costs of Issuance(”)
Total Uses %

@  Equal to the Reserve Requirement
@ Includes underwriter's discount and certain iegal, financing and printing costs.

PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

General '

The District was formed and incorporated in 1983 pursuant to the Community Services District
Act as set forth in the Government Code of the State of Califotnia, The present District was formed in
1992 by consolidating the area formerly served by the Pajaro Fire District and the Sunny Mesa Mutnal
Water Company. Tt is located in the foothills of the Pajaro Valley which is adjacent to the City of
Watsonville, California, eighty (80) miles southeast of San Francisco, California, and fifteen (15) miles
north of Salinas, California.

The District is, among other things, empowered to provide park and street lighting services to
the community of Pajaro/Sunny Mesa and to supply domestic water from its vadious facilities, which, as

of January 1, 2021, consisted of 1,403 connections.

Governance and Management

The District is governed by a 5-member Board of Directors (the "Board") who are appointed by
the Mouterey County Board of Supervisors and serve 4-year terms. The current directors are sot forth
below:

Direct Expiration of Qccupation
Term

Sanford Coplin, President November 30, Retired
2021

Robert Moody, Vice-President November 30, Retired
2023

Harry Wiggins, Treasurer lz‘gvi’«mber 30, Retired

2

Darlene Lamboley, Secretary November 30, Retired

2023

Michael Moore, Assistant Secretary November 30, Director of Quality
2024 Operations
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Gieneral Manager, Don Rosa, has a Grade T2 Certification Water Treatment Operator
Cerlificate, a Water Distribution Operator Grade D3, and Cross Connection Control Specialist and has

attended State sponsored classes at Harmel] College. He has 17 years of on-the-job experience.

Land and Land Use

The District encompasses an area of approximately 3,840 acres of which
approximately 1,280 acres are presently urban or suburban and approximately 2,560 acres are
agricultural. Highway 1 runs through the District. Land within the District is relatively level,
with elevations from 28 feet above sea lovel to 1,500 feet above sea level. Average rainfall is
approximately 18 inches a year.

Employees and Employee Benefits

General, The District currently employs approximately 11 persons, of whom 6 work in
the water department, 3 work in maintenance operations, and 2 work in accotnting and clerical
support. '

The employees of the District are not represented by a union, The District has not
experienced any strike or other labor actions.

Retirement Plan, The District administers its own defined contribution retirement
plan which provides retirement benefits to afl full-time employees. The District is required to
contribute an amount equal to fifieen percent (15%) of the permanent full-time employees'
gross salaries. The contribution to the Plan was $104,427 for the year ended June 30, 2020.
On June 30, 2020, the assets of the plan were invested in cash equivalents, mutual funds and
debt instruments. Employees become 50% vested in the Plan immediately upon hire. An
employee becomes 100% vested after the Plan has been in effect for five years and after
he/she has completed five years of regular, full-time employment and has attained the age of
55 or older. Any employee forfeitures revert back to the District. The fair market value (dnd
carrying value) of the Plan is determined by the cument value of the Plan's investment
portfolio in the open market.

Budget Process

Prior to Tune 1 of each year, the Manager submits a proposed budget for the District for the
Fiscal Year commencing the following July 1 to the Board of the District. The Board generally
discusses the budget at one of its regnlarly-scheduled public meetings to provide an opportunity for
comments from residents and ratepayers. Subsequent to the public workshops, the Board approves the
budget prior to July I. The District's budget is prepared on the accrual basis and includes the District's
projected water and sewer system revenues and expenses.

The Board adopted capital and operating budgets for the 2020-21 Fiscal Year on June 24, 2021,
a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix A.

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT
PAIARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
Page 12




District Iusurance

The District is nsured for property losses, auto and general Hability, workers compensation,
public official's liability, and underground tank storage fosses, through a risk-pooling, self-insurance
authority, Association of California Water Agencies Joint Powers Insurance Authority. The District
ostablishes a self-insured retention amount which represents the District’s deductible per occurrence
and ASCWA JPIA provided self -insured covered up to the esiablished pool limits for the various fype
of insurance coverage. Coverage limits are $2,000,000 per occurrence for general liability, automotive
and public official's liability; replacement cost for property, subject to varying deductibles; $100,000
for crime coverage; and statutory limits for workers compensation,

Che District also maintains worker's compensation insurance with the JPIA.

The District paid no material uninsured losses during the Jast three Fiscal Years,

Water Service Charges

On April 22, 2021, the District enacted Ordinance No, 04-01-21 which established rates and
charges for Fiscal Years 2021-2026 in compliance with Proposition 218. For in formation with respect
to certain constifutional provisions which may affect the ability of the District to increase rates and
charges, see the caption "CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS ON APPROPRIATIONS AND
CHARGES", There is no mandatory connection policy in the District.

The District's 2020-2021 Rate Schedule is set forth in Appendix F hereto. The District
completed a cost-of-service rate study in September 2020, which updated rates for fiscal year 2021-
2022. The District has approved an additional rate increase on Tuly 1, 2022 for the fiscal year 2022-
2023 and new rate schedules for fiscal years 2022-2023 through 2025-2026. The cumulative rate
increases for the five-year period of fiscal years 2021-2022 through 2025-2026 is 63 percent.

The District various rate charges include the following:

(1) service availability charges;

(2) water service construction charges;
(3) residential and non-residential connection charges;
{4) meter installation charges;

(5) main extension charges

(6) fire service charges; and

(7) miscellaneous service charges.

Collection Procedures

The District collects ifs water revenues on a monthly basis based on the amount of water
consumed in the previous 30 days.

For accounts in arrears, the following procedures apply:

(1} If a customer become 30 days overdue, the next statement is stamped "Past Due" as a
reminder notice and late fees are assessed.
(2) If account begomes 60 days overdue, the next statement wilt include a (3-Day Notics".
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(3) If account is paid in full or payment arrangements are made, no further action will be
taken,

(4) I account is not paid after the “3-Day Notice", a "24-Hr. Notice" is hand delivered to
residence.

(5) ¥ account remains delinquent, water service is discontinued and customer is charged a
reconnection fee to restore service.

As of May 1, 2021, there are 25 accounts that are subject to a "3-Day Notice" amounting to
1.8% of the District's estimated total connections.

Outstanding Indebtedness
Other than the District's 2007 Loan Refinancing, with an outstanding principle balance of
$215,000 and the 2015 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds with an outstanding principal balance of

$1,875,000, tho Distrlet does not have any further indebtedness payable from Water Revenyss or Net
‘Water Revenues.

Future System Emprovements

The District routinely makes capital improvements and additions to the Disirict's water systerm
and other District facilities. Except as described below, the District does not currently project issuing
any Bonds to finance any waler improvements or additions. -

Water Supply Sources

The Disteict presently operates ten {10) operating water wells and three (3) standby water wells
within its water delivery system, as follows:

Pumping Capacity
Status (Gallons/Minute)

Pajaro Well #1 Active 200
Pajaro Well #2 Standby 1,394
Sunny Mesa Well #1 . Active 375
Sunny Mesa Well #2 : Standby 195
Vega Well - Vista Verde Active 196
Vega Well - Oak Leaf | Active 220
Blackie Well #1 Active . 50
Langley/Valle Pacifico Well #2 Active 16
Moss Landing Water Well #1 Agtive 450
Moss Landing Water Well #3 Standby 475
Normeo Water Well #1 Active 125
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Vierra Estates Well #3 Active 26
Springfield Water Well #1 Active © 85
Total 4,878

Souree: The District

All water systems consist of a water well, tank(s), pressure system, main lines,
laterals, meters with boxes, valve system for protection, and isolation by areas.

At a pumping ability to deliver 5,160 gallons per minute (or 222,912,000 gallons per
month), the District has more than sufficient capacity to deliver water into the near future. As
of May 2021, the District pumps approximately 424 gallons per minute {or 18,305,804 gallons
per month).

Source: The District
Numbers of Water Connections
The numbers of water connections has gtadually increased during the 2020-2021 period. Tible

1 sets forth the number of comnections, the two zones within the District and total number of water
connections for this period,

Table3
NUMBER OF CONNECTIONS
Routes 1-8 . 833
Routes 10-15 550
Total Number of Connections ‘ 1403

Source: The District
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California Dyought

The District is presently adhering to the Governor's voluntary reduction of water conservation
by 20%.

Consumption Data and Conversion Table

The amount of water consumption (100 cu, £i.) and the gallon conversion for the two zones
within the Distvict for the period of 20182021 are set forth in Table 4,

Table 4
Fiscal Year 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Routes 1-8 169,300 160,269 165,271 164,377
Routes 10-15 105,063 94,027 99,456 103,877
Total Water Consumption (100 cu.ft.) 274,363 254,296 264,727 268,254
Converted to Gallons 205,223,524 190,213,408 198,015,796 200,653,992

WATER CONSUMPTION (100 CU. FT.)
{(Numbeor of units x 748 = galflons)
(") 2020-21 Fiscal Year through April, 2021

Source: The Bristrict

Five Largest Water Consnmers

‘The five largest water consumers in fiscal year 2020-2021 within the District are set forth in Table 5.

Table 5 ,

FIVE LARGEST WATER CONSUMERS
Customer Cubic Feet Revenug % of Water
Consumed Generation Revenue
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1 MLC0001 £1-0720 10,113 $60,910.85 3

2KR10001 01-1420 5,241 $34,276.11 1.7
3 PATO006 03-060 5,034 $33,039.78 1.6
4 PVU0001 03-0105 4,146 $29,986.50 14
5 HOLOO0! 13-1895 3,876 $22,895.16 1l

Source: The District

DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION

2020-231 Capital Operaﬁng Budget

A copy of the District’s 2021-22 Unaudited Capita} Operating Budget is included as Appendlx
A hereto (the “2021-22 Budget").

Financial Statements and Independent Auditor Report

A copy of the District's Financial Statement for the year ended June 30, 2020 is included as
Appendix G, The District's Financial Statement for the year ended June 30, 2021 has not been completed
to dafe.

Historic Revenues

The 2007 Loan Refinancing was secured by the District’s irrevocable pledge of District
revenues, the Revenue Fund aud the other funds and accounts of the District which were deposited in the
Revenue Fund, less Operation and Maintenance Costs,

The Revenue Certification of Participation, Series 2010, were secured by the total Revenuss of
the District for each Fiscal Year, less Operation and Maintenance Costs for such Fiscal Year.

Table 6 sets forth all rovenue and expenses of the District for the three most recent Fiscal
Years, in compliance with the security provisions of the 2007 Loan Refinancing and the 2015 Water
Revenue Refunding Bonds.
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Table 6

Historic District Revenues From All Sources

*Subjeet to Final Andit

REVENUES

Water Fees()
PVWMA Fees(®)

Connection Fees(")
Other Revenue)

Total Revenues in Dollars
Expenses
Salaries and Benefits
Operational Maintenance Expense

All Other Expenses

Total O&M Bxpenses

Net Water Revenues

Debt Service on 2007 Loan Refinancing

Debt Service on 2015 Water Revenue
Refunding Bonds

Net Operating Revenues After Debt Service

Debt Sexvice Coverage

2017-18

1,826,951
25,189
5,000
472,412
2,387,267

958,659
293,753

603,424

1,855,836

531,431

42,063

146,775
342,593

2.81
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2018-18

1,814,080

26,223
36,806
404,245
2,344,703

979,404
327,506

333,218

1,862,128

482,574

40,750

145,475
296,349

2.59

201920

202028

1,967,158
31,360
22,283
206,607

2,256,135

988,411

425,020

350,910

1,764,342

491,793

44,500

143,715

303,578

2.61

2,026,173

32,237
22,951
212,898

2,294,261

1,018,063

437,771

361,437

1,817,217 .

476,990

42,862

147,355

286,773

2.5
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District Contracts with various residential subdivisions to maintain sireets, landscaping, and storm-drainage systems on
a fiscal feo basis

Distriet recelves 25% of ail fees colleclad on behalf of the Pajaro Water Management Agency

Contract Fees include fees for the operation and maintenance of ssven privately or community owned water facifitles,
Connections are based on charges for new construction. In fiscal year 2020-2021, two new commercial structures were
connecled {o the waler system of the Distriot, )

Other Revenues consist of insurance, utility and Hghting reimbursement, administration fees, accounting and
bookkeeping reimbursement.

All Other Expeases include utilities, hookkeeping, accounting, Insurance, testing, office supplies, postage, licenses,
permits and fucl,

Projected Water Revennes and Expenses; Debt Service Coverage

The Distriet's projected Water Revenues and Expenses {pertaining to the Water
Enterprise only) for the Fiscal Years ending June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2021 are set forth
below, reflecting certain assumptions concerning future events and circumstances. The
financial forecast represents the District's estimate of projected financial results based on the
assumptions set forth in the footnotes to the table below. The assumptions set forth in the
footnotes to the table set forth below are material in the development of the District's financial
prajections, and variations in the assumptions may produce substantially different financial
Tesults,

The estimated assumptions of water revenues and expenses for the current fiscal year
and the next three fiscal years is set forth in Table 7. The 2021 Water Revenue Bonds herein
described are only secured by Net Water Revenues of the District less applicable Operation
and Mainfenance expenses.

In Table 7 the District estimates that projected water revenues and expenses for the
current and next three Fiscal Years will be as follows.
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Table 7
Projected Water Revenues and Expenses
{From Water Enterprise Only)

Sources of Water funds
Rate Roveauwe tnder Frovaning fates 202300 SOLAGR ]S 2pk2n0n g & 10LLE00 JOLYROMES 208260013 205160
Non-Rate Revenues 66,195 57095} 67098 | 67,085 ETO85 | 67,095 67,085
Intetest Earsngs (in Operating & Capital Resarves)’ h 14 5130
Totat Sources of Funds 2095028 2,424,825 1% 2119695 5§ 2,119,695 2,119,655 2,119,695 1 & 2,119,68%
Uses of Water Fupds
Operating Dxpanses.”
Salaries 5 677. 100 GRS,B00 1S 713Nzl e MLIGL 171,452 802288 1¢% 834,381
Beneiits 307,380 113,728 347,069 360,852 315,350 399,405 406,021
Othes Qperating Expronns #2108 717,930 03 s 726,130 749,05% 773,952 199,330
Subtetal: Qperaling Expenses $ ' 1798385 1797450 | 5 1,763.642 1 5 1,828,843 1,886,480 1966647 | $ 1.039,438
Other Expenditures;
Eosting Debt Semce § 188418 w08 1S 186683 |5 188,008 189,000 184,725 | 5 190,263
New Debl Service - §5,000 25 00k} 95,000 95,800 95,000
Ratn Fonded Capltal txponses 235,366 3494 317 67,483 696 506 243,769 14,40
Sybtotal: Cther fxpenditures 5 188,418 325584 16 625099 | 5 850,490 980,806 1,223,494 1§ 1.031,688
Total Uses of Water Funds $ 1,986,803 2,723034 | § 2,385,641 | & 2679331 2,477,286 3,190,140 | § 3,071,106
ples  Revenue from Rate fncreases . . 307 g} £14,754 908,183 1145,024 1,304,905
Anrwal Surplus/{Deticit] 108,223 {98,209)} 5 3045  SBI16 1§ 180572 73578 1§ 334N
o4 L B ke i LA ed b Ml ali

2,023,700

78]

2,360,890

51323
$ 2,557,354

2,960,763

4

=

Tatal fate Revenue After Rate Increases 3,197 62 3,357,%

I Projectesd Aunual Rate Revenue Imuse 0,005 0.00% 15.005% 13.00% 11.00% 8.007%§ 5.00%
Comulalin iacreese from Annwel Revende 100deoses J00% 000 15.00% 19 05% £4.24% 55 78% 635" %
Deht Coverage After Rote incresse 157 172 236 320 398 464 4 86

Y laterest earniegs per the Distaet's adepted budgetior FY 2089720 and FY 2020/2%. Foryears beyond 202

021, 118 caleutted based on histortcal LAIF retors,

2 he operaling expenses are based on the Distuct's Final Bugget for £ 2019/20 fng FY 2020421 (Soutrce B o3 2619-2030 Budget pdf & 20302021 Fingl Budges k.
lutl slconary lactors are apolied to these CApLNses (o PRA;RCECOSIS af FY 2220/21 and beyond.

Source: NBS
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CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS ON APPROPRIATIONS AND CHARGES

Article XIIIB

Atticle X1UB of the California State Constitution limits the anuual appropriations of the State
and of any city, county, school. district, authority or other political subdivision of the State to the level
of appropriations of the particular governmental entity for the prior fiscal year, as adjusted for changes
in the cost of living and population, The "base year" for establishing such appropriation limit is the
1978/79 fiscal year and the limit is to be adjusted annuaily to reflect changes in population and
consumer prices, Adjustments in the appropriations limit of an entity may also be made if (i) the
financial responsibility for a service is transferred to another public entity or to a private entity, (ii) the
financial source for the provision of servives is fransferred from faxes to other revenues, or (iif) the
voters of the entity approve a change in the limit for a period pf time notto exceed four yeats.

Appropriations subject to Article XIIIB generally include the proceeds of taxes levied by the
State or ofher entity of local government, exclusive of certain State subventions and refunds of taxes.
wproceeds of taxes" include, but are not limited to, all tax revenues and the proceeds to an entity of
government from (i) regulatory licenses, wser charges, and user fees (but only to the extent such
proceeds exceed the cost of providing the service or regulation), and (i) the investment of tax revenues.
Article XIIB includes a requirement that if an entity's revenues in any year exceed the amounts
_ permitted to be spent, the excess would bave to be returned by revising tax rates or fee schedules over
the subsequent two years.

Certain expenditores are excluded from the appropriations Hmit imchding payments of
indebtedness existing or legally authorized as of Japuary 1, 1979, or of bonded indebtedness thereafter
approved by the voters and payments required to comply with court or federal mandates which without
discretion require an expenditure for additional services or which unavoidably make the providing of
existing services more costly.

The District is of the opinion that charges for Water Service do not exceed the costs it
reasonably bears in providing such services and therefore ave not subject to the limits of Article X1UB.
The District may make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may make such
classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges then in effect
unless the Water System Net Water Revenues from such reduced rates and charges will at all times be
sufficient to yield during each Fiscal Year Water System Net Water Revenues equal to one hundred
fifteen percent (115%) of Debt Service for such Fiscal Year allocable to the Water System.

Proposition 218

General, An initiative measure entitled the "Right to Vote on Taxes Act" (the "Initiative™) was
approved by the voters of the State of California at the November 5, 1996 general election. The
Initiative added Article XTIC and Article XIUD to the California Constitution, According to the "Title
and Summary" of the Initiative prepared by the California Attorney General, the Initiative limits "the
ability of local governmenis to impose taxes and property-related assessments, fees and charges.”

Article XIIID, Article XHID defines the terms "fee" and "charge" to mean. "any levy other than
an ad valoren tax,  special tax or an assessment, imposed by an agency upon a parcel or upon a person
as an incident of property ownership, including user fees or charges for a property-related service A
“property-related service” is defined as "a public service having a direct relationship to property
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ownership.” Article XITID further provides that reliance by an agency on any parcel map (including an
assessor's parcel map) may be considered a significant factor in determining whether a fee or charge is
imposed as an incident of property ownership. :

Article XTID requires that any agency imposing or iucreasing any property-related fee or
charge tust provide written notice thereof to the record owner of each identified parcel upon which
such fee or charge is to be imposed and must conduct a public hearing with respect thereto, The
proposed feo or charge may not bo imposed or increased if a majority of owners of the identified
parcels file written protests against it. As a yesult, if and to the extent that a fee or charge imposed by a
local government for water or wastewater service is ultimately determined to be a "fee” or "charge" as
defined in Article XI1ID, the local government's ability to increase such fee or charge may be limited
by a migjority protest.

Tn addition, Article XIIID includes a number of limitations applicable to existing fees and
charges including provisions to the effect that (i) revenues derived from the fee or charge shafl not
exceed the funds required fo provide the property-related service, (1f) such revenues shall not be used
for any purpose other than that for which the fee or charge was imposed, (iil) the amount of & fee or
charge imposed upon any paccel or person as an incident of property ownesship shall not exceed the
proportional cost of the service attributable to the parcel and (iv) no such fee or charge may be imposed
for a service unless fhat service is actually used by, or immediately available to, the owner of the
properiy in yuesilon. Properiy-selated foos or chargon based on potential of future uge of a sérvies are
not permitted. ' R

Based upon the California Cowt of Appeals decision in Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association
v. City of Los Angeles, 85 Cal. App. 4th 79 (2000), which was denied review by the California Supreme
Coutt, it was generally believed that Article XIIID did not apply to charges for water services that are
"orimarily based on the amount consumed” (i.e., metered water rates), which had been held fo be
commodity charges related to consumption. of the service, not propesty ownership. The Supreme Court
stated in Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency v. Verlil, 39 Cal.4th 205 (2006) (the "Bighorn Case"),
however, that fees for ongoing water service through an existing connection were prop ety-related foes
and charges. The District had reviewed the applicability of the notice, public hearing. and protest
requirements of Article XHID fo its water rate defermination procedures and, as a resulf thercof,
conducted a mailed notice of publi¢ hearing on December 17, 2009, and, thereafier, held a public
hearing and enacted Ordinance No. 88-04-01, which increased the Distriet's consumption charge not to
exceed ten percent (10%) per your for the years 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019.

Article XHIC, Article XIIC provides that the initiative power shall not be prohibited or
otherwise limited in mattors of reducing or repealing any local tax, assessment, fee or charge and that
the power of initiative 1o affect local taxes, assessments, fees and charges shall be applicable to all Jocal
governments, Article XIIIC does not define the terms “local tax," "assessment,” "fee” or “charge” so it
was unclear whether the definitions set forth in Article XIIID referred to above are applicable to Article
XIIIC, Moreover, the provisions of Article XHIC are not expressly limited to local taxes, assessments,
fees and charges imposed after November 6, 1996. On July 24, 2006, the Supreme Court held in
Bigharn-Desert View Water Agency v. Verjil that the provisions of Article XIIC included rates and
fees charged for domestic water use. In the decision, the Court noted that the decision did not address
whether an initiative to reduce fees and charges could override statufory rate setting obligations. In any
event, the District and its District Counsel do not believe that Article XIIC grants to the voters within
the District the power fo repeal or reduce rates and charges in a manner which would be inconsistent
with the contractual obligations of the District uader the Trust Agreement. However, there can bs no
assurance of the availability of particular remedies adequate fo protect the beneficial owners of the
Bonds. Remedies available to beneficial owners of the Bonds in the ¢vent of a default by the Disfrict
under the Trust Agreement ave depentlent upon judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and

delay and could prove both expensive and time-consuming to obtain,
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In addition to the specific limitations on remedies contained in the applicable documents
themselves, the right and obligation with respect to the Trust Agreement is subject to bankrupicy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance and other similar laws affecting
creditors' rights, to the application of equifable prineiples if equitable remedies are sought, and fo the
exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to limitations on legal remedies against public
-agencies in the State of California. The various opinions of counsel fo be delivered with respect to such
documents, including the opinion of Special Counsel (the form of which is attached as Appendiz C),
will be similarly qualified,

Future Initiatives

Atticles XITIB, XIIIC and XWID were adopted as a measure that qualified for the ballot
pursuant to California's initjative process. From time to time other initiatives could be proposed and
adopted affecting the District or the ability of any of the District to fulfill payment obligations
undertaken prior to the date such initlatives are adopted.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The logality and enforceability of the Trust Agresment and certain other legal matters are
subject to the approval of Robert M. Haight, Attomey at Law, acting as Special Counsel. The form of
such legal opinion is attached hereto as Appendix C, and such legal opinion will be attached to each
Bond. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the District by Alan Smith, and for the Trustee by
its counsel,

LITIGATION

There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, before or by
any court, regulatory agency, public board or body, pending or, to the knowledge of the District,
threatened against the District affecting the existence of the District or the titles of its directors or
officers to their respective offices or sesking to restrain or to enjoin the sale or delivery of the Bonds,
the application of the proceeds thereof in accordance with the Trust Agteement, or in any way
confesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Bonds, the Trust Agreement, the Trust
Agreement, or any action of the District contemplated by dny of said documents, or in any way
contesting the completeness or accuracy of this Official Statement or any amendment or supplement
thereto, or contesting the powers of the District or its authority with respect to the Bonds or any action
of the Distriot contemplated by any of said decuments, nor to the knowledge of the District, is there any
basis therefor.

TAX COVENANTS; BANK QUALIFIED

Duting the term of the Bonds, the Project will be used by the general public for water purposes
consistent with the permissible scope of the Distriet's anthority,

The District will make no use of moneys representing Project costs which will cause the
Bonds, or any portion thereof, to be or become "arbitrage bonds" subject to federal income taxation by
reason of Section [48(a} of the Internal Revenue code of 1986, as amended (the "Code™), To that end,
the District will comply with all requirements of said Section 148(a) and all regulations of the United
States Department of the Treasury issued thereunder, to the extent that such requirements are, at the
time, applicable and in effect.

The District has designated the Bonds "Bank Qualified" for purposes of paragraph (3) of
Section 265(b) of the Code and represents that not more than $10,000,000 ageregate principal amount
of obligations the interest on which-is excludable (under Section 103(z) of the Code) from gross
income for federal income tax purposes (exciuding (i) private activity bonds, as defined i Section 141

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT

PAIARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNIEY SERVICES DISTRICT
Page 23

P. 31




P. 32

of the Code, except qualified 501(c)(3) bonds defined in Section 145 of the Code and (if) current
refunding obligations to the extent the amount of the refunding obligation does not exceed the
outstanding amount of the refunded obligation), including these Bonds, has been or will be issued by
the District, including all subordinate eritities of the District, during calendar year 2015,

TAX MATTERS

In the opinion of Robert M. Haight, Scotts Valley, California, Special Counsel, under existing
statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, the portion of each Imstallment Payment
constituting interest is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and is not an item
of tax preference for purposes of caleulating the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on
individuals and corporations. In the furiher opinion of Special Counsel, the portion of each Jnstaliment
Payment constituting interest is exempt from State of California personal income tax.

The difference between the issue price of a Bond {(the first price at which a substantial amount
of the Bond is to be sold to the public) and the stated prepayment price at maturity with respect to such
Bond constitutes original issue discount. Original issue disconnt accrues under a constant yield method,
and original issue discount witl accrue to the owner of the Bond before receipt of cash atiributable to
such excludable income. The amount of original issue discount deemed received by the owner of a
Bond will increase the owner's basis in the Bond. In the opinion of Special Counss! original issue
discount that accrues to the owner of a Bond is excluded from the gross ineome of such owner for
federal income tax purposes, is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the fedeéral altemative
minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations, and is exempt from State of California personal
income tax. '

Special Counsel's opinion as to the exclusion from gross income of the partion of each
Installment Payment constituting interest (and original issue discount) is based upon certain
representations of fact and certifications made by the District and others and is subject to the condition
that the District complies with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
*Code"), that must be satisfied subsequent to the execution and delivery of the Bonds to assure that the
portion of each Tnstallment Payment constituting interest (and original issue discount) will not becorne
includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. Faiture to comply with such requirements
of the Coda might cause the portion of each Installment Payment constituting Interest (and original
issue discount) to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes refroactive to the date of
execution and delivery of the Bonds. ‘The Iisirict has covenanted to comply with all such requirements.

The amount by which a Bond Ownet's original basis for detennining loss on sale or exchange
in the applicable Bond (generally, the purchase price) exceeds the amount payable on maturity {or on
an earlier call date) constitutes amortizable bond preminm, which must be amortized under Section 171
of the Code; such amortizable bond premium reduces the Bond Ownes's basis in the applicable Bond
{and the amount of tax exempt interest recelved), and is not deductible for federal income tax purposes,
The basis reduction as a result of the amortization of bond premium may result in a Bond Owner
realizing a taxable gain when a Bond is sold by the Owner for an amount equal to or less (under certain
circumstances) than the original cost of the Bond to the Owner. Purchasers of the Bonds should consult
their own tax advisors as to the freatment, computation and collateral consequences of amortizable
bond premium.

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS") has initiated an expanded program for the auditing
of tax exempt bond issues, including both random and targeted audits. It is possible that the Bonds will
be selected for audit by the IRS. It is also possible that the market value of the Bonds might be affected
as 2 result of such an audit of the Bonds (or by an audit of similar bonds).
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Special Counsel's opinions may be affected by actions taken {or not taken) or events occursing
(or not coourring) affer the date hereof. Special Counse] has not undertaken fo determine, or to inform
any person, whether any such actions or events are faken or do occur. The Trust Agreement, the Trust
. Agreement, and the Tax Bond permit certain actions to be taken or to be omiited if a favorable opinion
of Special Coungel is provided with respect thereto, Special Counsel expresses no opinion as to the
offect on the exclusion from gross income of interest (and original issue discount) for federal income
tax purposes with respect to any Bond if any such action is taken or omitted based upon the advice of
counsel other than Robert M. Haight, Attorney at Law.

Although Special Counsel has rendered an opinjon that the portion of the pay principal of and
interest on the Bonds constituting interest (and orfginal issne discount) is excluded from gross income
for federal income tax purposes provided that the Disirict continues to comply with certain
requirements of the Code, the ownership of the Bonds and the accrual or receipt of interest (and
original issue discount) with respect to the Bonds may otherwise affect the tax liability of cerfain
persons, Special Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such tax consequences. Accordingly,
before purchasing any of the Bonds, all potential purchasers should consult their tax advisors with
tespect to coflateral tax consequences with respect to the Bonds,

A complete copy of the proposed opinion of Special Counsel is set forth in Appendix C -
"FORM OF OPINION OF SPECIAL COUNSEL."

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The District has covenanted in a Continuing Disclosure Agreement for the benefit of the
holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds to provide certain fingneial information and operating data
relating to the Distilet by not later than the 270 days following the end of the Disirict's Fiscal Year
{currently its Fiscal Year ends on June 30th) (the "Annual Report™), comutencing with the report for
Tiseal Year ending June 30, 2022, and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated
events, if material. The Annual Report and the notices of material events will be filed by the Distriet
with EMMA (Electronic Municipal Market Access™). ‘The specific nature of the information to be
contained in the Annnal Report and the notice of materiat evenis is set forth in Appendix E -"FORM
OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT" hereto, These covenants have been made in order
to assist the Underwriter in complying with Rule 15¢2-12(b}(5) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, The District has previously executed a Continuing Disclosure Agreement for
the tond proceeding known as (a.) Vega Mutual Water Assessment District Limited Obligation
Tmprovement Bonds, Series 2007-1 (.} the 2007 Loan Refinancing and District Improvement Project,
and for (c.) the 2015 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds. All reports required by Rule 15¢2-12(b) (5)
have been complied with and filed in a timely fashion.

RATING

The District has not applied for, nor received, a rating on the Bonds.

UNDERWRITING

The bonds will be purchased by Stinson Securities, LLC (the "Underwriter™), under a Purchase
Agreement, dated , 2021, pursuant to which the Underwtiter has agreed to purchase all, but not
less than all, of the Bonds for an aggregate purchase price of § which represents the principal
amount of the Bouds, less original issue discount and less Underwriter's discount
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The initial public offering prices stated on the inside cover of this Gfficial Statement may be
changed from time to time by the Underwriter. The Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain
dealers (including dealers depositing Bonds into investment fimsts), dealer barks, banks acting as
agents and others at prices Jower than said public offering prices.

MISCELLANEQUS

Ingofar as any statements made in this Official Statement involve matters of opinion or of
estimates, whether or not expressly stated, they ave set forth as such and nof as representations of fact,
No representation is made that any of such statements made will be realized. Neither this Official
Statement nor any statement which may have been made verbally or in writing is to be construed as a
confract with the Owners of the Bonds.

The execution and delivery of this Official Statement have been duly authorized by the District.

PAJARQ/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

{s/ Sanford Coplin
President of the Board of Directors
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2021-2022
Final Budget
Income 2021-2022
4001| Route 1 (Pajaro 321,000
4002| Route 2 [Pajaro 315,000
4003| Route 3 {Commercial (Pajaro) 292,000
4004| Route 4 |{Trailer Park (Pajaro) 16,000
4005] Route 5 |[San Juan Apts 13,500
4006 Route 6 |Sunny Mesa 160,000
4007 Route 7 |C.S.A. 73 Hillcrest/Bay Farms 173,000
4008 Route 8 |Vega/Vista Verde ' 182,000
4010f Route 10 [Springfield 10,200
4011| Route 11 [Moss Landing 310,000
4012! Route 12 iBlackie Road 40,200
4013| Route 13 |Normeo 391,000
4014} Route 14 |Vierra Estates 60,700
4015| Route 15 |Langley/Valle Pacifico 37,500
Water Services SubTotal 2,322,100
4100 i ate Payment Penallies 5,000
4101 Billing Adjustments 200
4110 Hydrant Sales 10,000
4115 Test Fees (Cross Conn-Yearly-Pajaro) 7,500
4140 Connection Fees/Capacity Fees 7,400
4141 Application Fees 550
4146 Other Fees 400
63,800
289,000
i sliloy 25,000
4285 PVWMA Collection Fee 29,000
4300 Collection Previous w/o account 250
4305 Miscellaneous Revenue 1,000
4340 Utility Reimbursement 28,000
4341 Lighting Admin Reimbursement 12,000
4345 Customer Reimbursemenis
4346 District 25% Overhead Fee 500
150
4355 Audit/Bookkeeping Re-imbursement 700
4360 Legal Counsel Reimbursement 400
coazeal o [Pasee Wiler Bond o 0 o 40,500
Other Subtotal 521,350
Total Income 2,843,450




2021-2022
Final Budget
Expenses INDIRECT 2020-2021
5000 Salaries and Wages 830,000
5005 Administative Fees 6,000
5010 Contract Labor -
5030 Payroll Tax Expense 16,000
5040 Workers Comp Insurance 20,000
- 5050 Employee Health Insurance 190,000
5070 Employee Retirement 120,000
5090 Other Employee Expense 3,000
5120 Property Taxes 1,500
5130 Utilities - Office 4,000
5140 Building Repair & Maintenance 7,500
5145 District Wide Repair & Maint 12,000
5150 Garbage Service 4,200
5160 Office Equipment Rental 10,000
5165 Computer Software 10,000
5170 Office Equipment Repair & Maint 3,600
51756 Small Tools - Repair & Maint. 1,000
5180 Casully Insurance/Liability Insurance 33,000
5200 Billing Supplies . 3,700
5240 Office Supplies 3,800
5245 Postage 8,500 |
5250 Legal Expenses 20,000
e 11,300
9258 : 4,000
5260 Accountmg & Bookkeeplng 38,500
5266 Engineering Expense District Wide 38,500
5270 Automotive - Repair & Maint 10,000
5280 Seminars & Conferences 500
5290 Travel Expenses 500
5300 Books & Subscriptions 1,600
5305 Water Conservation Program 3,000
5320 Membership Fees & Dues 20,000
5326 Licenses and Certifications 2,000
5330 Telephone 17,000
5340 Burglar Alarm Monitoring 800
5350 Cash Over/Short
5370 Fuel - Trucks 26,000
5390 Bank Charges 300
5391 Credit Card Transaction Fees 8,000
5400 Miscellaneous Expense 200
6560 Payroll Processmg Expenses -
R o i St g S o 75,400
Total Expenses !ND]RECT 1,565,300
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2021-2022
Final Budget

Expenses DIRECT

2021-2022

5190

Soil and Water Tests

37,500

5220

Water System - Repair & Maint

225,000

32,650

1,000

Engineering Expenses

1,000

Utilities - Well Site

170,000

Utilities - Street Lighting

28,000

Permits

30,000

Fuel - Generator

3,000

6,000

3,500

10,600

[Freight & Delivery _

137,000

Total Expenses DIRECT

685,250

Total Expenses INDIRECT

- 14,865,300

Total Expenses

2,250,550

Total Income

2,843,450

Total Expenses

2,250,550

Gross Net

592,900

12,500

70,000

30,000

145,000

6,000

Meeting Stipend (donated to Pajaro Park)

Bewd d

31,000

| 'B'o'nd 'P'ayment—. Generatars

97,000

Total

391,500

Gross Net

592,900

Debt Service

391,500

Reserve Fund

150,000

Surplus

“(Remains in operating fund)

51,400

Debt Service Fund

$23,650 per month=$283,800/year

Capital Reserve Fund

$12,500 per month=$150,000/year

Transfer from Reserve

0

Capital Outlay-Planned $116,750.
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TRUST AGREEMENT

THIS TRUST AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of ____, 2021 (the "Agreement”), by and
between U.S. BANK GLOBAL CORPORATE TRUST, as trustee (the "Trustee"), a national banking
association duly organized and cxisting under the laws of the United States of America and
PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT, a community services district duly
organized and existing under the laws of the State of California (the "District");

WITNESSETH:

In consideration of the mutual covenants herein coniained and for other valuable consideration,
the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS; RULES OF CONSTRUCTION; CONTENTS OF
BONDS AND OPINIONS; RECITALS

SECTION 1.1, DEFINITIONS

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms defined in this section shail for all purposes hereof and of
any amendment hereof or supplement hereto and of any report or other document mentioned herein or
therein have the meanings defined herein, the following definitions to be equally applicable to both the
singular and plural forms of any of the terms defined herein. All capitalized terms used herein and not
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Trust Agreement.

Agreement. The term "Agreement” means this Trust Agreement, as originally executed or as it may from
time to time be amended or supplemented as provided for herein,

Bond Paymeﬁt Fund. The term "Bond Payment Fund" means the fund by that name established in Section
5.02 hereof.

Code. The term "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the United States
Treasury Regulations in effect with respect thereto.

Contracts. The term "confracts" mean indebtedness represented by a loan, Cextificates of Participation or
other debt instrument to be paid from Net Water Revenues.

Delivery Cost Fund, The term "Delivery Cost Fund" means the fund by that name established in Section
3,04 hereof.

Delivery Costs. The term "Delivery Costs” means all items of expense directly or indireeily payable by or
reimbursable to the District and related to the authorization, execution, sale and delivery of the
Bonds, including but not limited to costs of preparation and reproduction of documents, printing
expenses, filing and recording fees, initial fees and charges of the Trustee and counsel to the
Trustee, legal fees and charges, fees and disbursements of consultants and professionals, rating
agency fees, tifle insurance premiutns, letter of credit fees and bond insurance premiums (if any),
fees and charges for prepatation, execution and safekeeping of the Bonds and any other cost,
charge or fee in connection with the original execution and delivery of the Bonds.

TRUST AGREEMENT
Page 2



Depository or DTC. The term *Depository" or "DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, New York,
New York, a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York
in its capacity as securities depository for the Bonds.

District. The term "District' means the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District, a public agency.

Bvent of Default. The term "Event of Default” means with respect to this Trust Agreement, any of the
events in Section 7.3.

Fiscal Year, The term "Fiscal Year" means that period commencing on July 1, of any year and ending
June 30 of the next year.

Independent Certified Accountant. The term "Tndependent Certified Accountant” means any accountant
or firm of such accountants duly licensed or registered or entifled to practice and practicing as
such under the laws of the State, appointed by or acceptable to the District, and who, or each of
whom: (a) is in fact independent and not under domination of the District; (b} does not have any
substantial interest, direct or indirect, with the District; and (c) is not connected with the District
as an officer or employee of the District, but who may be regularly retained to make reports to the
District.

Tndependent Municipal Consultant. The term "Independent Municipal Consultant" means any consultant
or firm of such consultants appointed by or acceptable to the District and who, or each of whom:
(a) is judged by the District to have experience in matters relating to the financing of projects; (b)
is in fact independent and not under domination of the District; and (c) is not connected with the
District as an officer or employee of the District, but who may be regularly retained to make
reports to the District.

Tnformation Services. The term "Information Services" means the Electronic Municipal Market Access
System of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which can be found at yww.emmamsrb.org,
or any other repository of disclosure information that may be designated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission in the future. :

Interest Fund. The term "Interest Fund" means the fund by that name established in Section 5,02 hereof.

Investment Agreement. The term "Investment Agreement” means an investment agreement supported by
appropriate opinions of counsel; provided the provider or the guarantor is rated at least "TAA" by
S&P.

Letter of Representations. The term "Letter of Representations" means the letter of the District and the
Trustee delivered to and accepted by the Depository on or priox to delivery of the Bonds as book-
entry Bonds setting forth the basis on which the Depository serves as depository for such book-
entry Bonds, as originally executed or as it may be supplemented or revised or replaced by a
letter from the District and the Trustee delivered to and accepted by the Depository.

Net Water Revenues. The term "Net Water Revenues" means, for any Fiscal Year, the Water Revenues
for such Fiscal Year less the Operation and Maintenance Costs for such Fiscal Year.

Nominee. The term "Nominee" means the nomines of the Depository, which may be the Depository, as
determined from time to time pursuant to Section 2.10 hereof.

TRUST AGREEMENT
Page 3
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Operation and Maintenance Costs. The term "Operation and Maintenance Costs" means:

(1) Costs sperit or incurred for maintenance and operation of the District's Water
Enterprise System calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
including (among other things) the reasonable expenses of management and repair and other
expenses necessary to maintain and preserve the District Water Enterprise System in good repair
and working order, and including administrative costs of the District, including but not limited to
salaries and wages of employees, paymenis to retirement or pension plans, overhead, insurance,
taxes (if any), fees of auditors, accountants, attorneys, consultants or engineers and insurance
premiums, and

()] All other reasonable and necessary administrative or similar costs of the District
or charges (other than debt service payments) required to be paid by it to comply with the terms
of the Bonds or any Contract or of any resolution or Trust Agreement authorizing the issuance of
any Bonds or of such Bonds, but excluding in all cases depreciation, replacement and
obsolescence charges or reserves therefor and amortization of intangibles or other bookkeeping
entries of a similar nature and costs of water purchases.

Outstanding. The term "Outstanding," when used as of any particular time with reference to Bonds,
means (subject to the provisions of Section 11.4) ail Bonds except: (1) Bonds canceled by the
Trustee or delivered to the Trustes for cancellation; (2) Bonds paid or deemed to have been paid
within the meaning of Section 10,01; and (3) Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other
Bonds shall have been executed and delivered by the Trustee pursuant to Section 2.10.

Owner. The term "Owner” or "Bond Owner" or "Owner of Bonds" or any similar term, when used with
respect to the Bonds, means any person who shail be the registered owner of any Outstanding
Bond.

Participants. The term "Participants” means those broker-dealers, banks and other financial institutions
from time to time for which the Depository holds book-entry Bonds as securities depository.

Payment Dates. The term "Payment Dates” means 1 and 1 in each year commencing
1, 2021 and any date on which the unpaid Water Revenue Payments are declared
to be due and payable immediately and provided such declaration is not rescinded or annulled.

Permitted Investments. The term "Permitted Investments” means any of the following which at the time
of investment are legal investments under the laws of the State for the moneys proposed to be
invested therein:

a) for all purposes, including but not Lmited to defeasance investments in escrow accounts:

(1) cash (insured at afl times by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or otherwise
collateralized with obligations described in paragraph (2) below), or (2) direct obligations of
(including obligations issued or held in book entry form on the books of) the Department of the
Treasury of the United States of America; and

b) for all purposes other than defeasance investments in escrow accounts: (1) obligations of
any of the following federal agencies which obligations represent full faith and credit of the
United States of America, including the Export - Import Bank; Farmers Home Administration;
General Services Administration; U.S. Maritime Administration; Small Business Administration;
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Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA); U.S. Department of Housing & Urban
Development (PHA's); and Federal Housing Administration; (2) bonds, notes or other evidences
of indebtedness rated "AAA" and "Aaa" by the applicable rating agency issued by the Federal
National Mortgage Association or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation with remaining
maturities not exceeding three years; (3) U.S. dollar denominated deposit accounts, Bonds of
deposit, federal funds and bankers acceptances with domestic commercial banks (including the
Trustee) which are either insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or have a rating
on their short term Bonds of deposit on the date of purchase of "A-I" or "A-1+" by S&FP and "P-
1" by Moody's and maturing no more than 360 days after the date of purchase (ratings on holding
companies are not considered as the rating of the bank); (4) commercial paper which is rated at
the time of purchase in the single highest classification, "A-1+" by S&P and "P-1" by Moody's
and which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase; (5) investments in a money
market fund rated "AAAm" or "AAAmM-G" or better by S&P, including such funds for which the
Trustee or an affiliate acts as investment advisor or provides other services; (6) pre-refunded
municipal obligations defined as follows: any bonds or other obligations of any state of the
United States of America or of any agency, instrumentality or local governmental unit of any
such state which are not caliable at the option of the obligor prior to maturity or as to which
irrevocable instructions have been given by the obligor to call on the date specified in the notice
and which are rated, based on the escrow, in the highest rating category of S&P and Moody's or
any successor thereto; (7) any Investrnent Agreement; and (8) the Local Agency Investment
Fund,

Prepayment Price. The term "Prepayment Price" means the principal amount with respect to any Bond (or
portion thereof) plus the applicable premiuvan, if any, payable upon prepayment thereof pursuant
to the provisions of such Bond and this Agreement,

Principal and Interest Payment Dates, The term "Principal Payment Date" or "Interest Payment Date"
means cach date on which Water Revenue Payments of Principal and/or Interest are scheduled to
be paid by the District from Water Revenue pursuant to the Trust Agreement.

Principal Corporate Trust Office. The term "Principal Corporate Trust Office" means the principal
cotporate trust office of the Trustee in San Francisco, California, provided that for purposes of
payment, prepayment, exchange, transfer, surrender and cancellation of Bonds such term means
the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee in Los Angeles, California or such other office
as the Trustee may from time to time designate in writing to the District and the Owners.

Principal Fund. The term “Principal Fund" means the fund by that name established in Section 5.02
hereof.

Rebate Fund. The term "Rebate Fund” means the fund by that name established in Section 5.06 hereof.

Record Date. The term "Record Date" means, with respect to any Payment Date for a Bond, the fificenth
day of the calendar month prior to such Payment Date.

Reserve Fund. The term "Reserve Fund" means the fund by that name established in Section 5.04 hercof.

Reserve Requirement. The term "Reserve Requiremen€’ means the lesser of (i) 10% of the proceeds of
the Bonds, (ii) the maximum annual debt service, or (iii) 125% of the average annual debt service
on the Bonds.
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Securities Depositories. The term "Securities Depositories" means: The Depository Trust Company, 55
Water Street, New York, New York 10041, Atin: Redemption Area, Fax-(212) 855-7232 or
7233; and, in accordance with then current guidelines of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, such other addresses as such depositories may specify and/or such other securities
depositories as the District may designate in a Written Request of the District delivered to the
Trustee, '

Special Counsel. The term "Special Counsel" means any attorney at law or firm of attorneys selected by
the District, of nationally-recognized standing in matters pertaining to the federal tax exemption
of interest on bonds issued by states and political subdivisions, and duly admitted to practice law
before the highest court of any state of the United States of America,

State. The term "State" means the State of California,

Statemnent of the District, The term "Statement of the District" means a statement signed by or on behalf
of the District by the President and by the Secretary or by any two persons (whether or not
members of the Board of Directors) who are specifically authorized by resolution of the District
to sign or execute such a document on its behalf. ¥f and to the extent required by the provisions of
Section 1.03, each Statement of the District shall include the statements provided for in Section
1.03, ' T "

Tax Certificate. The term "Tax Certificate” means the Tax Certificate dated 1, 2021, concerning
certain matters pertaining to the use and investment of proceeds of the Bonds executed by and
delivered to the District on the date of execution and delivery of the Bonds, including any and all
exhibits attached thereto.

Trustee. The term "Trustee” means U.S. Bank Global Corporate Trust, a national banking association
duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the United States of America
having a principal corporate trust office in San Francisco, California, or such other office as the
Trustee may from time to time designate in writing to the District, the Owners, or ifs successor as
Trustee hereunder.

Water Revenue Fund. The term "Water Revenue Fund" means the fund by that name established and
maintained pursuant to Section 5.01 (b).

Water Revenues- The term "Water Revenues” means all income, rents, rates, fees, charges and other
moneys collected or received by the District pertaining to the sale and delivery of water,
including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

{1) all income, rents, rates, fees, charges, or other moneys derived by the District
from the sale, furnishing and supplying of the water or other services, facilities, and commodities
sold, furnished or supplied through the facilities of or in the conduct or operation of the business
of the District; plus

2) the proceeds of the District's replenishment assessment, additional replenishment
assessment and general assessment, including moneys provided to the District by a
redevelopment agency in lieu of such general assessment or the tax described above; plus
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(3) the earnings on and income derived from the investment of such income, rents,
rates, fees, charges, or other moneys, including District reserves; plus

4) amounts received from the sale of water by the District, including but not limited
to an amount equal to the amount a retail water agency within the District pays for supplemental
water under a District in lieu program.,

Water Revenue Payment. The term "Water Revenue Payments" means Net Water Revenues of the
District transferred to the Trustee for the deposit into the Principal Fund and Interest Fund.

Whritten Consent of the District, Written Order of the District, Written Request of the District, and Written
Requisition of the District. The terms "Written Consent of or District,” "Written Order of or
District," "Written Request of the District," and "Written Requisition of the District’ mean,
respectively, a written consent, order, request or requisition signed by or on behalf of (i) the
District by the President or General Manager or by the Secretary or by any two persons (whether
ot not members of the Board of Directors) who are specifically authorized by resolution of the
District to sign or execute such a document on its behalf.

SECTION 1.2. RULES OF CONSTRUCTION

Words of any gender shall be deemed and construed to include all genders, and words importing
persons shall include corporations and associations, including public bodies, as well as natural persons.
Unless the context otherwise indicates, words importing the singular number shall include the plural
number and vice versa

1.3. CONTENT STATEMENTS AND OPINIONS

Every statement or opinion with respect to compliance with a condition or covenant provided for
in this Agreement, including each. Statement of shall include () a statement that the person or persons
making or giving such statement or opinion have read such covenant or condition and the definitions
herein relating thereto; (b) a brief statcment as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation
upon which the statements or opinions contained in such statement or opinion are based; (c) a statement
that, in the opinion of the signers, they have made or caused to be made such examination or investigation
as is necessary to enable them to express an informed opinion as to whether or not such covenant or
condition has been complied with; and (d) a statement as to whether, in the opinion of the signers, such
condifion or covenant has been complied with,

ARTICLEI
BONDS; TERMS AND PROVISIONS

SECTION 2.1. PREPARATION OF BONDS

The Trustee is hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver Bonds, to be denominated "2021
Water Revenue Bonds" (the "Bonds") in an aggregate principal amount of $—_ . evidencing
undivided interests in Water Revenue Payments to be paid by the District from Water Revenue under the
Trust Agreement,
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SECTION 2.2. DENOMINATIONS; MEDIUM AND PLACE OF PAYMENT; DATING

The Bonds shall be delivered in the form of fully registered Bonds and in the denomination of
$5,000 each or any integral multiple thereof; provided that no Bond shall have principal represented
thereby maturing in more than one year. :

The principal and Prepayment Price with respect to the Bonds shall be payable in lawful money
of the United States of America upon presentation and surrender thereof at the Principal Corporate Trust
Office of the Trustee. Intercst with respect to the Bonds shall be payable by check or draft of the Trustee
mailed by first class mail on each Payment Date of the Bonds to the respective Bond Owners of record
thereof as of the close of business on the Record Date at the addresses shown on the books required to be
kept pursuant to Section 2.8 or, upon the written request received by the Trustee of an Owner of at least
$1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, by wire transfer of immediately available funds
to an account in the United States designated by such Owner prior to the applicable Record Date.

The Bonds shall be dated as of the date of initial delivery thereof. Interest with respect to the
Bonds shall be payable from the Payment Date preceding their date of execution, unless such date shall
be after a Record Date and on or before the succeeding Payment Date, in which case interest shall be
paysble from such Payment Date or unless such date shall be-on or before the first Record Date, in which
case interest shall be payable as of the date of initial delivery thereof provided, however, that if, as shown
by the records of the Trustee, interest represented by the Bonds shall be in default, Bonds executed in
exchange for Bonds surrendered for transfer or exchange shall represent interest from the last date to
which interest has been paid in full or duly provided for with respect to the Bonds, or, if no interest has
been paid or duly provided for with respect to the Bonds, as of the date of initial delivery thereof.

2.3. PAYMENT PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST WITH RESPECT TO BONDS

(a) The Bonds shall become payable on 1 in the years and in the amounts and with an
interest component as provided in subsection (b} below at the rates, as follows:

Bond Payment Date ' Principal Interest

Principal or Prepayment Price due with respect to the Bonds at maturity or prepayment thercof
shall, to the extent of the aggregate principal amount stated upon the Bonds, represent the sum of those
portions of the Payments designated as principal coming due on the Payment Dates immediately
preceding I in each year.

(b Interest with respect to the Bonds shall be payable on each Intercst Payment Date to and
including the date of maturity or prior prepayment. Said interest shall represent the sum of those portions
of the Tnferest Payments designated as interest coming due on the Interest Payment Dates, at the rates set
forth in subsection (a) above. Interest with respect to the Bond will be computed on the basis of a 360-day
year of twelve thirty-day months.
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SECTION 2.4. FORM OF BONDS

The Bonds and the form of assignment to appear thereon shall be in substantially the form set
forth in Exhibit A hereto with necessary or appropriate variations, omissions and insertions as permitted
or required by this Agreement.

SECTION 2.5. AUTHENTICATION

The Bonds shall be exgeuted by and in the name of the Trustee, as trustee under this Agreement,
by the manua! signature of an authorized officer or signatory of the Trustee.

SECTION 2.6. TRANSFER OF BONDS

Any Bond may, in accordance with its terms, be transferred, upon the books required to be kept
pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.8, by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by
such person's duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of such Bond for cancellation at the Principal
Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, accompanied by detivery of a duly executed written instrument of
transfer in a form approved by the Trustee.

Whenever any Bond or Bonds shall be swrendered for transfer, the Trustee shall execute and
deliver a new Bond or Bonds of the same maturity, for a like aggregate principal amount and of
authorized denomination or denominations. The Trustee may charge a sum for each new Bond executed
and delivered upon any transfer. The Trustee may require the payment by any Bond Owner requesting
any such transfer of any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such
transfer. Following any transfer of Bonds the Trustee shall cancel and destroy the Bonds it has received.

2.7. EXCHANGE BONDS

Bonds may be exchanged at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, for a like
aggregate principal amount of Bonds of other authorized denominations of the same maturity. The
Trustee may charge a sum for each new Bond executed and delivered upon any exchange except in the
case of any exchange of temporary Bonds for definitive Bonds. The Trustee may require the payment by
the Owner requesting such exchange of any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with
respect to such exchange. Following any exchange of Bonds the Trustee shall cancel and destroy the

Bonds it has received.

The Trustee shall not be required to register the exchange, or transfer pursuant to 2.6 hereof, of
any Bond (i) within 15 days preceding selection of Bonds for prepayment or (i) selected for prepayment.

SECTION 2.8. BOND REGISTRATION BOOKS

The Trustee will keep or cause to be kept sufficient books for the registration and transfer of the
Bonds, which shall upon reasonable prior notice and at all reasonable times be open to inspection by the
District; and, upon presentation for such purpose, the Trustee shall, under such reasonable regulations as
it may prescribe, register or transfer or cause to be registered or transferred, on said books, Bonds as
hereinbefore provided.

The person in whose name any Bond shall be registered shall be deemed the Owner thereof for
all purposes hereof, and payment of or on account of the interest with respect to and principal of, and
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Prepayment Price represented by such Bond shall be made only to or upon the order in writing of such
registered Owner, which payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge liability upon such
Rond to the extent of the sum ot surs so paid.

SECTION 2.9. BONDS MUTILATED, LOST, DESTROYED OR STOLEN

If any Bond shall become mutilated, the Trustee shall execute and deliver a new Bond of like
tenor, maturity and principal amount in exchange and substitution for the Bond so mutilated, but only
upon surrender to the Trustee of the Bond so mutilated.

Every mutilated Bond so surrendered to the Trustee shall be canceled by it and destroyed. All
Bonds acquired by the District, whether by purchase or gift or otherwise shall be surrendered to the
Trustee for cancellation. Whenever in this Trust Agreement provision is made for the cancellation by the
Trustee of any Bonds, the Trustee shall destroy such Bonds and deliver a certificate of such destruction to
the District If any Bond shall be lost, destroyed or stolen, evidence of such loss, destruction or theft may
be submitted to the Trustes, and, if such evidence is satisfactory to the Trustee and indemnity satisfactory
to the Trustee shall be given indemnifying the Trustee, the District, and the Trustee, at the expense of the
Bond Owner, shall execute and deliver a new Bond of like tenor and maturity, and numbered as the
Trustee shall determine, in licu of and in substitution for the Bond se lost, destroyed or stolen, The
Trustee may require payment of a sum not exceeding the actual cost of preparing each new Bond
executed under this Section and of the expenses which may be incurred by the Trustee under this Section.
Any Bond executed under the provisions of this Section in licu of any Bond alleged to be lost, destroyed
ot stolen shall be equally and proportionately entitled to the benefits of this Agreement with all other
Bonds secured by this Agreement. The Trustee shall not be required to treat both the original Bond and
any teplacement Bond as being Outstanding for the purpose of determining the principal amount of
Ronds which may be executed hereunder or for the purpose of determining any percentage of Bonds
Outstanding hereunder, but both the original and replacement Bond shall be treated as one and the same.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section, in lieu of delivering a new Bond for a Bond which
has been mutilated, lost, destroyed or stolen and which has matured or has been selected for prepayment,
the Trustee may make payment of such Bond upon receipt of indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee.
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2.10. BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM

(a)  Election of Bool-Entry System. Prior to the execution and delivery of the Bonds, the District
may provide that such Bonds shall be initially executed and delivered as book-entry Bonds. If the District
shall elect to deliver any Bonds in book-entry form, then the District shall cause the delivery of a separate
single fully registered Bond (which may be typewritien) for each maturity date of such Bonds in an
authorized denomination corresponding to that total principal amount of the Bonds designated to mature
on such date. Upon initial execution and delivery, the ownership of each such Bond shall be registered in
the Bond registration books in the name of the Nominee, as nominee of the Depository and ownership of
the Bonds, or any portion thereof may not thereafter be transferred except as provided in Section 2.10 (e).

With respect to book-entry Bonds, the District and the Trustee shall have no responsibility or
obligation to any Participant or to any person on behalf of which such a Participant holds an interest in
such book-entry Bonds. Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the District and the Trustee
shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of the Depository,
the Nominee, or any Parficipant with respect to any ownership interest in book-entry Bonds, (ii) the
delivery to any Participant or any other person, other than an Owner as shown in the Bond registration
books, of any notice with respect to book-entry Bonds, including any notice of prepayment, (iii) the
selection by the Depository and its Participants of the beneficial interests in book-entry Bonds to be
prepaid in the event the District prepays the Bonds in part, or (iv) the payment by the Depository or any
Participant or any other person, of any amount with respect to principal, premium, if any, or interest with
respect to book-entry Bonds. The District and the Trustee may treat and consider the person in whose
name each book-entry Bond is registered in the Bond registration books as the absolute Owner of such
book-entry Bond for the purpose of payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect fo
such Bond, for the purpose of giving notices of prepayment and other matters with respect to such Bond,
for the purpose of registering transfers with respect to such Bond, and for all other purposes whatsoever.
The Trustee shall pay all principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to the Bonds only to or upon
the order of the respective Owner, as shown in the Bond register, or his respective aftorney duly
authorized in writing, and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the
District's obligations with respect to payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest evidenced and
represented by the Bonds fo the extent of the sum or sums so paid. No person other than an Owner, as
shown in the Bond registration books, shall receive a Bond evidencing the obligation to make payments
of principal, premium, if any, and interest evidenced and represented by the Bonds. Upon delivery by the
Depository to the Owner and the Trostee, of written notice to the effect that the Depository has
determined to substitute 2 new nominee in place of the Nominee, and subject to the provisions herein with
respect to Record Dates, the word Nominee in this Trust Agreement shall refer to such nominee of the
Depository.

(b)  Delivery of Letter of Representations. In order to qualify the book-entry Bonds for the
Depository's book-entry system, the District and the Trustee shall execute and deliver to the Depository a
Letter of Representations. The excoution and delivery of a Letter of Representations shall not in any way
impose upon the District or the Trustee any obligation whatsoever with respect to persons having interests
in such book-entry Bonds other than the Owners, as shown on the Bond registration books, By executing
a Letter of Representations, the Trustee shall agree to take all action necessary at all times so that the
District will be in compliance with all representations of the District in such Letter of Representations, In
addition to the execution and delivery of a Letter of Representations, the District and the Trustee shall
take such other actions, not inconsistent with this Trust Agreement, as are reasonably necessary (o qualify
Book-Entry Bonds for the Depository's book-entry program.
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(c) Selection of Depository, In the event (i) the Depository detertuines not to continue to act
as securities depository for book-entry Bonds, or (ii) the District determines that continuation of the book-
eniry system is not in the best interest of the beneficial owners of the Bonds or the District, then the
District will discontinue the book-entry system with the Depository. If the District determines to replace
the Depository with another qualified securities depository, the District shall prepare or direct the
preparation of a new single, separate, fully registered Bond for cach of the maturity dates of such book-
entry Bonds, registered in the.name of such successor or substitute qualified securitics depository or its
Nominee as provided in subsection (€) hereof. If the District fails to identify another qualified securities
depository to replace the Depositoty, then the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in
such Bond register in the name of the Nominee, but shall be registered in whatever name or names the
Owners transferring or exchanging such Bonds shall desigpate, in accordance with the provisions of
Sections 2.6 and 2,7 hereof.

(d) Payments to Depository. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, so long as all Qutstanding Bonds are held in book-entry form and registered in the name of the
Notninee, all payments with respect to principal, prepayment premium, if any, and interest with respect fo
such Bond and all notices with respect to such Bond shall be made and given, respectively to the
Nomines, as provided in the Letter of Representations or as otherwise instructed by the Depository and
agreed 1o by the Trustee notwithstanding any inconsistent provisions herein.

(e) Transfer of Bonds to Substitute Depository.

(D The Bonds shall bo initially executed and delivered as provided in Section 2.1 hereof, Registered
ownership of such Bonds, or any portions thereof, may not thereafier be transferred except:

a. to any successor of DTC or its nominee, or of any substitute depository designated
pursuant to clause (B) of subsection (i) of this Section 2.10(e) ("Substitute Depository"); provided
that any successor of DTC or Substitute Depository shall be qualified under any applicable laws
to provide the service proposed to be provided by it; , :

b. to any Substitute Depository, upon (1} the resignation of DTC or its successor (or any
Substitute Depository or its successor) from its functions as depository, or (2) 2 determination by
the District that DTC (or its successor) is no longer able to carry out its functions as depository,
provided that any such Substitute Depository shall be qualified under any applicable laws fo
provide the services proposed to be provided by it; or

c. fo any person as provided below, upon (1) the resignation of DTC or its successor {or any
Substitute Depository or its successor) from its functions as depository, or (2) a determination by
the District that DTC or its successor (or Substitute Depository or its successor) is no longer able
to carry out its functions as depository.

(i) In the case of any transfer pursuant fo clause (A) or clause (B) of subsection () of this Section
2.10(e), upon receipt of all Outstanding Bonds by the Trustee, together with a written request of the
District to the Trustee designating the Substitute Depository, a single new Bond, which the District shall
prepate or cause to be prepared, shall be executed and delivered for cach maturity of Bonds then
Outstanding, registered in the name of such successor or such Substitute Depositow or their Nominees, as
the case may be, all as specified in such written request of the District. In the case of any transfer
pursuant to clause (C) of subsection (i) of this Section 2.10(e}, upon receipt of all Outstanding Bonds by
the Trustee, together with a written request of the District to the Trustee, new Bonds, which the District
shall prepate or cause to be prepared, shall be executed and delivered in such denominations and
registered in the names of such persons as are requested in such written request of the District, subject to
the limitations of Section 2.1 hereof, provided that the Trustee shall not be required to deliver such new
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Bonds within a petiod of less than sixty (60) days from the date of xeceipt of such written request from
the District.

(i) In the case of a partial prepayment or an advance of any Bonds evidencing a portion of the
principal maturing in a particular year, DTC or its successor (or any Substitute Depository or its
successor) shall make an appropriate notation on such Bonds indicating the date and amounts of such
reduction in principal, in form acceptable to the Trustee, all in accordance with the Letter of
Representations. The Trustee shall not be Hable for such Depository's failure to make such notations or
grrors in making such notations.

(iv) The District and the Trustee shall be entitled to treat the person in whose name any Bond is
registered as the Owner thercof for all purposes of this Trust Agreement and any applicable laws,
notwithstanding any notice to the contrary received by the Trustee or the District; and the District and the
Trustee shall not have responsibility for transmitiing payments to, communicating with, notifying, or
otherwise dealing with any beneficial owners of the Bonds, Neither the District nor the Trustee shall have
any responsibility or obligation, legal or otherwise, to any such beneficial ownexs or to any other patty,
including DTC or its successor (or Substitute Depository or its successor), except to the Owner of any
Bonds, and the Trustee may rely conclusively on its records as to the identity of the Owners of the Bonds.

SECTION 2.11. ADDITIONAL DISTRICT INDEBTEDNESS

General. The District covenants not to issue or incur any obligations payable from Net Water
Revenues senior to the Bonds. The District may issue Contracts or Bonds payable from Net Water
Revenues on parity with the Bonds in the future as described herein. This Agreement does not impose any
limitation on the issuance of additional obligations payable from Net Water Revenues subordinate to the

Bonds.

The District may execute any Contracts or issue any Bonds, as the case may be, payabie from Net
Water Revenues afier payment of Operation and Maintenance Costs, on parity with the Bonds, provided
that certain conditions are satisfied as provided below.

(a) The Net Water Revenues for the most recent audited Fiscal Year preceding the date of
adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such
Contracts or Bonds, as the case may be, as evidenced by both a calculation prepared by the District and a
special report prepared by an Independent Certified Public Accountant or an Independent Municipal
Consultant on such calculation on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least one
hundred fifteen percent (115%) of the Debt Service on any outstanding Parity debt for such Fiscal Year;
and

(b) The Net Water Revenues for the most recent audited Fiscal Year preceding the date of
adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolution authorizing the issuance of such
Contracts or Bonds, as the case may be, including adjustments to give effect as of the first day of such
Fiscal Year to increases or decreases in rates and charges for the Water Service approved and in effect as
of the date of calculation, as evidenced by a calculation prepared by the District, shall have produced a
sum equal to at least one hundred fifteen percent (115%) of the Debt Service on any outstanding Parity
debt for such Fiscal Year.

ARTICLE 111
DELIVERY OF BONDS; ESTABLISHMENT OF VARIOUS FUNDS
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SECTION 3.1. DELIVERY OF BONDS

The District shall execute and the Trustee is hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver Bonds
in an aggregate principal amountof $______ upon the Written Order of the District.

SECTION 3.2. APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS OF BONDS

The proceeds received from the sale of the Bonds shall be deposited with the Trustee, who shall

deposit the sum of $_—into the Delivery Cost Fund, deposit the sum of $_____in the
Construction Fund and deposit the sum of $_.._ (the amount of the initial Reserve Requirement)
into the Reserve Fund.

SECTION 3.3. VALIDITY OF BONDS

The validity of the execution and delivery of the Bonds is not dependent on and shall not be
affected in any way by any proceedings taken by the District or the Trustee with respect to or in
connection with the Trust Agreement. The recital contained in the Bonds that all acts, conditions and
things required by the Constitution and statutes of the State of California and this Agreement to exist, to
have happened and to have been performed precedent to and in the delivery thereof do exist, have
happened and have been performed in due time, form and manner as required by law shall be conclusive
evidence of their validity and of compliance with the provisions of law in their delivery.

SECTION 3.4. DELIVERY COST FUND

There is hereby established with the Trustee the Delivery Cost Fund which the Trustee shall
establish and maintain and hold in trust separate and apart from other funds held by it. The moneys in the
Delivery Cost Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee fo pay Delivery Costs upon submission of
Written Requisitions of the District substantially in the form of Exhibit B aftached hereto stating the
person to whom payment is to be made, the amount to be paid, the purpose for which the obligation was
incurred, that such payment is a proper charge against said fund and that payment for such charge has not
previously been made. On the six-month anniversary of the date of this Agreement, or upon the carlier
Written Request of the District, all amounts remaining in the Delivery Cost Fund shall be transferred by
the Trustee for deposit in the Bond Payment Fund. :

SECTION 3.5. PRINCIPAL FUND

There is hereby established with the Trustee the Principal Fund which the Trustee shall establish
and maintain and hold in trust separate and apart from other funds held by it in accordance with the terms
of Section 5.2(b) hereof.

SECTION 3.6, INTEREST ¥UND

There is hereby established with the Trustee the Interest Fund which the Trustee shall establish
and maintain and hold in trust separate and apart from other funds held by it in accordance with the terms
of Section 5.2(a) hereof.

SECTION 3.7. RESERVE FUND

There is hereby established with the Trustee the Reserve Fund which the Trustee shall establish
and maintain and hold in trust separate and apart from other funds held by it in accordance with the terms
of Section 5.4 hereof.
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SECTION 3.8. CONSTRUCTION FUND

There is hereby established with the Trustee the Construction Fund which the Trustee shall
establish and maintain and hold in trust separate and apart from other funds held by it.

ARTICLE IV
PREPAYMENT OF BONDS

SECTION 4.1, OPTIONAL PREPAYMENT

The Bonds shall be subject to prepayment priot to their respective stated maturities, as a whole or
in part on any Interest Payment Date in the order of maturity as directed by the District in a Written
Request provided to the Trustee at least 60 days prior to such date and by lot within each maturity in
integral multiples of $5,000, on or after 1, 20 from amounts prepaid by the District
pursuant to the Trust Agreement at a Prepayment Price below equal to the principal amount of such
Bonds to be prepaid phis accrued interest evidenced and represented thereby to the date fixed for
prepayment:

Prepayment Dates (Imlgsive) Prepayment Price
_1-_ 1,20 %
Y- 1,20 %
1~ 1,20 ,and thereafter %

SECTION 4.2. MANDATORY SINKING FUND PREPAYMENT

The Bonds maturing on 1,20 and 1,20 (the "Term Bonds") are subject to
mandatory prepayment in part, by lot, on 1 in each of the following years commencing 1,
20 and 1, 20 from principal and interest payments made by the District to the Trustee

pursuant to the Trust Agreement, at a prepayment price equal to the principal amount evidenced thereby
to be prepaid, without premium, in the aggregate respective principal amounts, and on ____ 1 in the
respective yeats as set forth in the following tables; provided, however, that if some, but not all, of such
Term Bonds have been prepaid pursuant to the terms of the Trust Agreement, the total amount of all
future sinking fund payments shall be reduced by the aggregate principal amount of such Term Bonds so
prepaid, to be allocated among such sinking fund payments on a pro rata basis in integral multiples of
.$5,000, as determined by the District and specified in writing to the Trustee.

20 TERM BOND

Sinking Fund Prepayment Date Principal Amount of Term Bond to be Prepaid
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SECTION 4.3. SELECTION OF BONDS FOR PREPAYMENT

Whenever less than all of the Bonds are called for prepayment, the Trustee shall select the Bonds
or portions thereof to be prepaid from the Outstanding Bonds in accordance with Section 4.1 hercof. The
Trustee shall promptly notify the District in writing of the numbers of the Bonds or portions thereof so
selected for prepayment.

SECTION 4.4. NOTICE OF PREPAYMENT

The District shall deliver notice of prepayment under Section 4.1 to the Trustee not less than 40
days prior to the proposed prepayment date. Notice of prepayment shall be sent to the respective Owners
of any Bonds designated for prepayment at their addresses appearing on the Bond registration books and
to the Information Services and to the Securities Depositories at least 20 days but not more than 30 days
prior to the prepayment date.

Each notice of prepayment shall state the date of notice, the prepayment date, the place or places
of prepayment and the Prepayment Price, shall designate the maturities, CUSIP numbers, if any, and, if
less than all Bonds of any such maturity are to be prepaid, the serial numbers of the Bonds of such
maturity to be prepaid by giving the individual number of each Bond or by stating that all Bonds between
two stated numbers, both inclusive, have been called for prepayment and, in the case of Bonds to be
prepaid in part only, the respective portions of the principal amount thereof to be prepaid. Each such
notice shall also state that on said date there will become due and payable on each of said Bonds the
Prepayment Price thereof or of said specified portion of the principal represented thereby in the case of a
Bond to be prepaid in part only, together with interest accrued with respect thereto to the propayment
date, and that (provided that moneys for prepayment have been deposited with the Trustee) from and after
such prepayment date interest with respect thereto shall cease to accrue, and shall require that such Bonds
be then surrendered to the Trustee. Any defect in the notice or the mailing thereof will not affect the
validity of the prepayment of any Bond.

Notice of prepayment of Bonds shall be given by the Trustee on behalf of and at the expense of
the District.

SECTION 4.5. PARTIAL PREPAYMENT OF BOND

Upon surrender of any Bond prepaid in part only, the Trustee shall execute and deliver to the
Owner thereof, at the expense of the District, a new Bond or Bonds of authorized denominations equal in
aggregate principal amount to the unprepaid portion of the Bond surrendered and of the same maturity.

SECTION 4.6. EFFECT OF PREPAYMENT

When notice of prepayment has been duly given as aforesaid, and moneys for payment of the
Prepayment Price of, together with interest acerued to the prepayment date with respect to, the Bonds (or

. portions theteof so called for prepayment are held by the Trustee, the Bonds (or portions thereof) so

called for prepayment shall, on the prepayment date designated in such notice, become due and payable at
the Prepayment Price specified in such notice and interest accrued thereon to the prepayment date; and
from and after the prepayment date interest represented by the Bonds so called for prepayment shall cease
to accrue, said Bonds (or portions thereof) shall cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under this
Agreement, and the Owners of said Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof except to receive
payment of said Prepayment Price and accrued interest.

All Bonds prepaid pursuant to the provisions of this Article shall be canceled upon surrender
thereof and destroyed by the Trustee.
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ARTICLE V
WATER REVENUE PAYMENTS

SECTION 5.1. PLEDGE AND DEPOSIT OF WATER REVENUES

(a) All of the Water Revenues, all amounts held in the Water Revenue Fund described in
subsection (b) below and any other amounts (including proceeds of the sale of the Bonds) held in any
fund or account established pursuant to the Trust Agreement (cxcept the Rebate Fund) are hercby
irrevocably pledged to secure the payment of the principal of and interest, and the premium, if any, on the
Bonds in accordance with their terms and the provisions of the Trust Agreement, subject however to the
pledge thereon securing parity debt, and the Water Revenues shall not be used for any other purpose
while the Bonds remain Outstanding; provided that out of the Water Revenues there may be apportioned
such sums for such purposes as are expressly permitted herein. Said pledge, together with the pledge
created for the benefit of other Bonds and Contracts, shall constitute a first lien on and security interest on
Water Revenues and, subject to application of Water Revenue Fund and all amounts on deposit therein as
permitted herein, the Water Revenue Fund and other funds and accounts created hereunder for the
payment of the principal of and interest, and the premium, if any, on the Bonds in accordance with the
terms hereof, and shall attach, be perfected and be valid and binding from and after the Closing Date,
without any physical delivery thereof or further act and shall be valid and binding against all parties
having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the District, irrespective of whether such
parties have notice hereof.

(b) Tn order to carry out and effectuate the pledge and lien contained herein, the District
agrees and covenants to receive all Water Revenues in trust hereunder and shall be deposited when and as
received in a special fund designated as the "Water Revenue Fund," which fund has been previously
established by the District and is hereby continued and which fund the District agrees and covenants to
maintain and to hold separate and apart from other funds so long as the Bonds remain unpaid. Moneys in
the Water Revenue Fund shall be used and applied by the District as provided herein. All moneys in the
Water Revenue Fund shall be held in trust and shall be applied, used and withdrawn for the purposes set
forth in this Section.

(c) The District shall, from the moneys in the Water Revenue Fund, pay all Operation and
Maintenance Costs (including amounts reasonably required to be set aside in contingency reserves for
Operation and Maintenance Costs, the payment of which is not then immediately required) as such
Operation and Maintenance Costs become due and payable. Therecafter all remaining moneys in the Water

Revenue Fund shall be applied by the District at the following times for the transfer to the following .

respective special funds in the following order of priority; and all moneys in each of such funds shall be
held in trust and shall be applied, used and withdrawn only for the purposes set forth in this Section.

(d) Not later than the first business day preceding each date on which principal of or interest
on the Bonds becomes due and payable, the District shall transfer from the Water Revenue Fund to the
Trustee for deposit in the Bond Payment Fund funds sufficient for payment of principal and interest due
and for Bond redemption, if applicable.

All amounts designated by the District as interest, shall be applied by the Trustee solely in the
. TInterest Fund of the Bond Payment Fund for the purpose of paying interest on the Bonds as it shall
become due and payable (including accrued interest on any Bonds purchased or redeemed prior to
maturity pursuant to the Trust Agreement).

All amounts designated by the District as principal shall be deposited by the Trustee in the
Principal Fund of the Bond Payment Fund for the purpose of paying principal on the Bonds at their
respective maturity dates.
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(e) All amounts designated by the Trustee as redemption funds shall be applied by the
Trustee solely for the purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the Bonds to be redeemed,;
provided, however, that at any time prior to giving notice of redemption of any such Bonds, the Trustee
may apply such amounts to the purchase of Bonds at public or private sale, as and when and at such
prices (including brokerage and other charges, but excluding accrued interest), as shall be directed
pursuant to a Whitten Certificate of the District, except that the purchase price (exclusive of accrued
interest) may not exceed the redemption price then applicable to the Bonds. The Trustee shall establish
and maintain a Delivery Costs Fund in accordance with Section 3.4 hereof.

69) All amounts in the Reserve Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for
the purpose of (a) paying interest on or principal of the Bonds, when due and payable to the extent that
moneys deposited in the Interest Fund or Principal Fund, respectively, are not sufficient for such purpose,
and (b) making the final payments of principal of and interest on the Bonds. On the date on which all
Bonds shall be retired hereunder or provision made therefor, all moneys then on deposit in the Reserve
Fund shall be withdrawn by the Trustee and paid to the District as a refund of Principal or Interest
Payments. In the event of any deficiency in the Reserve Fund (whether due to a payment therefrom or due
to the fluctuation in market value of securities credited thereto, or otherwise) as of the fifteenth (15th) day
of the month preceding any Interest Payment Date, the Trustee shall promptly notify the District in
writing of the amount of such deficiency and the District shall fund such deficiency from Net Revenues.
Any amounts on deposit in the Reserve Fund at any time in excess of the Reserve Requirement shall be
transferred to the Water Revenue Payment Fund,

The Reserve Fund may be maintained in the form of one or more separate subaccounts, which are
established for the purpose of holding the proceeds of separate issues of the Bonds in conformity with
applicable provisions of the Tax Code.

SECTION 5.2. BOND PAYMENT FUND

There is hereby established with the Trustee the Bond Payment Fund of which the Trustee
covenants to maintain and hold in trust separate and apart from other funds held by it so long as any
Water Revenue Payments remain unpaid. All moneys on deposit in the Bond Payment Fund (including
income or profit from investments) shall be retained therein except as expressly provided herein.

The Trusteo shall transfer from the Bond Payment Fund the following amounts at the times and in
the manner hereinafter provided, and shall deposit such amounts in one or more of the following
respective funds, each of which the Trustee shall establish and maintain and hold in trust separate and
apart from other funds held by it, and each of which shall be disbursed and applied only as hereinafter
authorized. Such amounts shall be so transferred to and deposited in the following respective funds in the
following order of priority, the requirements of each such fund at the time of deposit to be satisfied before
any transfer is made to any fund subsequent in priority:

{a) Interest Fund. The Trustee, on the last business day before each Interest Payment Date
(commencing on the last business day before 1,20 ), shall deposit in the Interest Fund from Water
Revenues an amount representing interest coming due with respect fo the Bonds on the next succeeding

lor 1, as the case may be. No deposit need be made into the Interest Fund so long as there shall
be in such fur fund moneys sufficient to pay the interest portion of Bonds then Outstanding due, if any, on the
next  lor__ 1,asthe case may be,

Except as hercinafter provided, moneys in the Interest Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the
Trustee solely for the purpose of paying the interest with respect to the Bonds when due and payable
(including accrued interest on any Bonds prepaid prior to maturity pursuant to this Agreement).
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{b) Principal Fund. The Trustee, on the last business day before each 1 (commencing
on the last business day before 1, 20 ), shall deposit in the Principal Fund from Water Revenues
an amount equal to the principal coming due with respect to the Bonds on the next succeeding 1. No
deposit need be made into the Principal Fund so long as there shall be in such fund moneys sufficient to
pay the portion of all Bonds then Outstanding designated as principal and coming due on the next
succeeding L.

Except as hereinafter provided, moneys in the Principal Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the
Trustee solely for the purpose of paying the principal with respect to the Bonds when due and payable.

SECTION 5.3. INVESTMENT OF MONEYS IN SPECIAL FUNDS

Any moneys in the Delivery Cost Fund, the Bond Payment Fund, the Interest Fund, the Principal
Fund and the Reserve Fund shall be invested by the District or, upon the Written Request of the District,
by the Trustee, in Permitted Investments which will mature on or before the dates when such moneys ate
scheduled to be needed for payment from such fund. Securities acquired as an investment of moneys in a
- fund shall be credited to such fund.

In the absence of written investment direction from the District, the Trustee shall invest moneys
held by it solely in Permitted Investments specified in clause (5) of subsection (b) the definition thereof
and the District will execute and deliver such documents as the Trustee shall reasonably request prior to
such investment being effected. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, investments shall be
valued by the Trustee as frequently as reasonably deemed necessary, but not less often than annually, at
the market value thereof, exclusive of acerued interest. Deficiencies in the amount on deposit in any fund
or account resulting from a decline in market value shall be restored by the District no later than the
succeeding annual valuation date. The Trustee shall also value investments hereunder in connection with
the or prepayment of the Bonds as directed in a Written Request of the District.

Any interest, profit or other income on such investments will be deposited when received by the
Trustee in the Reserve Fund to the extent the amount available and contained therein is less than the
Reserve Requirement and thereafter in the Bond Payment Fund established hereunder.

Subject to the further provisions of Section 6.3 hereof, the Trustec may sell or present for
prepayment any obligations so purchased at the direction of the District whenever it shall be necessary in
order to provide moneys to meet any payment, and the Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any
loss resulting from such investment. The Trustee or an affiliate may act as principal or agent in the
acquisition or disposition of any investment and shall be entitled to its customary fee therefor. The
Trustee may commingle any of the funds or accounts established pursuant to this Agreement into a
separate fund or funds for investment purposes only; provided, however, that all funds or accounts held
by the Trustee hereunder shall be accounted for separately notwithstanding such commingling.

SECTION 5.4. REBATE FUND

(a) Establishment. The Trustee shall establish, when required, a separate account for the
Bonds designated the "Rebate Fund." Absent an opinion of Special Counsel that the exclusion from gross
income for federal income tax putposes of interest with respect to the Bonds will not be adversely
affected, the District shall cause to be deposited in the Rebate Fund such amounts as are required to be
deposited therein pursuant to this Section and the Tax Certificate. All money at any time deposited in the
Rebate Fund shali be held by the Trustee in trust for payment to the United States Treasury. All amounts
on deposit in the Rebate Fund for the Bonds shall be governed by this Section and the Tax Certificate for
the Bonds, unless and to the extent that the District delivers to the Trustee an opinion of Special Counsel
that the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest with respect to the Bonds
will not be adversely affected if such requirements are not satisfied. The Trustee shall be deemed
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conclusively to have complied with the provisions of this Section and the Tax Certificate if the Trustee
follows the directions of the District and the Trustee shall have no independent responsibility to or
liability resulting from failure of the Trustee to enforce compliance by the District with the Tax
Certificate or the provisions of this Section.

(b) Annual Computation. Within 55 days of the end of each Bond Year (as such term is
defined in the Tax Certificate), the District shall calculate or cause to be calculated the amount of
rebatable arbitrage, in accordance with Section 148{8(2) of the Code and Section 1.148-3 of the Treasury
Regulations (taking into account any applicable exceptions with respect to the computation of the
rebatable arbitrage, described, if applicable, in the Tax Cextificate (e.g., the temporary investments
exceptions of Section (B) and the construction expenditures exception of Section 148(£)(4)(C) of the
Code), and taking into account whether the election pursuant to Section 148(£)(4)(C)(vii) of the Code has
been made), for this purpose treating the last day of the applicable Bond Year as a computation date,
within the meaning of Section 1.148-I(b) of the Treasury Regulations (the "Rebatable Arbitrage"). The
District shall obtain expert advice as to the amount of the Rebatable Arbitrage to comply with this
Section.

{c) Annual Transfer. Within 55 days of the end of each Bond Year, upon the written Request
of the District, an amount shall be deposited to the Rebate Fund by the Trustee from any Revenues legally
available for such purpose (as specified by the Distriot in the aforesaid written Request), if and to the
oxtent required so that the balance in the Rebate Fund shall equal the amount of Rebatable Arbitrage so
calculated in accordance with (i) of this Subsection (a). In the event that immediately following the
transfer required by the previous sentence, the amount then on deposit to the credit of the Rebate Fund
exceeds the amount reyunired to be on deposit therein, upon written Request of the District, the Trustee
shall withdraw the excess from the Rebate Fund and then credit the excess to the Revenue Fund.

(@)  Payment to the Treasury. The Trustee shall pay, as directed by Request of the District, to
the United States Treasury, out of amounts in the Rebate Account,

(i) not later than 60 days after the end of (X) the fifth Bond Year, and (Y) each
applicable fifth Bond Year thereafter, an amount equal to at least 950% of the
Rebatable Arbitrage calculated as of the end of such Bond Year; and

(i) not later than 60 days after the payment of all the Bonds, an amount equal to
100% of the Rebatable Arbitrage calculated as of the end of such applicable Bond
Year, and any income atiributable to the Rcbatable Arbifrage, computed in
accordance with Section 148(0 of the Code and Section 1.148-3 of the Treasury
Regulations.

In the event that, prior to the time of any payment required to be made from the Rebate Fund, the amount
in the Rebate Fund is not sufficient to make such payment when such payment is due, the District shall
calculate or cause to be calculated the amount of such deficiency and deposit an amount received from
any legally available source equal to such deficiency prior to the time such payment is due. Each payment
required to be made pursuant to this Subsection (a) shall be made to the Internal Revenue Service Center,
Ogden, Utah 84201 on or before the date on which such payment is due, and shall be accompanied by
Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-T, or shall be made in such other manner as provided under the
Code.

(e) Disposition_of Unexpended Funds. Any funds remaining in the Rebate Fund afier
redemption and payment of the Bonds and the payments described in Subsection (a) above being made
may be withdrawn by the District and utilized in any manner by the District.
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() Survival of Defeasance. Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, the
obligation to comply with the requirements of this Section shall survive the defeasance or payment in full
of the Bonds.

ARTICLE VI
COVENANTS

SECTION 6.1. PERFORMANCE UNDER TRUST AGREEMENT

The District covenants and agrees with the Owners of the Bonds to perform all obligations and
duties imposed on them under the Trust Agreement and, together with the Trustee, to enforce such Trust
Agreement in accordance with its terms.

The District will in all respects promptly and faithfully keep, perform and comply with all the
terms, provisions, covenants, conditions and agreements of the Trust Agreement to be kept, performed
and complied with by it,

The District agrees not to do or permit anything to be done, or omit or refrain from doing
anything, in any case where any such act done or permitted to be done, or any such omission of or
refraining from action, would or might be a ground for cancellation or termination of the Trust
Agreement,

SECTION 6.2, RATE COVENANT

This Agreement will require the District to the fullest extent permitted by law, to fix, prescribe
and collect rates and charges for the Water Service provided by the Water System which will be at least
sufficient to yield during each Fiscal Year Water System Net Water Rovenues equal to one hundred
fifteen percent (115%) of Debt Service for such Fiscal Year allocable to the Bonds, including aty parity
obligations.

The District may make adjustments from time to time in such rates and charges and may make
such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the rates and charges then in effect
unless the Water System Net Water Revenues from such reduced rates and charges will at all times be
sufficient to meet the covenant described in the prior paragraph.

SECTION 6.3. BUDGETS

On or prior to the fifteenth day of each Fiscal Year, the District shall certify to the Trustee that the
amounts budgeted for payment of Water Revenue Payments from Water Revenues are fully adequate for
the payment of all Water Revenue Payments due under the Trust Agreement for such Fiscal Year. If the
amounts so budgeted are not adequate for the payment of Water Revenue Payments due under the Trust
Agreement, the District will take such action as may be necessary to cause such annual budget to be
amended, corrected or augmented so as to include therein the amounts required to be raised by the District
from Water Revenues in the then ensuing Fiscal Year for the payment of Water Revenue Payments due
under the Trust Agreement and will notify the Trustee of the proceedings then taken or proposed to be
taken by the District.

SECTION 6.4. TAX COVENANTS

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, absent an opinion of Special Counsel that
the exclusion from gross income of interest with respect to the Bonds wiil not be adversely affected for
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federal income tax purposes, the District covenants to comply with all applicable requirements of the
Code necessary to preserve such exclusion from gross income and specifically covenants, without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, as follows:

(a) Private Activity. The District will not take or omit to take any action or make any use of
the proceeds of the Bonds or of any other moneys or property which would cause the Bonds to be "private
activity bonds" within the meaning of Section 141 of the Code.

(b) Arbitrage. The District will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds or of any other
amounts or property, regardiess of the sounrce, or take or omit to take any action which would cause the
Bonds to be "atbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code.

(c) Federal Guarantee. The District will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds or take or
omit to take any action that would cause the Bonds to be "federally guaranteed" within the meaning of
Section 149(b) of the Code.

@ Information Reporting. The District will take or cause to be taken all necessary action to
comply with the informational reporting requirement of Section 149(e) of the Code.

(e) Hedge Bonds. The District will make no use of the proceeds of the Bonds or any other
amounts or property, regardless of the source, or take any action or refrain from taking any action that
would cause the Bonds to be considered "hedge bonds" within the meaning of Section 149(g) of the Code
unless the District takes all necessaty action to assure compliance with the requiremenis of Section 145{(g)
of the Code to maintain the exclusion from gross income of interest on the Bonds for federal income tax
purposes.

® Miscellaneous. The District will take no action, or omit to take any action, inconsistent
with its expectations stated in any Tax Certificate executed with respect to the Bonds and will comply
with the covenants and requirements stated therein and incorporated by reference herein.

This Section and the covenants set forth herein shall not be applicable to, and nothing contained
herein shall be deemed to prevent the District from executing and delivering, Bonds the interest with
respect to which has been determined by Special Counsel to be subject to federal income taxation.

SECTION 6.5. ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND REPORTS

The Trustee shall keep or cause to be kept proper books of record and account in which complete
and correct entries shall be made of all transactions made by it relating to the receipts, disbursements,
allocation and application of the Water Revenue Payments, and such books shall be available upon
reasonable prior notice for inspection by the District and by any Owner of Bonds, or his agent or
representative, at reasonable hours and under reasonable conditions. The Trustee shall furnish the District
monthly cash transaction statements which include detail for all receipts, disbursements, allocation and
application of amounts on deposit in the funds and accounts created hereunder and all investment
transactions effected by the Trustee or brokers selected by the District. Upon the District's election, such
statements will be delivered via the Trustee's online service and upon electing such service, paper
statements will be provided only upon request The District waives the right fo receive brokerage
confirmations of security transactions effected by the Trustee as they oceur, to the extent permitted by
law. The District forther understands that trade confirmations for securities fransactions effected by the
Trustee will be available upon request and at no additional cost and other frade confirmations may be
obtained from the applicable broker.
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SECTION 6.6, COMPLIANCE WITH TRUST AGREEMENT

The Trustee will not execute, or permit to be executed, any Bonds in any manner other than in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, and the District will not suffer or permit any default by
it to oceur under this Agreement, but will faithfully observe and perform all the covenants, conditions and
requirements hereof.

SECTION 6.7. OBSERVANCE OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the extent necessary to assure their performance hereunder, the District will well and truly
keep, observe and perform all valid and lawful obligations or regulations now or hereafter imposed on
them by contract, or prescribed by any law of the United States of America, or of the State, or by any
. officer, board or commission having jurisdiction or control, as a condition of the continued enjoyment of
any and every right, privilege or franchise now owned or hereafter acquired by the District, respectively,
including its right to exist and carry on its business, to the end that such contracts, rights and franchises
shall be maintained and preserved, and shall not become abandoned, forfeited or in any manner impaired.

SECTION 6.8. COMPLLANCE WITH CONTRACTS

The District shall comply with the terms, covenants and provisions, oxpress or implied, of all
contracts for the use of the 2021 Water Revenue Bonds by the District, and all other contracts and
agreements affecting or involving the 2021 Water Revenue Bonds to the extent that the District is a party
thereto.

SECTION 6.9. PROSECUTION AND DEFENSE OF SUITS

The District shall promptly, upon request of the Trustes or any Bond Owner, from time fo time
take such action as may be necessary ot proper to remedy or cure any defect in or cloud upon the title to
the Water System or any part thercof, whether now existing or hereafter developing, shall prosecute all
such suits, actions and other proceedings as may be apptopriate for stich purpose and shall indemnify and
save the Trustee (including all of its employees, officers and directors) and every Bond Owner harmless
from all loss, cost, damage and expense, including attorneys' fees; which they or any of them may incur
by reason of any such defect, cloud, suit, action or proceeding,

The District shall defend against every suit, action or proceeding at any time brought against the
Trustee (including all of its employees, officers and directors) upon any claim arising out of the receipt,
application or disbursement of any of the Water Revenue Payments or involving the rights of the Trustee
under this Agreement; provided that the Trustee at such party’s election may appear in and defend any
such suit, action or proceeding. The District shall indemnify and hold harmless the Trustee against any
and all liability claimed or asserted by any person, arising out of such receipt, application or
disbursement, and shall indemnify -and hold harmless the Trustee against any attorneys' fees or other
expenses which the Trustece may incur in copnection with any litigation (including pre-litigation
activities) to which it may become a party by reason of serving as Trustee under this Agreement. The
District shall promptly reimburse Trustee in the full amount of any aftorneys' fees or other expenses
which the Trustee may incur in litigation or otherwise in order to enforce such party's rights under this
Agreement or the Bonds, provided that such litigation shall be concluded favorably to such party's
contentions therein.
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SECTION 6.10. RECORDATION AND FILING

The Trustee, upon written direction of the District, shall record, register, file, renew, refile and
rerecord all such documents, including financing statements, as may be required by law in order to
maintain a security interest in this Agreement all in such manner, at such times and in such places as may
be required by, and to the extent permitted by, law in order fully to preserve, protect and perfect the
security of the Bond Owners and the rights and security interests of the Trustee. The Trustee, upon
written direction of the District, shall (subject to Section 8.5) do whatever else may be necessary or be
reasonably required in order to perfect and continue the lien of this Agreement.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary above, the Trustee shall have no duty or liability
whatsoever to monitor or notify any party with respect to the timeliness, sufficiency or validity of any
such recording, re-recording, filing, filing of continuation statements and the like with respect to. this
Agreement, it being expressly understood and agreed that the Trustee's duties under this Section shall be
exclusively limited to following the express written filing or recording instructions of the District, from
time to time with respect to the above described actions so long as the District shall supply said recording
or filing instruments.

SECTION 6.11. EMINENT DOMAIN

If all or any part of the project financed by the 2010 Certificates of Participation shall be taken by
eminent domain proceedings {or suld o a governmeni theeaiening v exercise the power of eminent
domain), the Net Proceeds therefrom shall be applied in the manner specified in Section 10.2(a) of this

Agreement .

SECTION 6.12. FURTHER ASSURANCES

Whenever and so often as tequested so to do by the Trustee or any Bond Owner, the District will
promptly execute and deliver or cause to be executed and delivered all such other and further instruments,
documents or assurances, and promptly do or cause to be done all such other and further things, as may be
necessary or reasohably required in order to further and more fully vest in the Trustee and the Bond
Owners all rights, interest, powers, benefits, privileges and advantages conferred or intended to be
conferted upon them by this Agreement. '

ARTICLE VII
THE ENTERPRISE; DEFAULT AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

SECTION 7.1. THE ENTERPRISE

"Enterprise” means any and all water facilities, properties and improvements at any time owned,
controlied or operated by the District for the distribution of water, including water treatment plants, water
mains, laterals, pumping stations, pipes, valves, machinery, and all other appurtenances necessary, useful
or convenient for the distribution of water, and any necessary lands, rights or way and other real or
personal property useful in connection therewith.

The Enterprise is estimated to have a value at least equal to the principal amount of the Bonds,
although no current independent appraisal of the Enterprise has been obtained. The Bonds are not secured
by the Enterprise and the Enterprise is not subject to sale, lease or other disposition in the event of defauit.
The Bonds are secured by the Net Water Revenues and the amounts in certain funds and accounts as
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described herein, The Water Revenue Payments are not subject to abatement in the event of loss of use or
enjoyment of the Enterprise or the Project.

SECTION 7.2. NOTICE OF NON-PAYMENT

In the event of delinquency in the payment of any Water Revenue Payments due by the District
pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Trustee shall, after one business day following the date upon which
such delinquent Installment Payment was due, as soon as practicable give written notice of the
delinquency and the amount of the delinquency to the District.

SECTION 7.3. EVENTS OF DEFAULT; ACTION ON DEFAULT OR TERMINATION

The following shall constitute “Event Of Default” hereunder:
(a) If payment of interest on the Bonds shall not be made when due; or
(b) If payment of any Water Revenue Payments shall not be made when due and payable; or

(¢} If the District shall fail to observe or perform in any material way any other agreement,
condition, covenant or term contained herein on its part.to be observed or performed, and
such failure shall continue for thirty (30) days after written notice specifying such failure and
requiring the same to be remedied shall have been given to the District by the Trustee or by
the Owners of not less than fifty per cent (50%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds,
provided, that if such default be such that it cannot be corrected within the applicable period,
it shall not constitute an Even of Default if corrective action is instituted by the District
within the applicable period and diligently pursued until the default is corrected.

TIf an Event of Default has occurred hereunder and is continuing, the Trustee, may, and, if
requested in writing by the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then
Outstanding the Trustee shall, (a) declare the principal of the Bonds, together with the accrued interest
thereon, to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such declaration the same shall become
immediately due and payable, anything in this Trust Agreement or in the Bonds to the contrary
notwithstanding, and (b) subject to the provisions of Article VII hereof, exercise any other remedies
available to the Trustee and the Bond owners in law or at equity.

Upon declaration of the entire principal amount of the unpaid Water Revenue Payments and the
accrued interest thereon to be due and payable immediately and provided such declaration is not
rescinded or annulled, all in accordance with this Agreement, the Trustee shall apply all moneys received
as Water Revenue Payments and all moneys held in any fund or account hereunder (except the Rebate
Fund) to the payment of the entire principal amount of the Bonds and the accrued interest with respect
thereto, with interest on the overdue Bonds at the rate or rates of interest or yields-to-maturity applicable
to the Bonds if paid in accordance with their terms.

All amounts received by the Trustee pursuant to any right given or action taken by the Trustee
under the provisions of this Trust Agreement and all sums in the funds and accounts established and held
by the Trustee hereunder upon the date of the declaration of acceleration as provided herein, and all sums
thereafter received by the Trustee hereunder, shall be applied by the Trustee in the following order upon
presentation of the Bonds, and the stamping thereon of the payment if only pattially paid, or upon the
surrender thereof if fully paid:
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First, to the payment of the fees, costs and expenses of the Trustee in declaring such Event of
Default and in exercising the rights and remedies set forth herein, including reasonable compensation to
its agonts, attorneys (including the allocated costs and disbursements of its in-house counsel to the extent
such services are not redundant with those provided by outside counsel) and counsel and any outstanding
fees and expenses of the Trustee; and

Second, to the payment of the whole amount then owing and unpaid upon the Bonds for principal
and interest, as applicable, with interest on the overdue principal, and installments of interest at the net
effective rate then borne by the Outstanding Bonds (to the extent that such interest on overdue
instaliments of principal and intcrest shall have been collected), and in case such moneys shall be
insufficient to pay in full the whole amount so owing and unpaid upon the Bonds, then to the payment of
such principal and interest without preference or priority, ratably to the aggregate of such principal and
interest.

SECTION 7.4, OTHER REMEDIES OF THE TRUSTEE

The Trustee may

(a) by mandamus or other action or proceeding or suit at law or in equity to enforce its rights
against the District or any board member, officer or employee thereof, and to compel the District or any
such board member, officer or employee to perform or carry out its or his duties under law and the
agreements and covenants required to be performed by it or him contained herein;

(b) by suit in equity to enjoin any acts or things which are unlawful or violate the rights of
the Trustes; or

(©) by suit in equity upon the happening of any default hereunder to require the District and
its directors, officers and employees to account as the trustee of an express trust.

SECTION 7.5. NON-WAIVER

A waiver of any default or breach of duty or contract by the Trustee shall not affect any
subsequent default or breach of duty or contract or impair any rights or remedies on any such subsequent
default or breach of duty or contract. No delay or omission by the Trustee to exercise any right or remedy
accruing upon any default or breach of duty or contract shafl impair any such right or remedy or shall be
construed to be a waiver of any such default or breach of duty or contract or an acquiescence therein, and
every right or remedy conferred upon the Trustee by law or by this Article may be enforced and exercised
from time to time and as offen as shall be deemed expedient by the Trustee.

If any action, proceeding or suit to enforce any right or to exercise any remedy is abandoned, the
Trustee and the District shall be restored to their former positions, rights and remedies as if such action,
proceeding or suit had not been brought or taken.

SECTION 7.6. REMEDIES NOT EXCLUSIVE

No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee is intended to be exclusive of any
other remedy, and each such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy
given hereunder or now or hereafier existing in law or in equity or by statute or otherwise and may be
exercised without exhausting and without regard to any other remedy conferred by any law.

SECTION 7.7. NO OBLIGATION BY THE DISTRICT TO OWNERS
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Except for the payment of Water Revenue Payments when due in accordance with this
Agreement and the performance of the other covenants and agreements of the District contained in this
Agreement and herein, the District shall have no obligation or liability to the Owners of the Bonds with
respeet to this Agreement or the execution, delivery or transfer of the Bonds, or the disbursement of
Water Revenue Payments to the Owners by the Trustee; provided however that nothing contained in this
Section shall affect the rights, duties or obligations of the Trustee expressly set forth herein.

SECTION 7.8. TRUSTEE APPOINTED AGENT FOR BOND OWNERS; DIRECTION OF
PROCEEDINGS

The Trustee is hereby appointed the agent and attorney of the Owners of all Bonds outstanding
hereunder for the purpose of filing any claims relating to the Bonds. The Owners of a majority in
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding hereunder shall, upon tender to the Trustee of
reasonable indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in compliance with such
direction, have the right to direct the method and place of conducting all remedial proceedings by the
Trustee, provided such direction shall be in accordance with law and the provisions of this Trust
Agreement and that the Trustee shall have the right to decline to follow any such direction which in the
opinion of the Trustee. would be unjustly prejudicial to Bond-Owners not parties to such a direction.

SECTION 7.9. POWER OF TRUSTEE TO CONTROL PROCEEDINGS

In the event that the Trustee, upon the happening of an Event of Default, shall have taken any
action, by judicial proceedings or otherwise, pursuant to its duties hereunder, whether upon its own
discretion or upon the request of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds
then outstanding pursuant to Section 7.7 hereo, it shall have full power, in the exercise of its discretion
for the best interests of the Owners of the Bonds, with respect to the continuance, discontinuance,
withdrawal, compromise, settlement or other disposal of such action; provided, however, that the Trustee
shall not, unless there no longer continues an Event of Default hereunder, discontinue, withdraw,
compromise or settle, or otherwise dispose of, any litigation pending at law or in equity, if at the time
there has been filed with it a written request signed by the Owners of at least a majority in principal
amount of the Bonds Outstanding heteunder opposing such discontinuance, withdrawal, compromise,
settlement or other disposal of such litigation.

SECTION 7.10. LIMITATION ON BOND OWNERS' RIGHT TO SUE

No Owner of any Bond executed and delivered hereunder shall have the right to institute any suit,
action or proceeding at law or in equity, for any remedy under or upon this Agreement, unless (a) such
Owner shall have previously given to the Trustee written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default
hereunder; (b) the Owners of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of all the Bonds then
Qutstanding shall have made written request upon the Trustee to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted
or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name; (c) said Owners shail have tendered to the
Trostee reasonable indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in compliance with
such request; and (d) the Trustee shall have refused or omitted to comply with such request for a period of
sixty (60) days after such written request shall bave been received by, and said tender of indemnity shall
have been made to, the Trustee.

Such notification, request, tender or indemnity and refusal or omission are hereby declared, in
every case, to be conditions precedent to the exercise by any Owner of Bonds of any remedy hereunder; it
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being understood and intended that no one or more Owners of Bonds shall have any right in any manner
whatever by his or their action to enforce any right under this Agreement, except in the manner herein
provided, and that all proceedings at law or in equity to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall be
instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein provided and for the equal benefit of all owners of the
Outstanding Bonds. :

The right of any Owner of any Bond to receive payment of the principal of (and premium, if any)
and interest with respect to such Bond, as herein provided, on and after the respective due dates expressed
in such Bond, or to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective
dates, shall not be impaired or affected without the consent of such Owner, notwithstanding the foregoing
provisions of this Section or Section 7.10 or any other provision of this Agreement.

" SECTION 7.11. NO OBLIGATION WITH RESPECT TO PERFORMANCE BY TRUSTER

The District shall not have any obligation or liability to any of the Owners of the Bonds with

" "respect to the performance by the Trustee of any duty imposed upon it under this Agreement.

SECTION 7.12. NO LIABILITY TO OWNERS FOR PAYMENT

Except as provided in this Agreement, the Trustee shall not have any obligation or liability to the
Owners of the Bonds with respect to the payment of the Water Revenue Payments by the District when
due, or with respect to the performance by the District of any other covenant made by it in the this
Agreement or herein.

SECTION 7.13. NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR SUFFICIENCY

The Trustee shall not be responsible for the sufficiency of this Agreement to receive Water
Revenue Payments pursuant to the Trust Agreement, The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for
selection or liquidation of investments or any loss suffered in connection with any investment of funds
made by it under the terms of and in accordance with this Agreement.

SECTION 7.14. INDEMNIFICATION OF TRUSTEE

The District shall to the extent permitted by law, indemmify the Trustee (including all of its
employees, officers and directors) and hold it harmless against any loss, liability, expenses or advances,
including but not limited to fees and expenses of counsel and other experts, incurred or made without
negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Trustes, (i) in the exercise and performance of any of
the powers and duties hereunder by the Trustee or (ii) arising out of or relating to any untroe statement or
alleged untrue statement of any material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading in any official statement or other offering circular utilized in connection with the sale of the
Bonds, including the costs and expenses of defending itself against any claim of Hability arising under
this Agreement. Such indemnity shall survive payment of the Bonds and discharge of this Agreement or
resignation or removal of the Trustee.

ARTICLE VIIT
THE TRUSTEE

SECTION 8.1, EMPLOYMENT OF TRUSTEE

In consideration of the recitals hereinabove set forth and for other valuable consideration, the
District hereby agrees to employ the Trustee to receive, hold, invest and disburse the moneys received
pursuant to This Agreement for credit to the various funds and accounts established by this Agreement; to
execute, deliver and transfer the Bonds; and to apply and disburse the Water Revenue Payments received -
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from the District to the Owners of Bonds; and to perform certain other functions; all as herein provided

and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
SECTION 8.2. ACCEPTANCE OF EMPLOYMENT

In consideration of the compensation herein provided for, the Trustee accepts the employment
above referred to subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

SECTION 8.3. TRUSTEE: DUTIES, REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION

By executing and delivering this Agreement, the Trustee accepls the duties and obligations of the
Trustee provided in this Agreement, but only upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

The District may, by written request to the Trustee, remove the Trustee and appoint a successor
Trustee; provided, however, that if the District is in default under this Agresment the Owners of a
majority in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds Outstanding may, by written request to the Trustee,
temove the Trustee and appoint a successor Trustee. Any such successor shall be a bank or trust company
doing business and having a corporate trust office in California, which has (or the parent holding
company of which has) a combined capital (exclusive of borrowed capital) and surplus of at least

million dollars ($ ) and subject to supervision or examination by fedetal or state
authorities. If such bank or trust company publishes a report of condition at least annually, pursuant to
law or to the requirements of any supervising or examining authority above referred to, then for the
purposes of this Section the combined capital and surplus of such bank or trust company shall be deemed
to be its combined capital and surplus as set forth in its most recent ropost of condition so published.

The Trustee may at any time resign by giving written notice to the District and by giving to the
Bond Owners notice of such resignation by mail at the addresses shown on the registration books
maintained by the Trustee. Upon receiving such notice of resignation, the District shall promptly appoint
a successor Trustee by an instrument in writing; provided, however, that in the event that the District does
not appoint a successor Trustee within thirty (30) days following receipt of such notice of resignation, the
resigning Trustee may at the expense of the District petition the appropriate court having jurisdiction to
appoint a successor Trustee. Any resignation or removal of the Trustee and appointment of a successor
Trustee shall become effective upon written acceptance of appointment by the successor Trustee.

SECTION 8.4, COMPENSATION OF THE TRUSTEE

The District shall from time to time, subject to any agreement in effect with the Trustes, pay to
the Trustee reasonable compensation for its services and shall reimburse the Trustee (including all of its
employees, officers and directors) for all its advances and expenditures, including but not limited to
advances to and fees and expenses of independent appraisers, accountants, consultants, counsel, agents
and attorneysat-law or other experts employed by it in the exercise and performance of its powers and
duties hereunder. Such compensation and reimbursement shall be paid by the District; provided, however,
that the Trustee shall not otherwise have any claims, except in accordance with Section 7.13 hereof or lien
for payment of compensation for its services against any other moneys held by it in the funds or accounts
established hereunder but may take whatever legal actions are lawfully available to it directly against the
District. The obligations of the District under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the
Trustee and payment of the Bonds and discharge of this Agrecment.

SECTION 8.5. PROTECTION OF THE TRUSTEE

The Trustee shall be protected and shall incur no liability whatsoever in acting or refraining from
acting or proceeding in good faith upon any resolution, notice, telegram, request, consent, waiver, Bond,
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statement, affidavit, voucher, bond, requisition or other paper or document which it shall in good faith
believe to be genuine and to have been adopted, executed or delivered by the proper party or pursuant to
any of the provisions of this Agresment, and the Trustee shall be under no duty to make any investigation
or inquiry as to any statements contained or matters referred to in any such instrument, but may accept
and rely upon the same as conclusive evidence of the truth and accuracy of such statements. The Trustee
shall not be bound to recognize any person as an Owner of any Bond or to take any action at the request
of any such person unless such Bond shall be deposited with the Trustee or satisfactory evidence of the
ownership of such Bond shall be furnished to the Trustee. The Trustee may consult with counsel, who
may be counsel to the District, with regard to legal questions, and the opinion of such counsel shall be full
and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or suffered by it hereunder in
good faith in accordance therewith.

Whenever in the administration of its duties under this Apreement, the Trustee shall deem it
necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or suffering any action
hereunder, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed) shall be
deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a certificate of the District and such Bond shall be
full warranty to the Trustee for any action taken or suffered under the provisions of this Agreement upon
the faith thereof, but in its discretion the Trustee may (but shall have no duty), in lieu thereof, accept other
evidence of such matter or may require such additional evidence as to it may seem reasonable.

The Trustee may buy, sell, own, hold and deal in any of the Bonds provided pursuant to this
Agreement, and may join in any action which any Owner may be entitled to take with like affect as if the
Trustee were not a party to this Agreement. The Trustes, either as principal or agent, may also engage in
or be interested in any financial or other transaction with the District, and may act as depository, trustee,
or agent for any committee or body of Owners of Bonds or of obligations of the District as freely as if it
were not Trustee hereunder.

The Trustee may, to the extent reasonably necessary, exccute any of the trusts or powers hereof
and perform the dutics required of it hereunder by or through attorneys, agents, or receivers, and shall be
entitled to advice of counsel concerning all matters of trust and its duties hereunder, and the Trustee shall
not be answerable for the default or misconduct of any such attorney, agent or receiver selected by it with
reasonable care. The Trustee shall not be answerable for the exercise of any discretion or power under this
Agreement ot in the performance of its duties hereunder or for anything whatever in connection with the
funds and accounts established hereunder, except only for its own willful misconduct or negligence.

The recitals, statements and representations by the District contained in this Agreement or in the
Bonds shall be taken and construed as made by and on the part of the District and not by the Trustee and
the Trustee does not assume, and shall not have, any responsibility or obligations for the correctness of
any thereof,

The Trustee undertakes to perform such duties, and only such duties as are specifically set forth
in this Agreement and no implied duties or obligations shall be read into this Agreement against the
Trustee,

No provision in this Agreement shall require the Trustee to xisk or expend its own funds or
otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder if it shall have
reasonable grounds for believing that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or
liability is not assured to it,

In accepting the trost hereby created, the Trustee acts solely as Trustee for the Owners and not in
its individual capacity and all persons, including without limitation the Owners and the District having

- any claim against the Trustee arising from this Agreement shall look only to the funds and accounts held
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by the Trustee hereunder for payment except as otherwise provided herein. Under no circumstances shail
the Trustee be fiable in its individual capacity for the obligations evidenced by the Bonds.,

The Trustee shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any Event of Default hereunder or under
this Agreement unless and until it shall have actual knowledge thereof or have received notice thereof at
its corporate trust office at the address set forth in Section 11.11 hereof. The Trustee shall, during the
existence of any Event of Default (which has not been cured) use the same degree of care and skill in their
oxetcise, as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his/her own
affairs.

The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use or application by the District, or any other party
of any funds which the Trustee has released in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

The Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers vested in the
Trustee by this Agreement at the request, order or direction of any of the Owners pursuant to the
provisions of this Agreement unless such Owners shall have offered to the Trustee reasonable security or
indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities which may be incurred therein or thereby.

SECTION 8.6. MERGER OR CONSOLIDATION

Any company into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be
consolidated or any company resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which it shall be
a party or any company to which the Trustee may sell or transfer all or substantially all of its corporate
trust business (provided such company is eligible under Section 8.3 hereof), shall be the successor to the
Trustee without the execution or filing of any paper or further act, anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding.

ARTICLE IX
AMENDMENT OF TRUST AGREEMENT

SECTION 9.1. AMENDMENTS PERMITTED

a) This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the District and of the Owners of the
Bonds and of the Trustee may be modified or amended at any time by an amendment hereto which shall
become binding when the written consents of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of
the Bonds then Outstanding, exclusive of Bonds disqualified as provided in Section 11.4 hereof, shall
have been filed, provided, however, that no such modification or amendment shall (1) extend the stated
maturities of the Bonds, or reduce the rate of interest or yields-to-maturity, as the case may be,
represented thereby, or extend the time of payment of interest, or reduce the amount of principal
represented thereby, or reduce any premium payable on the prepayment thereof, without the consent of
the Owner of each Bond so affected, or (2) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Owners of Bonds whose
consent is required for the execution of any amendment or modification of this Agreement, or (3) modify
any of the rights or obligations of the Trustee or without its written consent thercto.

b) This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the District and of the (Yywuers of the
Bonds may also be modified or amended at any time by an amendment hereto which shall become
binding upon adoption, without the consent of the Owners of any Bonds, but only to the extent permitted
by law and only for any one or more of the following purposes:

@) to add to the covenants and agreements of the District contained in this
Agreement other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed or to surrender any
right or power herein reserved to or conferred upon the District, and which shall not
adversely affect the interests of the Owners of the Bonds;
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(ii) {o cure, correct or supplement any ambiguous or defective provision contained in
this Agreement or in regard to questions arising under this Agreement, as the District
may deem necessary or desirable and which shall not adversely affect the interests of the
Owners of the Bonds; and :

(iii)  subject to the Trustee's judgment, to make such other amendmenis or
modifications as may be in the best interests of the Owners of the Bonds.

SECTION 9.2. ENDORSEMENT OR REPLACEMENT OF BONDS AFTER AMENDMENT OR
SUPPLEMENT

After the effective date of any action taken as hereinabove provided, the Trustee may determine
that the Bonds may bear a notation by endotsement in form approved by the Trustee as to such action, and
in that case upon demand of the Trustee fo the Owner of any Outstanding Bond and presentation of such
Owner's Certificate for such purpose at the principal corporate frust office of the Trustee a suitable
notation as to such action shall be made on such Owners Certificate. If the Trustee shall so determine,
new Bonds so modified as in the opinion of the Trustee shall be necessary to conform to such action shail
be prepared, and in that case upon demand of the Trustee to the Owner of any Outstanding Bonds such
new Bonds shall be exchanged at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee without cost to each
Owner for Bonds then Outstanding upon surrender of such Outstanding Bonds.

SECTION 9.3. AMENDMENT OF PARTICULAR BONDS

The provisions of this Article shall not prevent any Owner froth accepting any amendments to the
particular Bonds held by him, provided that due notation thereof is made on such Bonds.

ARTICLE X
DEFEASANCE

SECTION 10.1. DISCHARGE OF TRUST AGREEMENT

When the obligations of the District under this Agreement shall cease pursuant to Article X of the
Trust Agreement (except for the right of the Trustee and the obligation of the District to have the money
and Permitted Investments mentioned therein applied to the payment of Water Revenue Payments as
therein sct forth and the obligation to apply moneys on deposit in the Rebate Fund as provided in Section
5.6 herein), then and in that case the obligations created by this Agreement shall thereupon cease,
terminate and become void except for the obligation of the District to direct the Trustee to apply money
on deposit in the Rebate Fund as provided herein which shall continue until such moneys are so applied
and the right of the Owners to have applied and the obligation of the Trustee to apply such moneys and
Permitted Investments to the payment of the Bonds as herein set forth, and subject to application of
moneys on deposit in the Rebate Fund as provided in Section 5.6, the Trustee shall turn over to the
District, after provision for payment of amounts due the Trustee hereunder, as an overpayment of Water
Revenue Payments, any surplus in the Bond Payment Fund and all balances remaining in any other funds
or accounts other than moneys and Permitted Investments held for the payment of the Bonds at maturity
or on prepayment, which moneys and Permitted Investments shall continue to be held by the Trustee in
trust for the benefit of the Owners and shall be applied by the Trustee to the payment, when due, of the
principal or interest and premium, if any, represented by the Bonds, and after such payment, this
Agreement shall become void.

If moneys or securities described in clause (a) of the definition of Permitted Investments are
deposited with and held by the Trustee as hereinabove provided, the Trustee shall within thirty (30) days
after such moneys or Permitted Investments shall have been deposited with it, mail a notice, first class
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postage prepaid, to the Owners at the addresses listed on the registration books kept by the Trustee
pursuant to Section 2.8, setting forth (a) the date fixed for prepayment of the Bonds, (b) a description of
the moneys or securities described in clause (a) of the definition of Permitted Investments so held by it,
and (c) that this Agreement has been released in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

SECTION 10.2. DEPOSIT OF MONEY OR SECURITIES WITH TRUSTEE

Whenever in this Agreement it is provided or permitted that there be deposited with or held in
trust by the Trustee money or securities in the necessary amount to pay or prepay any Bonds, the money
or securities to be so deposited or held may include money or securitics held by the Trustee in the funds
and accounts established pursuant to this Agreement and shall be —

(a) lawful money of the United States of America in an amount equal to the principal amount
represented by such Bonds and all unpaid interest represented thereby to maturity, except that, in the case
of Bonds which ate to be prepaid prior to maturity and in respect of which notice of such prepayment
shall have been given as in Article IV provided or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been
made for the giving of such notice; the amount to be deposited or held shall be the principal amount or
Prepayment Price and all unpaid interest to such date of prepayment if any, represented by such Bonds; or

(b) non-callable securities described in clause (a) of the definition of Permitted Investmonts
which will provide money sufficient to pay the principal at maturity or upon prepayment plus all accerued
interest to maturity or to the prepayment date, as the case may be, represented by the Bonds to be paid or
prepaid, as such amounts become due, plus premium, if any, provided that, in the case of Bonds which are
to be prepaid prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such prepayment shall have been given as in Aracle
IV provided or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made for the giving of such notice;
provided, in each case, that the Trustee shall have been irrevocably instructed {by the terms of this
Agreement or by Written Request of the District) to apply such money or securities to the payment of
such principal or Prepayment Price and interest represented by such Bonds.

SECTION 10.3. UNCLAIMED MONEYS

Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any moneys held by the Trustee in
trust for the payment and discharge of the inferest, principal or Prepayment Price represented by any of
the Bonds which remain unclaimed for two years after the date of deposit of such moneys if deposited
with the Trustee after the date when the interest, principal or Prepayment Price represented by such Bonds
have become payable, shall at the Written Request of the District be repaid by the Trustee to the District
as its absolute property free from trust, and the Trustee shall thereupon be released and discharged with
respect thereto and the Owners shall look only to the District for the payment of the interest and principal
or Prepayment Price represented by much Bonds; provided, however, that before being required to make
any such payment to the District, the Trustee shall, at the written request and expense of the District, first
mail a notice to the owners of the Bonds so payable that such moneys remain unclaimed and that after a
date named in such notice, which date shall not be less than thirty (30) days after the date of the mailing
of such notice, the balance of such moneys then unclaimed will be returned to the District.

ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 11.1. BENEFITS OF TRUST AGREEMENT LIMITED TO PARTIES

Nothing contained herein, expressed or implied, is intended to give to any person other than the
District, the Trustee and the Owners any claim, remedy or right under or pursuant bereto, and any
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agreement, condition, covenant or term required herein to be observed or performed by or on behalf of the
District shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Trustee and the Owners.

SECTION 11.2. SUCCESSOR DEEMED INCLUDED IN ALL REFERENCES TO PREDECESSOR

‘Whenever either the District or the Trustee or any officer thereof is named or referred fo herein,
such reference shall be deemed fo include the successor to the powers, duties and functions that are
presently vested in the District or the Trustee or such officer, and all agreements, conditions, covenants
and terms required hereby to be obsetved or performed by or on behalf of the District or the Trustee or
any officer thereof shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors thercof whether so
expressed or not.

SECTION 11.3. EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS BY OWNERS

Any declaration, request or other instrument which is permitted or required herein to be executed
by Owners may be in one or more instruments of similar tenor and may be executed by Owners in person
or by their attorneys appointed in writing. The fact and date of the execution by any Owner or such
Owner's, attorney of any declaration, request or other instrument or of any writing appointing such
attorney may be proved by the Bond of any notary public or other officer authorized to take
acknowledgments of deeds to be recorded in the state or tertitory in which he purports to act that the
person signing such declaration, request or other instrument or writing acknowledged to him the
execution thereof, or by an affidavit of a witness of such execution duly sworn to before such notary
public or other officer, or by such other proof as the Trustee may accept which it may deem sufficient.

The ownership of any Bonds and the amount, payment date, number and date of owning the same
may be proved by the books required to be kept by the Trustee pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.8.

Any declaration, request or other instrument in writing of the Owner of any Bond shall bind all
fature Owners of such Bond with respect to anything done or suffered to be done by the District or the
Trustee in good faith and in accordance therewith,

SECTION 11.4. DISQUALIFIED BONDS

Bonds owned or held by or for the account of the District (but excluding Bonds held in any
pension or retirement fund) shall not be deemed Outstanding for the putpose of any consent or other
action or any calculation of Outstanding Bonds provided for in this Agreement, and shall not be entitled
to consent to ot take any other action provided for in this Agreement.

The Trustee may adopt appropriate regulations to require each Owner of Bonds, before his
consent provided for in this Agreement shall be deemed effective, to reveal if the Bonds as to which such
consent is given are disqualified as provided in this Section.

SECTION 11.5. WAIVER OF PERSONAL LIABILITY

No director, officer or employee of the District shall be individually or personally liable for the
payment of the interest, principal or the prepayment premiums, if any, represented by the Bonds, but
nothing contained herein shall relieve any director, officer or employee of the District or from the
performance of any official duty provided by any applicable provisions of law or by this Agreement.

SECTION 11.6. ACQUISITION OF BONDS BY THY, DISTRICT; DESTRUCTION OF BONDS.

All Bonds acquired by the District, whether by purchase or gift or otherwise shall be surrendered
to the Trustee for cancellation. Whenever in this Agreement provision is made for the cancellation by the
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Trustee of any Bonds, the Trustee shall destroy such Bonds and upon written request deliver a Certificate
of such destruction to the District,

SECTION 11.7. HEADINGS

Headings preceding the text of the several Articles and Sections hereof, and the table of contents,
are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement or affect its
meaning, construction or effect.

All references herein to "Articles," "Sections" and other subdivisions are to the corresponding
Articles, Sections or subdivisions of this Agreement; and the words “herein," "hereof," "hereunder” and
other words of similar import refer to this Agresment as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section
or subdivision hereof.

SECTION 11.8. FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS

Any fund required by this Agreement to be established and mainfained by the Trustee may be
established and maintained in the accounting records of the Trustee either as a fund or an account, and
may, for the purposes of such records, any audits thereof and any reports or statements with respect
thereto, be treated either as a fund or as an account; but all such records with respect to all such funds
shall at all times be maintained in accordance with sound industry practices and with due regard for the
protection of the security of the Bonds and the rights of every Owner thereof.

SECTION 11.9. PARTIAL INVALIDITY

If any one or more of the agreements, conditions, covepants or terms required herein to be
observed or performed by or on the part of the District or the Trustee shall be contrary to law, then such
agreement or agreements, such condition or conditions, such covenant or covenants or such term or terms
shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining agreements, conditions,
covenants and terms hereof and shall in no way affect the validity hereof or of the Bonds, and the Owners
shall retain all the benefit, protection and security afforded to them under any applicable provisions of
law. The District and the Trustee hereby declare that they would have executed this Agreement, and each
and every other article, section, paragraph, subdivision, sentence, clause and phrase hereof and would
have authorized the execution and delivery of the Bonds pursuant hereto irrespective of the fact that any
one or more arlicles, sections, paragraphs, subdivisions, sentences, clauses or phrases hereof or the
application thereof to any person or circumstances may be held to be unconstitutional, unenforceable or
invalid.

SECTION 11.10. CALIFORNIA LAW

This agreement shall be construed and governed in accordance with the laws of the state of

California.
SECTION 11.11. NOTICES
All written notices to be given under this Agreement to the parties hereto shall be given by mail,

facsimile transmission or personal delivery to the patty entitled thereto at its address set forth below, or at
such address as the party may provide fo the other parties in writing from time to time.
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If to the District: Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District
136 San Juan Road
Watsonville, CA 95076
Attention: General Manager
Facsimile: §31-722-2137
If to the Trustee: U.S. Bank Global Corporate Trust
1 California Street, Suite 1000
San Francisco, CA 24111
(415) 677-3781
Email; '

SECTION 11.12. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original, and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument,

SECTION 11.13. BUSINESS DAY

When any action is provided for herein to be done on a day named or within a specified time
period, and the day or the last day of the period falls on a day other than a Business Day, such action may
ba performed on the next ensning Bnsiness Day with the same effect as though performed on the
appointed day or within the specified period with no interest accruing for the period after such nominal
date.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF*, the parties have executed and atfested this Agreement by their
officers hereunto duly authorized as of the date and year first written above.

U.S. BANK GLOBAL CORPORATE TRUST, as Trustee

By:

Authorized Officer

PATARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

By:

President

ATTEST:

Secretary
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EXHIBIT A
FORM OF BOND

United States of America
State of California
County of Monterey
Registered
Number R- werg  0QFFF

PAJAROQ/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
2021 WATER REVENUE BOND
Evidencing an Interest of the Owner Hereof in Water
Revenue Water Revenue Payments to be Made by the
PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

INTEREST RATE: BOND PAYMENT DATE DATED DATE CUSIP

REGISTERED OWNER: CEDE & CO.

PRINCIPAL. AMOUNT: DOLLARS
{(Bank Qualified)

THIS IS TO CERTIFY that the Registered Owner (specified above) of this 2021 Water
Revenue Bond (herein called the "Bond") is the owner of an undivided interest in the right to receive
certain Water Revenue Payments (as that term is defined in the Trust Agreement hereinafter
mentioned) under the Trust Agreement (the "Trust Agreement"), dated as of 1, 2021, by and
between U.S. Bank Global Corporate Trust, (the "Trustee") and the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community
Services Distriot (the "District"). The Water Revenue Payments to be made thereunder will be paid to
U.S. Bank Global Corporate Trust, as frustee (the "Trustee"), having a corporate trust office in Los
Angeles, California. The Trustee has authenticated and delivered §__ aggregate principal amount
of Bonds.

The Registered Owner of this Bond is entitled to receive, subject to the terms of the Trust
Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2021, by and between the Trustee and the District (the "Trust
Agreement") on the Bond Payment Date (specified above) the Principal Amount (specified above)
representing a portion of the Water Revenue Payments designated as principal coming due on the
Bond Payment Date, and to receive an interest component on such principal component at the
interest rate per annum specified above, from the Interest Payment Date (as hereinafier defined)
preceding the date of execution hereof by the Trustee, unless such date of execution is after a Record
Date (as hereinafter defined) and on or before the succeeding Interest Payment Date, in which case
interest shall be payable from such Interest Payment Date, or unless such date of execution is on or
before the first Record Date, in which case interest shall be payable from the Dated Date; provided,
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however, that if, as shown by the records of the Trustee, interest represented by this Bond is in
default, Bonds executed in exchange for this Bond surrendered for transfer or exchange shall
represent interest from the last date to which interest has been paid in full or duly provided for with
respect to this Bond, or, if no interest has been paid or duly provided for with respect to this Bond,
from the Dated Date.

Interest with respect to this Bond shail be paid on 1 and 1 in each year,
commencing 1, 2021 (each, an "Interest Payment Date"), and continning to and
including the Bond Payment Date or the date of prior prepayment hereof, whichever is earlier.
Interest with respect to this Bond shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day
months. The principal with respect hereto and prepayment premiums, if any, are payable in lawful
money of the United States of Ametica upon presentation and surrender at the principal corporate
trust office of the Trustee in Los Angeles, California or such other office as the Trustee may from
time to time designate in writing to the District and the registered owners (the "Principal Corporate
Trust Office"). Interest with respect hereto is payable by check or draft of the Trustee mailed by first
class mail on each Interest Payment Date to the Registered Owner hereof as of the close of business
on the fifteenth day of the calendar month prior to such Interest Payment Date (the "Record Dates")
at the address shown on the books maintained by the Trustee or, upon the written request received
by the Trustee of an Owner of at least $1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Bonds, by wire
transfer of immediately available funds to an account in the United States designated by such Owner
prior to the applicable Record Date, except, in each case that, if and to the extent that there is a
defauli in the payment of the interest due on such Intcrcst Payment Date, such defaulted interest
shall be paid to the owner in whose name this Bond is registered at the close of business on a special
record date as determined by the Trustee,

The Bond has been executed by the District pursuant to the terms of the Trust Agreement.
Copies of the Trust Agreement are on file at the corporate trust office of the Trusice in Los Angeles,
California, and reference is made to the Trust Agreement and any and all amendments thereto for a
description of the pledges and covenants securing the Bonds, the nature, extent and manner of
enforcement of such pledges, the rights and remedies of the registered owners of the Bonds with
respect thereto and the other terms and conditions upon which the Bonds are delivered thereunder.

The Bonds are payable from Water Revenue Payments payable by the District and other
amounts on deposit in certain funds and accounts held under the Trust Agreement, including but not
limited to the Reserve Fund, all in accordance therewith. All Revenues and all amounts on deposit in
the Revenue Fund (as such terms are defined in the Trust Agreement) are irrevocably pledged to the
payment of the Water Revenue Payments and the Revenues shall not be used for any other purpose
while any of the Water Revenue Payments remain unpaid; provided that out of Revenues there may
be apportioned such sums for such purposes as are expressly permitted in the Trust Agreement This
pledge, together with all other Contracts and Bonds (as such terms are defined in the Trust
Agreement) constitutes a lien on Revenues, subject to application of Revenues and all amounts on
deposit in the Revenue Fund as permitted in the Trust Agreement, and the Revenue Fund for the
payment of the Water Revenue Payments and all other Contracts and Bonds in accordance with the
terms of the Trust Agreement. The obligation of the District to make Water Revenue Payments is a
special obligation of the District payable solely from Net Revenues (as defined in the Trust
Agreement) and other funds described therein and does not constitute a debt of the District or of the
State of California or of any political subdivision thereof in contravention of any constitutional or
statutory debt limitation or restriction. The District may at any time execute any Contract, the Water
Revenue Payments under which, or issue any Bonds (as such terms are defined in the Trust
Agreement), the payments of which are on a parity with the Water Revenue Payments and which are
secured by a pledge of and lien on the Revenues in accordance with the Trust Agreement.
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The Bonds are authorized to be executed and delivered in the form of fully registered Bonds
in the denomination of $5,000 each or any integral multiple thereof; provided that no Bond shall
have principal represented thereby maturing in more than one year, Subject to the limitations and
conditions and upon payment of the taxes and governmental charges provided in the Trust
Agrecment, Bonds may be exchanged for a like aggrogate principal amount of Bonds of the same
Bond Payment Date of other authorized denominations at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the
Trustee.

This Bond is transferable by the Registered Owner hereof, in person or by such person’s duly
authorized attorney, but only in the manner, subject to the limitations and conditions and upon
payment of the taxes and governmental charges provided in the Trust Agreement, and upon
surrender of this Bond for cancellation at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee,
accompanied by delivery of a duly executed written instrument of transfer, in a form approved by the
Trustee. Upon such transfer a new Bond or Bonds of the same Bond Payment Date and of authorized
denomination or denominations, for a like aggregate principal amount will be delivered to the
transferee in exchange therefor.

The Trustee may treat the Registered Owner hereof as the absolute owner hereof for all
purposes, and the Trustee shall not be affected by any notice to the confrary.

' The Trustee shall not be required to register the transfer or exchange of any Bond (i) within 15
days preceding selection of Bonds for prepayment or (ii) selected for prepayment.

The Bonds shall be subject to prepayment prior to their respective stated maturities, as a
whole or in part on any Inferest Payment Date in the order of maturity as directed by the District in a
Written Request provided to the Trustee at least 60 days prior to such date and by lot within each
maturity in integral multiples of $5,000, on or after ___ 1, 20__ from amounts prepaid by the
District pursuant to the Trust Agreement af a Prepayment Price below equal to the principal amount
of such Bonds to be prepaid plus accrued interest evidenced and represented thereby to the date fixed
for prepayment.

Prepayment Dates Prepayment
(Inclusive) Price
The Bonds maturing on 1,20 and 1, 20 (collectively, the "Term Bonds")
are subject to mandatory prepayment in part, by lot, on May 1 in each of the following yeais
commencing 1,20_and 1,20 from Water Revenuc Payments made by the District

to the Trustee pursuant to the Trust Agreement, at a prepayment price equal to the principal amount
evidenced thereby to be prepaid, without premium, in the aggregate respective principal amounts,
and on May 1 in the respective years as set forth in the following tables; provided, however, that if
some, but not all, of such Term Bonds have been prepaid pursuant to the terms of the Trust
Agreement, the total amount of all future sinking fund payments shall be reduced by the aggregate
principal amount of such Term Bonds so prepaid, to be allocated among such sinking fund payments
on a pro rata basis in integral multiples of $5,000, as determined by the District and specified in
writing to the Trustee.
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TERM BONDS
‘o Principal Amount of
Sinking Fund P
Prepayment Dato Term bond's to be
Prepaid
TERM BONDS
‘o . Principal Amount of
Sinking Fund
Term bonds to be
Pr t Dat
repayment Date Prepaid

The Bonds shall be subject to extraordinary prepayment from insurance and condemnation
procesds prior to their respective stated maturities, as a whole or in part on any date in the order of
maturity as directed by the District in a Written Request provided to the Trustee at least 30 days prior
to such date and by lot within each maturity in integral multiples of $5,000 from prepaid Water
Revenue Payments made by the District from Net Proceeds, upon the terms and conditions of, and as
provided for in the Trust Agreement, at a Prepayment Price equal to the principal amount thereof
plus accrued interest evidenced and represented thereby to the date fixed for prepayment, without
premivum. :

The Bonds are subject to prepayment on any Bond Payment Date occurring on or after the
receipt by the Trustee of a Certificate of the District certifying that the Redemption has been
completed within three (3) years after the Closing Date, at the par amount thereof, without premium,
from excess proceeds of the Bonds transferred to the Bond Payment Fund from the funds held by the
Trustee pursuant to Section 3.2 of the Trust Agreement.

As provided in the Trust Agreement, notice of prepayment hereof shall be mailed, first class
postage prepaid, not less than 20 days nor more than 30 days prior to the prepayment date, to the
Registered Owner of this Bond at the address thereof appearing on the Bond registration books. If
this Bond is called for prepayment and payment is duly provided therefor as specified in the Trust
Agreement, interest represented hereby shall cease to accrue from and after the date fixed for
prepayment Any defect in the notice or the mailing thereof will not affect the validity of the
prepayment of this Bond.
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. The District has designated the Bonds "Bank Qualified" for purposes of paragraph (3) of
Section 265(b) of the Code and represents that not more than $10,000,000 aggregate principal
amount of obligations the interest on which is excludable (under Section 103(a) of the Code) from
gross income for federal income tax purposes (excluding (i) private activity bonds, as defined in
Section 141 of the Code, except qualified 501(c)(3) bonds defined in Section 145 of the Code and
(i) current obligations to the extent the amount of the obligation does not exceed the outstanding
amount of the refunded obligation), including these Bonds, has been or will be issued by the Disirict,
including all subordinate entities of the District, during calendar year 2021.

To the extent and in the manner permitted by the terms of the Trust Agreement, as the case
may be, the Trust Agreement and the rights and obligations of the District and of the registered
owners of the Bonds and of the Trustee may be modified or amended with the written consents of the
registered owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds (as such terms is defined
in the Trust Agreement) then outstanding, provided, however, that no such modification or
amendment shall (1) extend the stated maturities of the Bonds, or reduce the rate of interest or yield-
to-maturity represented thereby, or extend the time of payment of interest, or reduce the amount of
principal represented thereby, or reduce any premium payable on the prepayment thereof, without the
consent of the registered owner of each Bond so affected, or (2) reduce the percentage of registered
owners of Bonds whose consent is required for the execution of any amendment or modification of
the Trust Agreement, or (3) modify any of the rights or obligations of the Trustee without its written
consent thereto.

Upon acceleration, the Water Revenue Payments and the Bonds shall become due and
payable immediately from the sources described in the Trust Agreement.

The Trustee has no obligation or Hability to the registered owners of the Bonds for the
payment of interest, principal or prepayment premium, if any, with respect to the Bonds out of the
Trustee's own funds; the Trustee's sole obligations are those described in the Trust Agreement. The
recitals of facts herein shail be taken as statements of the District and the Trustee does not have any
responsibility for the accuracy thereof. '

The District has certified that all acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and
statutes of the State of California and the Trust Agreement to exist, to have happened and to have
been performed precedent to and in the delivery of this Bond, do exist, have happened and have been
performed in due time, form and manner as required by law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Bond has been executed by the manual signature of the
President of the Board of Directors of the District whose signature has been attested by the District
Secretary and authenticated by the authorized signatory of the Trustee, all as of the date set forth

below.

Execution Date: ,2021

PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

ATTEST: By:
District Secretary - President of the Board of Directors
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BOND AUTHENTICATION AND REGISTRATION
This is one of the Bonds described in the within mentioned Trust Agreement
Dated 2021 U.S. BANK GLOBAL CORPORATE TRUST, as Trustee

By:

Authorized Signatory

ASSIGNMENT

For value received the undersigned do(es) hereby sell, assign and transfer unto

(Name, Address and Tax Identification or Social Security Numnber of Assignee)

the within registered Bond and hereby irrevocably constituté(s) and appoint(s)
attorney, to iransfer the same on the Bond Register of the Trustee with full power of substitution in
the premises. :

Dated:

Signatare Guaranteed:

Note: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by Note: The signature(s) on this Assignment must

an eligible guarantor. correspond with the name(s) as written on the
face of the within Bond in every particular,
without dlteration or enlargement or any

change whatsoever
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ABBREVIATIONS

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this Bond, shall be
construed as though they wete written out in full according to applicable laws or regulations:

TEN COM as tenants in common UNIF GIFT MIN ACT Custodian
TEN ENT as tenants by the Entireties (Cust) (Minor) under
JT TEN as joint tenants with right of Uniform Gifts to Minors Act :
survivorship and not as tenants in common . (State)

ADDITIONAL ABBREVIATIONS MAY ALSO BE
USED THOUGH NOT IN THE LIST ABOVE

Additional abbreviations may ‘also be used though not in the above list unless this Bond is
presented by an authorized representative of DTC, to the Issuer or its agent for registration of
transfer, exchange or payment, and any Bond issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or in
such other name as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC (and any payment is made to
Cede & Co., or to such other entity as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC) ANY
TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER. USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO
ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has an
interest herein.
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Legal opinion
Law Office of

ROBERT M. HAIGHT
ATTORNEY AT LAW

Municipal Bond Counsel
120 Jewell St, Santa Cruz, Ca, 95060

2021

S
PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
2021 WATER REVENUE BONDS

Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District
136 San Juan Road
Watsonville, California 95076

Members of the Board of Directors:

We have acted as Special Counsel to the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District
(the "District") in connection with the execution and delivery of . agpregate principal
amount of 2021 Water Revenue Bonds, dated the date hereof (the "Bonds"), each evidencing and
representing an interest of the registered owner thereof in the right to receive Water Revenue
Payments (as that term is defined in the Trust Agreement hereinafter mentioned). The Bonds have
been executed by the District and authenticated and delivered by the Trustee pursuant to the terms of
the Trust Agreement, dated as of 1, 2021 (the "Trust Agreement"), by and between the
District and the Trustee.

In connection with our representation we have examined a certified copy of the proceedings
relating to the Bonds, As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon the
certified proceedings and other certifications of public officials furnished to us without undertaking
to verify the same by independent investigations.

Based upon the foregoing and after examination of such questions of law as we have deemed
relevant in the circumstances, but subject to the limitations set forth herein, we are of the opinion
that:

1. The proceedings show lawful authority for the execution and delivery by the District
of the Trust Agrecment under the laws of the State of California now in force, and the Trust
Agreement have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the District, and, assuming due
authorization, execution and delivery by the Trustee, as appropriate, are valid and binding
obligations of the District enforceable against the District in accordance with their respective terms,

2, The Bonds, assuming due authentication and delivery by the Trustee, are entitled to
the benefits of the Trust Agreement.

3. The obligation of the District to make the Water Revenue Payments from Net
Revenues (as defined in the Trust Agreement) is an enforceable obligation of the District and does
not constitute a debt of the District, or of the State of California or of any political subdivision
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thereof in contravention of any constitutional or statutory debt limit or restriction, and does not
constitute an obligation for which the District is obligated to levy or pledge any form of taxation or
for which the District has levied or pledged any form of taxation.

4, Under existing statufes, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, the portion of
each
Installment Payment constituting interest is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of calculating the federal alternative
minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations.

5. The portion of each Water Revenue Payment constituting interest is exempt from '

State of California personal income tax.

6. The difference between the issue price of a Bond (the first price at which a
substantial amount of the Bonds of a maturity is to be sold to the public) and the stated prepayment
price at maturity with respect to such Rond constitutes original issue discount, Original issue
discount acerues under a constant yield method, and original issue discount will accrue to a Bond
Owner before receipt of cash aitributable to such excludable income. The amount of original issue
discount deemed received by a Bond Owner will increase the Owner's basis in the applicable Bond.
Original issue discount that accrues to the Bond Owner is excluded from the gross income of such
owner for federal income tax purposes, is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal
alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations, and is exempt from State of
California personal income tax.

7. The amount by which a Bond owner's original basis for determining loss on sale or
exchange in the applicable Bond (generally the purchase price) exceeds the amount payable on
maturity (or on an earlier call date) constitutes amottizable bond premium which must be amortized
under Section 171 of the Code; such amortizable bond premium reduces the Bond owner's basis in
the applicable Bond (and the amount of tax-exempt interest received), and is not deductible for
federal income tax purposes. The basis reduction as a resuit of the amortization of bond premium
may result in 2 Bond owner realizing a taxable gain when a Bond is sold by the owner for an amount
equal to or less (under certain circumstances) than the original cost of the Bond to the owner.

8. The District has designated the Bonds "Bank Qualified" for putposes of paragraph
(3) of Section 265(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.

The opinions expressed herein as to the exclusion from gross income of the portion of each
Installment Payment constituting interest (and original issue discount) are based upon certain
representations of fact and cestifications made by the District and others and are subject to the
condition that the District complies with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the "Code"), that must be satisfied subsequent to the execution and delivery of the Bonds
to assute that such portion of each Water Revenue Payment constituting interest (and original issue
discount) will not become includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. Failure to
comply with such requirements of the Code might cause the portion of each Water Revenue Payment
constituting jnterest (and original issue discount) to be included in gross income for federal income
tax purposes retroactive to the date of cxecution and delivery of the Bonds. The District has
covenanted to comply with all such requirements.

The opinions expressed herein may be affected by actions faken (or not taken) or events
occurring (or not occutring) after the date hereof. We have not undertaken to determine, or to inform
any person, whether any such actions or events are taken or do occur. The Trust Agreement and the
Tax Certificate permit certain actions to be taken or to be omitted if a favorable opinion of Special
Counsel is provided with respect thereto. No opinion is expressed herein as to the effect on the
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exclusion from gross income of the portion of each Water Revenue Payment constituting interest
(and original issue discount) for federal income tax purposes with respect to any Bond if any such
action is taken or omitted based npon the opinion or advice of counsel other than ourselves. Other

than expressly stated herein, we express no other opinion regarding tax consequences with respect to
the Bonds, ‘

The opinions expressed herein are based upon our analysis and interpretation of existing
laws, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by
such authorities. We call attention to the fact that the rights and obligations under the Trust
Agreement and the Bonds are subject to bankruptoy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium,
fraudulent conveyance and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights, to the application of
equitable principles if equitable remedies are sought, to the exercise of judicial discretion in
appropriate cases and to limitations on legal remedies against public agencies in the State of
California,

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT M, HAIGHT
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EXHIBIT B
FORM OF REQUISITIGN FOR DISBURSEMENT

REQUISITIONNO, ._____FOR
DISBURSEMENT FROM DELIVERY COST FUND

PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 2021
WATER REVENUE BONDS

The undersigned hereby states and certifies:

@) that, he is the duly appointed, qualified and acting General Manager of the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa
Community Services District, a political subdivision organized and existing under the laws of the State of
California (the "Distriet"), and as such, is familiar with the facts herein certified and is authorized to certify the
same;

(ii) that, pursuant to Section 3.4 of that certain Trust Agreement dated as of 1, 2021 (the
"Trust Agreement"), by and between the District and U.S. Bank Global Corporate Trust, the undersigned hereby
requests the Trustee to disburse this date the following amounts from the Delivery Cost Fund established under the
Trust Agreement, to the payees designated on the attached Exhibit A;

(iii) fhat, each obligation mentioned herein has been incurred by the District and is a proper charge
against the Delivery Cost Ffund;

(iv) that, all payments shall be made by check or wire transfer in accordance with payment
instructions contained in Exhibit A and the Trustee shall have no duty or obligation to authenticate such payment
instructions or the authorization thereof.

) that, there has not been filed with or sexved upon the District notice of any lien, right o lien or
attachment upon, or claim affecting the right to receive payment of, any of the moneys payable to any of the payees
pamed on the attached Exhibit A, which has not been released or will not be released simultansously with the
payment of such obligation, other than materialmen's or mechanics' liens accruing by mere operation of law.

PAJARQ/SUNNY MESA
COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

By:

General Manager

BXHEBIT A
DELIVERY COST FUND DISBURSEMENTS

FORM OF BOND
Page A-11
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Ttem
Number

Payee Name and Address

FORM OF BOND
Page A-12

Purpose of
Obligation

Amount



Robert Haight
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From:

Sent:

To:

Subject:
Attachments:

Robert Haight [rmhaight@rmhaightiaw.com]
Tuesday, June 15, 2021 2:23 PM

'Don Rosa'; 'Lonnie Odom’; 'Maravilla, Alan T'
13 Form of Bond

13 Form of Bond.pdf

To everyone: Attached please find the Exhibit A to the Trust Agreement.
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Robert Haight

From: Robert Haight [rrehaight@rmhaightlaw.com)
Sent: Tuesday, June 15, 2021 10:32 AM

To: 'Don Rosa'; ‘Lonnie Odom'

Subject: 4 Trust Agreement

Attachments: 4 Trust Agreement.pdf

Don and Lonnie: For agenda of June 24. 2021. The form of Bond {Exhibit A) and the Exhibit B wiil be sent separately. |
haven’t sent this document to U.S. Bank untif | know who is the responsible party at the Bank.
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APPENDIXID
INFORMATION CONCERNING DTC

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC 's book-entry only system has been obtained
from sources that the District and the Underwriter helieve to be reliable, but neither the District nor the
Underwriter takes no responsibility for the completeness or accuracy thereof The following description of the
procedures and record keeping with respect to beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds, payment of
principal, premium, if any, accreted value, if any, and interest with respect to the Bonds to DTC Participants or
Beneficial Owners, confirmation and transfers of beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds and other
related transactions by and between DTG, the DTC Participants and the Beneficial Owners is based solely on
information provided by DTC.

The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the
Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's
partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested hy an authorized representative of DTC. One
fully-registered Bond will be issued for each issue of the Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of
such issue, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under
the New York Banking i.aw, a "banking vrganization” within the meaning of the New York Ranking Law, a
member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform
Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Secticn 17A of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S, and
non-U.S, equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments {from over 160
countries) that DTC’s participants ("Direct Participants"”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade
settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities,
through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.
This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities Bonds. Direct Participants include both U.S. and
non-US. Securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other
organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCL).
DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing
Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated
subsidiaries, Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.5. and non-U.S. securities
brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a
custodial relationship with a Divect Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants®). DTC has
Standard & Poor's highest rating: AAA. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and

www.dtc.org.

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which
will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC's records, The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each
Bond {"Beneficial Owner"} is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficiat
Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however,
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements
of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Pavticipant through which the Beneficial Cwner entered into the
ransaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the
pooks of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not
receive Bonds representing their ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry
system for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered
in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co,, or such other name as may be requested by an
authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and thieir registration in the name of Cede &
Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the
actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to

APPENDIXD
PageP-1



whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and
Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping: account of their holdings on behalf of their
customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct - Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners
will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may
be in effect from time to time. Reneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the
transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as prepayments, tenders,
defaults, and proposed amendments to the Bond documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may
wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit
notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and

addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.

Prepayment. notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within an issue are being
prepaid, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such
issue to be prepaid.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTG nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds
unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the District as soon as possible after the record date. The
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or votng rights to those Direct Participants to whose
aceounts Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Prepayment proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede &
Co, or such other nominee as may he requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to
credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detal information from
the District or the Trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's
records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and
customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or
registered in "street name,® and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of PTC, the Trustee, or
the District, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
Payment of Prepayment proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the District or
the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and
dishursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsihility of Direct and Indirect
Participants.

A Bond Owner shall give notice to elect to have its Bonds purchased or tendered, through its
ParHcipant, to the Trustee, and shall effect delivery of such Bond by causing the Direct Participant to transfer
the Participant's interest in the Bonds, on DTC's records, to the Trustee, The requirement for physical
delivery of Bonds in connection with an optional tender ora mandatory purchase will be deemed satisfied
when the ownership rights in the Bonds are transferred by Direct Participants on DTC's records and followed
by a book-entry credit of tendered Bonds to the Trustee’s DTC account. '

D'TC may discontinie providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by
giving reasonable notice to the District or the Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a
successor depository is not obtained, physical Bonds are re quired to be printed and delivered.

The District may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry only transfers through pTC
(or a successor securities depository). In that event, Bonds will be printed and delivered to DTC.

APPENDIX 8
PageJ-2

P. 98




P. 100

APPENDIX E FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
AGREEMENT



CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

by and among
NBS GOVERNMENT FINANCE GROUP
and

PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

Relating to

$
PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

2021 WATER REVENUE BONDS

Dated as of 2021

— 3
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the "Disclosure Agreement"), dated as of this 1* day of
, 2021, is executed and delivered by the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District (the
“Issuer"), acting on behalf of the 2021 Water Revenue Bonds and NBS GOVERNMENT FINANCE
GROUP (the "Dissemination Agent"), in connection with the execution and delivery of the 2021 Water
Revenue Bonds of the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District (the "Bonds"), acting
hereunder in its capacity as Dissemination Agent. The Bonds are being issued pursuant to Trust
Agreement approved by the Board of Directors of the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District
on , 2021 (the "Agreement"). The Issuer and the Dissemination Agent covenant and agree as
follow:

SECTION 1. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Trust Agreement, which
apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement, unless otherwise defined in this
Section 1, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings when used in this
Disclosure Agreement:

"Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.

"Beneficial Owner" shall mean any person who (a) has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote
or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds (including persons holding Bonds
through nominees, depositories or other inlermediaries), or (b) Is treated as the owner of aiy Bonds for
federal income tax purposes.

"Digsemination Agent" shall mean NBS Government Finance Group or any successor
Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the District and which has filed with the District a
written acceptance of such designation. In the absence of such a designation, the District shall act as the
Dissemination Agent. :

"EMMA" or "Electronic Municipal Market Access" means the centralized on-line repository
for documents to be filed with the MSRB, such as official statements and disclosure information
relating to municipal bonds, notes and other securities as issued by state and local governments.

"Listed Events" shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) or 5(b) of this Disclosure
Agreement.

"MSRRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which has been designated by the
Securities and Exchange Commission as the sole repository of disclosure information for purposes of
the Rule, or any other repository of disclosure information which may be designated by the Securities
and Exchange Commission as such for purposes of the Rule in the fature.

"Owner" or "Bond Owner, " when used with respect to any Bond, means the person in whose
name the ownership of such Bond shall be registered.

"Participating Underwriter" shall mean the original underwriter of the Bonds, required to
comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Bonds.

"Rule" shall mean Rule 15¢2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

SECTION 2. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement. This Disclosure Agreement is being
executed and delivered by the District for the benefit of the owners and Beneficial Owners of the Bonds
and in order to assist the Participating Underwriter in complying with Securities and Exchange
Commission Rule 15¢2-12(b }(5).




SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Repoits

(a)  Delivery of Annual Report. The District shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to,
not later than seven months after the énd of the District's fiscal year (which currently ends on June 30),
commencing with the report for the 2021-22 Fiscal Year, which is due not later than January 31, 2022,
file with EMMA, in a readable PDF or other electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, an Annual
Report that is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. The Annual
Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package and may
cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement; provided that
the audited financial statements of the District may be submitted separately from the balance of the
Annual Report and later than the date required above for the filing of the Annual Report if they are not
available by that date.

(b)  Change of Fiscal Year. If the District's fiscal year changes, it shall give notice of such
change in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(c), and subsequent Annual Report
filings shall be made no later than seven months after the end of such new fiscal year end.

(c)  Delivery of Annual Report to Dissemination Agent. Not later than fifteen (15) Business
Days prior to the date specified in subsection (a) (or, if applicable, subsection (b) of thig Section 3 for
providing - the Annual Report to EMMA, the District shall provide the Annual Report to the
Dissemination Agent (if other than the District). If by such date, the Dissemination Agent has not
received a copy of the Annual Report, the Dissemination Agent shall notify the District.

(@)  Report of Non-Compliance. If the District is the Dissemination Agent and is unable to
file an Annual Report by the date required in subsection (a) (ot, if applicable, subsection (b) of this
Section 3, the District shall send a notice to EMMA substantially in the form attached herefo as Exhibit
A. If the District is not the Dissemination Agent and is unable to provide an Annual Report to the
Dissemination Agent by the date required in subsection (¢} of this Section 3, the Dissemination Agent
shall send a notice to EMMA in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.

(¢)  Annual Compliance Certification. The Dissemination Agent shall, if the Dissemination
Agent is other than the District, file a report with the District certifying that the Annual Report has been
filed with EMMA. pursuant to Section 3 of this Disclosure Agreement, stating the date it was so provided
and filed.

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Report. The Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by
reference the following:

(a) Financial Statements. Audited financial statements of the District for the preceding fiscal
year, prepared in accordance generally accepted accounting principles. If the District's audited financial
statements ate not available by the time the Annual Report is required to be filed pursuant to Section
3(a), the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial statements in a format similar to the financial
statements contained in the final Official Statement, and the audited financial statements shall be filed in
the same manner as the Annual Report when they become available,

(b) Other Annual Information. To the extent not included in the audited final statements of
the District, the Annual Report shall also include financial and operating data with respect to the District
for the preceding fiscal year, substantially similar to that provided in the tables in the official statement
for the Bonds under the heading YTABLE 6-HISTORIC WATER REVENUE" and "TABLE 7-

PROJECTED WATER REVENUE!
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(c) Cross References. Any or all of the items listed above may be included by
specific reference to other documents, including official statements of debt issues of the District
or related public entities, which are available to the public on EMMA. The District shall clearly
identify each such other document so included by reference. If the document included by reference
is a final official statement, it must be available from EMMA.

(d) Further Information. In addition to any of the information expressly required to be
provided under paragraph (b) of this Section 4, the District shall provide such further information, if any,
as may be necessary to make the specifically required statements, in the light of the circumstances under
which they are made, not misleading.

SECTION 5. Reporting of Listed Events.

(a) Reportable Events. The District shall, or shall cause the Dissemination (if not the
District) to, give notice of the occutrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds:

W
@)
®)
)
(5)
©)
™
®)
©)

Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
Defeasances;

Rating change
Tender offers;

Bankruptey, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person; and

ges’

Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Sexvice of proposed ot
final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB)
or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the
security, or other material events affecting the tax status of the security.

NOTE: For the purposes of the event identified in subparagraph (8), the event is
considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, trustee or
similar officer for an obligated person in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptey Code ot in any
other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has
assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the obligated person, or if
such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governmental body and officials or
officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental
authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation
by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of
the assets or business of the obligated person.

(b)  Material Reportable Events. The District shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the
occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds, if material:

(1)
)
()
(B
()

Non-payment related defaults;

Modifications to rights of security holders;

Bond calls;

The release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities;
The consummation of a merget, consolidation, or acquisition involving an obligated
person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person,



other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to
any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms; and

(6) Appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a trustee.

(¢)  Time to Disclose. Whenever the District obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a
Listed Event, the District shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent (if not the District) to, file a
notice of such occurrence with EMMA, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely
manner not in excess of 10 business days after the occurrence of the Listed Event. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, notice of Listed Events described in subsections (a)(5) and (b)(3) above need not be given
under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying event is given to owners of
affected Bonds under the Trust Agteement.

SECTION 6. Identifying Information for Filings with EMMA. All documents provided to
EMMA under this Disclosure Agreement shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed
by the MSRB.

SECTION 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The District's obligations under this
Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of
the Bonds. If such termination occurs priot to the final maturity of the Bonds, the District shall give
notice of such termination-in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(c).

SECTION 8. Dissemination Agent,

(a)  Appointment of Dissemination Agent. The District may, from time to time, appoint or
engage a Dissemination Agent fo assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement
and may discharge any such agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. If the
Dissemination Agent is not the District, the Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible in any manner
for the content of any notice or report prepared by the District pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement. It
is understood and agreed that any information that the Dissemination Agent may be instructed to file
with EMMA shall be prepared and provided to it by the District. The Dissemination Agent has
undertaken no responsibility with respect to the content of any reports, notices or disclosures provided to
it under this Disclosure Agreement and have no liability to any person, including any Owner, with
respect to any such reports, notices or disclosures. The fact that the Dissemination Agent or any affiliate
thereof may have any fiduciary or banking relationship with the District shall not be construed to mean
that the Dissemination Agent has actual knowledge of any event or condition, except as may be provided
by written notice from the District.

(b)  Compensation of Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination Agent shall be paid
compensation by the District for its services provided hereunder in accordance with its schedule of fees
as agreed to between the Dissemination Agent and the District from time to time and all expenses, legal
fees and expenses and advances made or incurred by the Dissemination Agent in the performance of its
duties hereunder. The Dissemination Agent shall not be deemed 1o be acting in any fiduciary capacity for
the District, owners or Beneficial Owners, or any other party. The Dissemination Agent may rely, and
shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting, upon any direction from the District or an -
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel. The Dissemination Agent may at any time resign by
giving writtén notice of such resignation to the District. The Dissemination Agent shall not be liable
hereunder except for its negligence or willful misconduct.

P. 105




P. 106

(c)  Responsibilities of Dissemination Agent, In addition of the filing obligations of the -
Dissemination Agent set forth in Sections 3(e) and 5, the Dissemination Agent shall be obligated, and
hereby agrees, to provide a request to the District to compile the information required for its Annual
Report at least 30 days prior to the date such information is to be provided to the Dissemination Agent
pursuant to subsection (¢) of Section 3. The failure to provide or receive any such request shall not affect
the obligations of the District under Section 3.

SECTION 9. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure
Agreement, the District may amend this Disclosure Agreement (and the Dissemination Agent shall agree
to any amendment so requested by the District that does not impose any greater duties or risk of liability
on the Dissemination Agent), and any provision of this Disclosure Agreement may be waived, provided
that all of the following conditions are satisfied:

(a}  Change in Circumstances. If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions
of Sections 3(a), 4 or 5 (&) or (b), it may only be made in connection with a change in
circumstances that arises from a change in legal requitements, change in law, or change in the
identity, nature, or status of an obligated person with respect to the Bonds, or the type of
business conducted.

(b)  Compliance as of Issue Date. The undertaking, as amended or taking into
account such walver, would, L the opinion of a natioially recognized bond counsel, have
complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the original issuance of the Bonds,
after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change
in circumstances.

(c)  Consent of Owners; Non-impairment Opinion. The amendment or waiver either
(i) is approved by the Owners in the same manner as provided in the Agreement for
amendments to the Agreement with the consent of Owners, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of
nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests of the Owners or Beneficial
Owmers.

If this Disclosure Agreement is amended or any provision of this Disclosure Agreement
is waived, the District shall describe such amendment or waiver in the next following Annual
Report and shall include, as applicable, a narrative explanation of the reason for the
amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or in the case of a change of accounting
principles, or. the presentation) of financial information or operating data being presented by
the District. Tn addition, if the amendment relates tb the accounting principles ta be followed in
preparing financial statements (I} notice of such change shall be given in the same manner as
for a Listed Event under Section SCC). and (ii) the Annual Report for the. year in which the
change is made should present a comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in
quantitative form) between the financial statements as prepared on the basis of the new
accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles.

SECTION 10. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be
deemed to prevent the District from disseminating any other information, using the means
of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of
communication or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of



occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure
Agreement, If the District chooses to include any information in any Annual Repotrt or
notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is specifically required by
this Disclosure Agreement the District shall have no obligation under this Disclosure
Agreement to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice
of occurrence of a Listed Event.

SECTION 11. Default. In the event of a failure of the District to comply with any
provision of this Disclosure Agreement any Owner or Beneficial Owner may take such
actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific
performance by court order, to cause the District to comply with its obligations under this
Disclosure Agreement. The sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of
any failure of the District to comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to
compel performance,

SECTION 12. Notices should be sent in writing to the following addresses. The
following information may be conclusively relied upon until changed in writing,

Dissemination Agent: NBS Government Finance Group
32605 Temecula Parkway, STE 100 Temecula
California 92592
1(800) 676-7516
Email: disclosure@nbsgov.com

District: Pajaro/Sunny Mesa CSD
136 San Juan Road, Watsonville California 95076
Main: (831) 722-1389
Fax: (831) 722-0137

Dated: , 2021

PATARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

Don Rosa, General Manager

NBS GOVERNMENT FINANCE GROUP.

Director
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EXHIBIT A

NOTICE TO REPOSITORIES OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL
REPORT

Name of Obligor: PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

Name of Obligation: 2021 WATER REVENUE BONDS

Date of Execution and Delivery: , 2021

NOTICE IS BEREBY GIVEN that the District has not provided an Annual Report with respect
to the above named Bonds as required by the Continving Disclosure Agreement approved
pursuant fo a Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of the Distriet on , 2021,
The District anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by

Dated: By

PAJARO/SUNNY MESA
COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT



Robert Hai@t
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From:

Sent:

To:

Subject:
Attachments:

Robert Haight [rmhaight@rmhaightiaw.com]
Monday, June 21, 2021 6:30 AM

'Don Rosa'; 'NBS Consulting'; 'Lonnie Odom'

8 Continuing Disclosure Agreement , as Revised
& Continuing Disclosure Agreement (2).pdf

To all: Attached is the revised Continuing Disclosure Agreement with minar font changes and corrections for the agenda

of June 24, 2021,
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Effective Date July 1, 2021

EXHIBIT “A”
PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
RATE SCHEDULE

L MINIMUM CHARGES

A, PAJARO, SUNNY MESA, BLACKIE ROAD #18, LANGLEY/VALLE PACIFICO,
NORNCO WATER, VIERRA ESTATES, MOSS LANDING DIVISION, VEGA AND
SPRINGFIELD WATER

APPLICABILITY

Applicable to all metered water service.

TERRITORY

The areas served by the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District currently
known as Pajaro, Sunny Mesa, Bay Farms/Hillcrest, Vega/Vista Verde, Moss Landing
and North Monterey County Prunedale Areas.

RATES
Per Meter
Quantity Rates Uniform Single Tier: Per Month
Inside District - Domestic
Per 100 cu. ff. (748 gallons) ....cccoicmiimiriscis e $ 4.81
Bulk or Construction water
Per 100 cu. ft. (748 galloNS) .o $ 66.54
Agricultural water
Per acre Toot per MONH ... $ 476.50

Pajaro, Sunny Mesa, and Vega Systems only:

Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency Established Rates shall be collected by the District from the
customer and be refunded to PVWMA at required intervals. The District shall establish a collection
fee annually and add on to the established water charge.

Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency $246.00 per acre ft. (325,829 gallons)
Pajaro/Sunny Mesa C. 8. D. Collection Fee 25%  per acre ft. (43,560 cubic feet)

PVWNMA per cubic foot 0.56 per 100 cubic feet
P/SMCSD collection fee 0.14 per 100 cubic feet
Total 0.70 per 100 cubic feet

adopted 04/22i12021 1
effective 07/01/2021
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Service Availability

Charge Per Month Inside Disfrict
Meter Size $ Per Month Year 1
S/ OO U $ 28.02
7SO OO OO $ 28.02
DU O T VPR PPN $ 59.84
LS O OO $112.88
2 et eeetaeneeeeeeetsasetibteaseaNeeeseeraeestesseenteessereesearinateaet ettt aeherE RS Re s a e se e LEa e e e e s e s $176.52
B O U U U SN $378.06
B e eee——e—h e titesaaeesaessteseeteeasserasaerases Pt eessAsasateeseeeiaAeeeaseeransaiesERbaeRrteannE e e eEots $ 675.06
5 P PPN $1,385.74
2 O U OO UIN $2,976.82
HYAFANT MBEET ... ceee ettt s b e s $ 378.06

adopted 04/22/2024 2
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PAJARO, SUNNY MESA, BAYFARMS/HILLCREST
BLACKIE ROAD #18, LANGLEY/VALLE PACIFICO,
NORMCO WATER, VIERRA ESTATES
MOSS LANDING DIVISION, VEGA AND SPRINGFIELD

Service Availabllity is a fixed monthly charge and includes NO minimum amount of
water. '

Charges shown are for one service connection served by a single water meter.
For each additional connection to a single meter located inside the District, an
additional fee of $9.67 per month shall be added to the charge shown.

Charges shown are for one service connection served by a single water meter.
For each additional connection to a single meter located outside the District, an
additional fee of $12.86 per month shali be added to the charge shown.

Multiple dwellings, such as duplexes, triplexes, apartment houses and the like, in
addition to the minimum rate, shall pay a monthly service charge of $9.67 for
each unit in excess of one whether occupied or not.

Hotels, motels, auto courts, in addition to the minimum rate, shali pay a monthly
service charge of $9.67 for each room therein not equipped with complete living
facilities, and $15.00 for each room therein that is so equipped with complete
living facilities. Complete living facilities shall mean provisions for storage,
preservation and preparation of food.

Trailer parks, in addition to the minimum rate, shall pay a monthly service
charge of $4.32 for each space whether rented or available to rent.

Dwelling units combined with commercial units, in addition to minimum rate, shall

pay a monthly service charge of $9.67 if water is serving the business unit.

The owner of any property that consists of two (2) or more dwellings or
residential units which are served water through a single meter shall be solely
responsible for all monthly water service payments to the District.

Meter Hook-up Fee Per Schedule in Force at Time of Hook-up (see pages 13 & 14)
Installation of Meter and Service Line $ 4,779.00 per meter or line
Charge Per Acre (prorata if less than full acre) $ 988.00
Connection Charge $ 32,245.00 per connection

adopted 04/22/2021
offective D7/01/2021
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Water Service Construction Charges

All new water customers will be charged a construction charge whenever a new
connection to the main or a new service lateral is required. That charge shall be
actual cost plus 25%. A deposit shall be made in accordance with the following

schedule:

Meter Size
Deposit

Inside District Qutside District
Construction Charge Deposit Construction Charge

..................... $ 7,062.00 .oovireriiereeire e $ 8,470.00
..................... $ 8,470.00...cccciccrrrirarrennieennnne $ 10,004.00

..... rereereinennns $10,005.00 ... $ 11,202.00
................... $11,292.00.0cccocerecieerecerererneeene § 12,047.00
............................. (1) e (2)
............................. (1) oo rerenne e (2)
............................. (1) e erenicrn e s rasesesnenso(2)
............................. (1) e rsssnenns(2)
............................. (1) s 2)
Larger than 2" inside District: actual cost plus 25%
Larger than 2" outside District: actual cost plus 50%

(2) Construction deposit shall be made in the amount estimated by
Engineer,

Applicant shall receive refund if actual cost is less than estimate or pay
the excess if actual cost is greater than estimate.

A. Connecticgn Fees

All new regular water service connections, increases in meter sizes, and the
connection of additional dwelling units to existing services require the payment of a
connection fee in accordance with the following schedule:

Residential Uses

Residential yses shall include single-family dwellings, condominiums, apartments,
mobile homes, and trailer spaces.

adopted 04/22/2021
effective 07/01/2021
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Residential Connection Fee

Meter size

3 1o R 1 S ORUPP U $2,152.00...cccccccicne per dwelling unit
BIA° oo eeere e na e $2,152.00..cccceciins per dwelling unit
o S PP RUR $ 5,380.00....ccc00uueen. per dwelling unit
o B 7O $ 10,760.00......cccnn.e.n. per dwelling unit
2 et vt e $17,217.00.0cceceecenne per dwelling unit
SOOI $ 37,661.00......ccuerne. per dwelling unit
AV it $ 67,790.00....cnuueeee per dwelling unit
B eerrreeeeee et nsersennen $ 139,885.00....c000erunes per dwelling unit
B e et $301,291.00....cccminnen. per dwelling unit

Non-Residential Uses

Non-residential uses include office buildings, stores, motels (without kitchens),
hospitals, rest homes, parks, laundromats, schools, restaurants, and other
miscellaneous non-residential uses.

Non-Residential Connection Fee

Meter Size Commercial Industrial Commercial Industrial
District Inside Inside Qutside Outside
5/8" - 3/4" ......... $6,732.00.......... $12,241.00 .......... $9,063.00........ $ 16,478.00
£ $9,321.00.......... $186,949.00 ........ $ 12,048.00 ........ $21,186.00
15" ereeranennns $15,147.00.......... $27,541.00........ $ 16,831.00 ........$ 30,602.00
2 e $25,246.00.......... $ 45,507.00 ........ $28,843.00........ $ 51,788.00
K, S $50,493.00.......... $91,806.00........ $ 55,672.00 ...... $101,222.00
A7 vieeiirereeaenes $67,065.00........ $121,937.00 ........ $69,914.00 ...... $ 127,116.00
S PR $ 134,001.00........ $ 243,639.00 ...... $ 155,364.00 ...... $ 282,480.00
< PR $ 268,261.00........ $487,748.00 ...... $ 310,728.00 ...... $ 564,960.00

Connection Charge: Annexed Area (Sunny Mesa, Hillcrest/Bay Farms Areas)

The owner or owners of lands within areas hereafter annexed to the District shall pay
to the District, prior to the issuance of a permit to connect any portion of the property
so annexed to the water system of the District, a fee computed at the rate of One
Hundred Dollars ($100.00) per real property parcel under said ownership per year for
each year, or any part thereof, from and after January 1, 1969. Any future splits of
these real property parcels will be subject to this same connection charge. This
charge shall be in addition fo all other charges of the District.

Meter Installation Charges:

adopted 04/22/2021 5
effective 07/01/2021
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The District will install meters on the basis of cost plus twenty-five percent (25%). The
applicant shall deposit five thousand dollars ($4,500.00) cash.

The District shall bill the applicant for any amount in excess of the deposit and refund
all overages. Only duly authorized employees or agents of the District will be
authorized to install meters. Application for installation of meters shall not be
considered unless the service connection has already been effected and water is
being sold to the applicant and/or being paid for. Applicants who have never paid for
water services of the District under such Application must make the application and
deposits as heretofore set forth in District ordinance.

Main Extension Charges:

Inside District: actual cost plus 25%
QOutside District; actual cost plus 50%

Construction depésit shall be made in the amount estimated by the Engineer.
Applicant shall receive refund if actual cost is less than estimate or pay excess if
actual cost is greater than estimate.

Other Charges:
Application Fee: ......ovvrrrrre i e $ 275.00
'Right-Of-Way Deed Checking Fee: .................$ 330.00
3. FIRE SERVICES CUSTOMERS
The following schedule of fees and charges shall apply to all fire service customers,
including fire Districts and private individuals or companies requesting water service
for the sole purposes of fire protection.
Type of Setvice Service Availability (4) Connection Construction (1)
Fees Per Month Charges Charges
Metered Services
(Detector Checks) Inside/Outside Inside/Outside Inside Outside
1.5" or eSS cuvviviriecierannee $4459.......... S $10,140.00...ccccerennne Actual Actual
2247 i $97.93 e $14,751.00...ccccceeees Cost Cost
5 A $180.17 v $27,657.00...............Plus  Plus
3 SO $263.20....cccciiinens $ 45,766.00......c.0uren. 25% 50%
(L0 A $349.93 .. $ 64,543.00.......cucce.... 25% 50%
Fire Hydrants (Maintained by Water District)
4" Hydrant.. no charge........ccevuennnne. no charge ......coeeevvnee Actual ....Actual
8” Hydrant.. no charge...........coeverneenee Nno charge .....cccoonervcans Cost....... Cost
adopted 04/22/2021 B8
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Plus 25% Plus 50%
Fire Hydrants (Maintained by Private Sector) {4) '

Commodity Rate:  No charge if water is used for fire protection.

Type of Service Service Availability (4) Connection Construction (1)
Fees Per Month Charges Charges

Residential '

Fire Sprinklers Inside/Qutside Inside/Outside Inside/Outside

When fire and Included in Included in included in

domestic water Section 1 Section 2A Section 2

service is provided
by a single meter.

(1) A construction deposit shall be made in the amount estimated by Engineer.
Applicant shall receive refund if actual cost is less than estimate or pay the
excess if actual cost is greater than estimate.

(2)  For purposes of this section, fire districts shall include the City of Watsonville Fire
Department, Freedom Fire District, North County Fire District, Salsipuedes Fire
District, Aromas Fire District, Santa Cruz County Service Area No. 4 and State
Department of Forestry.

(3)  Fees and charges apply to all fire hydrants serving private property and not
maintained by a fire district.

(4)  Service availability fees as shown unless charges are otherwise established by
special agreement, to defray cost of providing fire service.

adopled 04/22/2021 7
effective 07/01/2021
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. MISCELLANEOUS SERVICE CHARGES

A Deposits for Water Service. A cash deposit of twice the estimated maximum periodic
billing shall be made for establishment of credit. In no case shall deposit be less than
the following minimum, per meter size:

518", BIA", 17 i $ 150.00
1B, 20 e e e $ 450.00
B e raarr e e ae e n e $ 550.00
4" B OVET i $ 1,500.00

B. Warped Disc Replacement........cccccoveernenns $300.00

C. Repair Shut-Off Valve..........cevvvinmiininciniecnns $ 300.00

D. Turn-On and Turn-Off (except for emergencies):

Monday through Friday, .......ccccerciniennnen $ 200.00

8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.

All other IMES...oveceer e $ 275.00

There will be no turn-on charge for customers obtaining District water service for
the first time on the premises.

E. Fee for Water Meter Test:

518", BIA", 17 e $ 300.00
1B, 2l e e et $ 400.00
B e s $ 600.00
47 & OVBI vevir e sssrarne s Engineer’s Estimate
F. Fire Hydrant Meter Deposit:
Initial deposit...ccccviervivereri i, $ 2,500.00
Refund upon return if ..o $ 2,500.00
meter is satisfactory '
Rental fee for agricultural use ........... $ 600.00 per year
Charge for relocating meter.........c...... $ 300.00
Service Availability fees .....ccocerirernns $ 50.00 per month
Customers are liable for payment of all water used at established
commaodity rates for inside and outside District consumption.

G. Fire Hydrant Spanner Wrench Deposit............ $ 60.00

H. Returned CheckS. ..., $ 50.00

i Penalty for unauthorized relocations or connections$ 1,500.00, plus cost of water
used at applicable commodity rate.

J. Late Charges: All fees and charges shall be billed and collected simultaneously. Bills
are payable upon presentation and ten percent (10%) penailty charge shall be added to
the total bill if payment is made after the 25" day after the Post Office cancellation date
of billing.

adopted 04/22/2021 8
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Well Permit Fees:

FING FE@ ..eoveemrrrcrecriaraeresen sy $ 400.00
Inspection Fee ... $ 500.00
Fire Flow ChetK....cucevveereeeesrserearermnsesennnsins $ 600.00
Singie Water Truck Fill.....c.ocviminin $ 600.00

(5,000 gallon maximum)

Cross Connection Program
Testable Backflow Prevention Devices (Yearly)

BB = 7 e riee e e $ 90.00
1.5" and LAIGET «vcvvivveerieeimsamesinsnennns $160.00

Temporary Service — Construction Meter Deposit.
Refund upon return
: (if meter is satisfactory)
Inside District: ........ $600.00.....cccenn. $ 300.00
Outside District:...... $ 800.00 ............. $ 500,00

Customers are liable for payment of all water used at established rates for inside and
outside District consumption.

Water Plan Check:

Main extension built by others ... $ 500.00 per sheet

RECHECK FEE ...overeenreeirisveniicsnscnnnrasssnasnas $ 300.00 per sheet

Engineering and Inspection for main improvements 10% of estimate cost of
extensions built by others improvements

In addition to the connection fee listed in Section C, any parcel not assessed under
Assessment District No. 84-1 shall be charged an assessment fee based on use as
described in the Engineer’s Report for Assessment District No. 84-1. Fees for each use
are as follows:

RESIAential. ..o iiriinrrmr sy $ 3,200.00
COMIMEICIAL cuverier e veererervnaseerssrserrenaserssnnsenss $8,000.00

INAUSHFIAL oo e veeerrnseeererene s $ 15,000.00
Fees shall increase ten percent (10%) each year beginning on July 1, 1999,

The aforementioned established fees, rates and charges shall supersede any and all
fees, rates and charges of the District Inconsistent therewith and shall be effective
upon adoption.

Beginning on January 1, 2004, monthly service availabifity charges, commodity rate
charges, water service construction charges and connection fees may increase by
ten percent (10%) annually.
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
LIST OF APPOINTED OFFICIALS
JUNE 30, 2020

CURRENT BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Title Director Term Expires
President Harry Wiggins November 2021
Vice-President Sanford Coplin November 2021
Treasurer Michael Moore November 2021
Secretary -Robert Moody November 2023
Assistant Secretary Darlene Lamboley November 2023
MANAGEMENT
General Manager Donald Rosa

Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Service District
136 San Juan Road
Royal Oaks, California 95076
(831) 722-1389
WWW.pajarosunnyimesa.com



PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
TABLE OF CONTENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ..o

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Net PoSIHION ...
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position ................
Statement Of Cash FIOWS ... i s ,

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ...

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Statement of Revenues and Expenses,

Budget and Actual — Water ENterprise ...,

Statement of Revenues and Expenses,

Budget and Actual — Street Maintenance Enterprise ... v,

Statement of Revenues and Expenses,

Budget and Actual — Lighting Enterprise........c....oee. e et ns

Statement of Revenues and Expenses,

Budget and Actual — Parks ERerprise ...

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER
MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT

AUDITING STANDARDS......ocov oot iitsinessss s

29

30

31

32

34

P. 123




P. 124
SALINAS OFFICE

450 LINCOLN AVENUE
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BIANCHI, KASAVAN & POPE, LLP

PHONE 831~757-5311
Fax B831-757-9529

BKPCPA.COM

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District
Royal Oaks, California

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa
Community Services District (District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District's
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material-misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and the State Controller's Minimum Audit
Requirements for California Special Districts. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statemants.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained Is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

in our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the District, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective
changes in financial position and, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United- States of
America, as well as accounting systems prescribed by the California State Controller's
Office and California regulations governing Special Districts.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that
budgetary comparison information on pages 20-32 be presented fo supplement the
basic financial statements. Such information, aithough not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers It to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
‘accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing information, although not part
of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential pari of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this
missing information.

P ~ .
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2020
Street
Water Maintenance Lighting Parks
Enterprise Enterprise Enterprise Enterprise Total
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents - Note 2 $ 1,192,904 - $ - $ 152,642 § 1,345,543
Restricted cash - streel malntenance - Note 2 - 207,358 - - 297,359
Recelvables, net - Note 3 245,019 3,691 2,767 - 261,377
Prepald expanses - - - - -
Grants recelvable 1,262,728 - - - 1,252,725
Bond repayment assessmanis recelvable, current 166,914 - - - 166,914
Due from other funds 107,931 24,104 50,531 105,117 287,683
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,966,490 325,054 53,208 257,759 3,601,601
OTHER ASSETS
Restricted cash - bond reserve fund - Note 2 306,459 “ - - 306,459
Bond repayment assessments receivabls,
net of current portlon - Note 4 3,677,240 - - - 3,677,240
TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 3,983,699 - - - 3,983,609
CAPITAL ASSETS -net-Nole 5 6,773,821 - - 5,083,627 41,857,348
TOTAL ASSETS 13,723,010 325,054 53,298 5,341,286 19,442 648
DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES
Deferred loss from debt refunding 151,573 - - - 151,573

$13,874683 $ 3250854 § 653298 § 5341286 _§ 10,584,221

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Cash overdraft - Note 2 $ - $ 31,564 $ 12449 % - $ 44,013
Accounts payable 407,303 39 2,475 915 410,736
Accrued expsnses 201,534 - - - 201,534
Deposits 77,902 - - - 77,802
Line of credit - Note 6 1,252,147 - - - 1,252,147
Notes payable, cusrent portion - Note 7 40,281 - - - 40,281
Revenue refunding bond, current portion - Note 7 70,0C0 - - - 70,000
Speclal assessment bond, current portion - Note 7 166,000 - - - 166,000
Due to other funds 230,484 57,201 - - 287,685
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2.445,661 88,804 14,928 915 2,650,298
OTHER LIABILITIES
Notes payable - net of current portion - Note 7 263,283 - - - 263,263
Revenue refunding bond - net of discount
and current poriicn - Note 7 - 1,843,805 - - - 1,843,905
Special assessment refunding bond - net of
discount and current portion - Note 7 3,683,385 - - - 3,683,385
TOTAL OTHER LIABILITIES 5,790,553 - - - 5,790,553
TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,236,204 88,804 14,928 915 8,340,851
NET POSITION
Invested In capital assets - net of related debt 1,013,446 - - 5,083,527 6,098,973
Restricted - Note B 306,459 208,224 - - 514,680
Unrestricted 4,318,474 28 029 38,370 256,844 4,641,717
TOTAL NET POSITION 5,638,379 236,250 38,370 65,340,371 11,263,370

$13874583 $ 325054 $ 63298 § 534,286 $ 19,604,221

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financtal statements.
4
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMIMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Sfrest
Water Maintenance Lighting Parks
Enterprise Enterprise Enterprise Enterprise Total
OPERATING REVENUES
User service charges % 1,972,885 $ - - $ - $ 1,972,885
Strest lights service charges - - 40,877 - 40,877 -
Street maintenance service charges - 64,158 - - 64,158
Connection fees 38,660 - - - 38,560
Relmbursements 1,633,047 - - - 1,633,047
Miscellanecus 2,806 - - - 2,806
Pajaro Park revenue - - - 27,700 27,700
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 3,647,288 64,158 40,877 27,700 3,780,023
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salarles and employes henefits 986,197 22,281 8,102 29,069 1,025,640
Generat, administralive and operaling expenses 760,129 67,490 27,380 33,292 878,291
Depreciation and amortization 418,226 - - 237,316 656,540
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 2,135,651 89,771 35,482 280,676 2,560,480
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 1,511,737 {25,613) 5,365 {271,976) 1,219,543
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Property taxes - - - 23,518 23,518
Assessmenis 176,341 - - - 176,341
Grant revenue 105,615 - - - 105,615
Other Incoms 17,767 - - - 17,767
income from Investment 8,741 - - - 8,741
Interest expense {203,213) - - - {293,213)
Other expense - - - - -
Grant relmbursement expenses {123,147) - - ~ {123,147}
NON-OPERATING REVENUES
(EXPENSES} (107,886} - - 23,618 {84,378)
INCREASE (DEGREASE} IN NET POSITION 1,403,841 {25,613} 5,395 (248,458} 1,135,165
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 4,234,638 261,863 32,975 5,688,620 10,118,205
NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 5,638,378 § 236260 2§ 38370 % 5,340,371 8§ 11,263,370

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
5



PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Recelpts from customers and others
Payments to suppliers and vendors
Payments to employees

Net cash provided hy {used In) operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Braws from line of credit
Acquisttion and construction of capltal assets
Princlpal payments on debt maturities
Interest payments
Collection of assessments
Grant Income
Coliection of properly taxes
Miscellaneous revenue

Net cash provided by (used in} capital and refated
financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
tnterest and dividends

Net cash provided by investing activities

et inerease {decrease) In cash and cash equivalents
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND RESTRICTED CASH TO STATEMENT OF
NET POSITION

Cash and cash eguivalents

Cash overdraft

Restricted cash - slreet maintenance
Restricted cash - bond reserve fund

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
RESTRICTED CASH

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Water Malntenance Lighting
Enterprise Enterprise Enterprise Total
$ 3623709 61,255 40,630 § 3,763,204
{428,210) (67,575) {76,912) (658,201)
{949,310} (22,281) (8,102} 1,008,762}
2,246,189 {28,601) 5,616 2,186,241
1,330,862 - - 1,330,862
{1,819,341) - - (1,819,341}
{552,006} - - (552,006)
{295,927) - - (295,927)
176,341 - - 189,859
{895,113) - - (895,113)
151,906 - - 151,908
17,767 - - 17,767
{1,885,511) - - {1,861,093}
8,741 = - 8,741
B,741 - - 8,741
368,419 (28,601) 5,616 332,989
1,129,941 294,396 (18,085) 1,572,359
1,480,360 265,785 {12,449) 1,905,348
1,192,901 - - 1,345,643
- (31,564) (12,449) (44,013)
- 297,359 - 297,359
306,459 - - 306,459
1,499,360 265,795 % (12,449 § 1,805,348

6
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Street
Water Maintenance Lighting Parks
Enterprise Enterprise Enterprise Enterprise Total

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
NET OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Qperating income (joss) $ 1511737 § (25,613} & 5305 & (271976) & 1,219,543
Adjustments o reconclle increase (decreass)
in net position to net cash provided by {used in)

operating activities:

Depreclation and amortization 419,225 - - 237,315 656,540
{Gain) loss on disposition of fixed assels - - - - -
Increase {Decreass) in due from other funds 39,123 - - - 38,123
Increase In prepalds 507 - - - 507
Decrease {increase) In recelvables (23,579) (2,203} (247) - {26,729}
Decrease in deposits 150 - - B 150
Degrease (Increase) in due to other funds {39,123} - - - {39,123}
(Increase) decrease In accounts payable and accruals 338,149 (85) 488 {2,302) 336,230

Mst cach provided by {uced In) cporating activities § 2246180 § {(2R601} % 56168 & {36,863) § 2,186,241

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
: 7



PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICY
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General Statement

P. 131

The Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District (District) is a Special

District within Monterey County as defined by the State of California. The District
is authorized to provide water, street maintenance, lighting and park services.
The District owns and operates nine, individual, non-contiguous water systems.
All water systems are within the District's sphere of influence, and are considered
one District, with a common, uniform rate schedule.

The District's oversight Is performed by a five-member board of directors (Board)
who are appointed for four-year terms by the Monterey County Board of
Supervisors. The Board along with the General Manager provides direction on
the overall management of the District such as overseeing operating budgets,
ongoing operations, capital planning and rate setting.

Financial Reporting Entity

The District's basic financial statements include the accounts of all District
operations. The criteria for including other organizations as component units
within the reporting entity (District) are set forth in Section 2100 of GASB's
Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards.
Based on the criteria set forth by GASB, the District has no component units.

Basis of Presentation

The District’s basic financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of
accounting and conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The District has elected under GASB Statement No. 20,
Accounting and Financial Reporting  for Proprietary Funds and Other
Governmental Activities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, 1o apply all
applicable pronouncements, statements and interpretations of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued on or after November 30, 1982, unless those
pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.

The accounts of the District are organized as enterprise funds. The activities of
these funds are accounted for with separate sets of self-balancing accounts that
comprise the District's assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows, net
assets, revenues and expenses.
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of Presentation (Continued)

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to the District is
determined by its measurement focus. The transactions of the District are
accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement focus. With this
measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operations
are included on the statement of net position.

Budgetary Controls

The District operates under a budget prepared and approved annually by the
Board of Directors. The budget is prepared on a detailed line item basis.
Revenues are budgeted by source; and expenses are budgeted by department
or enterprise (water, street maintenance, lighting and parks) and use (salaries
and employee benefits, services and supplies, other charges, fixed assets
acquisitions and contingencies). Once approved, the Board of Directors may
amend the adopted budget when unexpected modifications are required.

Budgets are adopted on a hasis consistent with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America except that bond proceeds are treated
as revenues, and bond principal payments and fixed assets acquisitions are
treated as expenses. In addition, depreclation is generally not provided for in
budgeted expenses.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Investments

For purposes of reporting cash flows, the District considers all highly liquid debt
instruments, including those that are classified as restricted assets with an
original maturity of three months or less when acquired, to be cash equivalents.



PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Customer Receivables

The District utilizes the allowance method of accounting for uncollectible or
doubtiul accounts. Accounts receivable are valued at outstanding principal
balance, reduced for any allowance. An allowance of $9,135 has been recorded
by management at June 30, 2020. Accounts receivable are written off when
deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of accounts receivable previously written off
are recorded as Income when received. Receivables over thirty (30) days past
due are assessed penalties. '

Special Assessment Receivable

Special assessments, levied to service debt for which the District is in some
manner obligated or to reimburse a fund for advances made to finance capital
improvement projects, are recognized as revenue at the time the individual
assessments become due.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are carried at cost, which includes direct labor, outside services,
materials and transportation, overhead and interest on funds borrowed to finance
construction. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair value at the
date of donation. Gains or losses resulting from the sale or disposition of
property and equipment are recognized in the period of disposition.

Repairs and maintenance including planned major maintenance activities, which
are not considered betterments and do not extend the useful life of property,
plant and equipment, are charged to expense as incurred.
Construction-in-process is not depreciated until it is placed into service.

The District recognizes depreciation using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 20-50 Years
Water and sewer system 30-50 Years
Infrastructure 20-35 Years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 Years
improvements 20 Years

10
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

The District reports deferred outflows of resources on its statement of net
position. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position
that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense) until the applicable period. The District has one item that
qualifies for reporting in this category. This item is a deferred loss on debt
refunding. A deferred loss on debt refunding results from the difference in the
carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. The amount is
reported in the statement of net position and is deferred and amortized over the
shorter of the life of the refunded (old) or refunding (new) debt.

Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net positicn that applies
to a future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources
(revenue) until then. The District has no items that qualify for reporting in this
category.

Bond Discounts and Issuance Costs

Bond discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using a
method which approximates the effective interest method. Bonds payable are
reporfed net of the applicable bond discount. Debt issuance cosis are
recognized as an expense in the year in which the costs were incurred.

Compensated Absences

District employees accumulate vacation hours for subsequent use or payment
upon termination, death or retirement. The employees accumulate up to 25 days
of vacation per year. All accumulated vacation is recorded as an expense and a
liability in the Water Enterprise Fund at the time the liability is accrued. Total
unused vacation will be paid to the employee during January of the following
year.

District employees accumulate sick leave hours for subsequent use or payment
upon death or retirement. Sick leave is recorded as an expense and a liability in
the Water Enterprise Fund to the extent it is earned during the year.

Employees hired prior to October 1, 201 1, accumulate 12 days of sick leave per

year to a maximum of 1,920 hours and one-third of unused accumulated sick
leave will be paid upon death or retirement.

11



PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Compensated Absences (Continued)

Employees hired after October 1, 2011, may accumulate sick leave up to a
maximum of 70 hours per year. At the beginning of each new calendar year,
employee’s sick leave account balances are credited with the hours necessary to
restore the accounts to the maximum of 70 hours. Unused sick leave wilt be paid
upon death or retirement.

Property Taxes

The County of Monterey is responsible for the assessment, collection and
apportionment of property taxes for all taxing jurisdictions, including the District.
Secured property taxes for each year ended June 30 are payable in equal
installiments, November 1 and February 1 and become delinquent on December
10 and April 10, respectively. The lien date is January 1 of each year. Property
taxes are accounted for as collected and remitted by the County in the
governmental funds. Property taxes on the unsecured roll are due on the
January 1 lien date and become delinquent if unpaid by August 31.

income Taxes

The District is a California local government unit which is exempt from both
federal and state income taxes.

Net Position

Net position represents the difference between the District's assets and liabllities.
Net position is classified in the following three components:

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt — This component of net
position, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding
balances of any bonds, or other borrowings that are attributable to the
acquisition of those assets. '

Restricted — This component of net position consists of constraints
imposed by creditors (debt covenants on bonds), grantors, contributors or
laws or regulations of other governments or constraints imposed by law
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Unresiricted — This component of net position consists of assets that do
not meet the definition of “restricted” or “investment in capital assets, net
of related debt”.

12
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

SUNMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Operating Revenues and Expenses -

Operating revenues and expenses consist of those revenues that result from the
ongoing principal operations of the District. Operating revenues consist primarily
of charges for services in the form of assessments or water sales. Non-operating
revenues and expenses consist of those revenues and expenses that are related
to financing and investing type of activities and result from non-exchange
transactions or ancillary activities. When an expense is incurred for purposes for
which there are both restricted and unrestricted assefs available, it is the
District's policy to apply those expenses to restricted assets to the extent such
are available and then to unrestricted assets.

General and Administrative Expense Allocation

General and administrative expenses are charged to each of the enterprises
based upon estimated cost allocations derived from time studies approved by the
Board.

New Accounting Pronouncement

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted
standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial
reporting principles. The Agency adopted Statement No. 95 - “Postponement of
the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative Guidance”. The requirements of this
Statement are effective immediately.

Subsedquent Events

Subsequent events were evaluated through January 11, 2021, the date the
financial statements were available to be issued.

13



PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH

Street
Water Maintenance  Lighting Parks
Enterprise. _Enterprise _Enterprise _Enterprise Total

Cash and cash

equivalents - $1,192,001 $ (31,564) $ (12,440 § 152,642 § 1,301,530
Restricted cash, current - 297,359 - - 297,359
Restricted cash, non-

current {(bond fund) . 306.459 - - - 306,459

$1499.360 $ 265795 % (12,449) § 152,642 §$ 1.905,348

Cash and cash equivalent and restricted cash as of June 30, 2020, consisted of the
following:

Amount
Cagh on hand $ 400
Cash in the bank - checking 1,423,416
Cash in County Treasury 175,073
Cash held in trust account 306,459

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 1,805,348

Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the
District’s Investment Policy

The California Government Code authorizes investments in U.S. Treasury
obligations, U.S. District securities, municipal securities, negotiable certificates of
deposits, commercial paper, bankers’ acceptances, medium-term corporate
bonds (“A” or better), asset-backed securities, repurchase agreements, money
market funds and local government investment pools. The District currently
invests its funds in the local government investment poo! administered by
Monterey County. As of June 30, 2020, the investment policy and the
investments of the Monterey County pool. are in compliance with the California
Government Code. '

14
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH (Continued)

Disclosure Relating to Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of changes in market interest rates adversely affecting
the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an
investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market
interest rates. As of June 30, 2020, the weighted average maturity of the
Monterey County investment portfolio is 307 days.

Disclosure Relafing to Credit Risk

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its
obligation to the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a
rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. The Monterey
County investment pool does not have a rating provided by a nationally recognized
statistical rating organization. Approximately 84.7% of the investment portfolio is
comprised of U.S. Treasuries, Federal District securities, Negotiable CDs and other
liguid funds.

All of those assets have an investment grade rating. U.S. Treasuries are not
specifically rated, but are considered the safest of all investments, The corporate
debt (14.3%) is rated in the higher levels of investment grade. All Federal securities
have AA ratings or are guaranteed by the U.S. Treasury.

Concentration of Credit Rislk

The Monterey County or the District investment policy contains no limitations on the
amount that can be Invested in any one issuer beyond that stipulated by the
California Government Code. The Monterey County pool does not include any
investments by any one issuer (other than the State of Califomia Local District
Investment Fund and the California Asset Management Program ~ external
govemmental investment pools) that represents 10% or more of total investments.

15



PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

" CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH (Continued)

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial Credit Risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a
depository financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits
or will not be able to recover coliateral securities that are in the possession of an
“outside party. The Califomnia Govemnment Code does not contain legal or policy
requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits. The
provisions require a financial institution to secure deposits made by state or local
govemmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a
depository. Regulated pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least
110% of the total amount deposited by the public agencies. California law also
allows financial institutions to secure districts’ deposits by pledging first trust deed
mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured public deposits.

The District also maintains checking accounts with a financial institution and uses
these accounts as operating accounts for the District. As of June 30, 2020, the
District has $1,087,980 on deposit with one bank. The District also has on deposit
$306,549 in restricted cash held in trust by another financial institution. The
deposits are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to the
amount of $250,000 and the State regulation stipulated above fully insures all
deposits as of June 30, 2020.

RECEIVABLES
Receivables consisted of the following at June 30, 2020:

Street
Water Maintenance  Lighting Parks

Entorprise _ Enterprise Enterprise Enterprise Total

Service charge
recelvables $ 253,807 $ 688 % - 5 - $ 254,585
Uncollectible allowance (9,135) - - - (9,135)
Assessment receivables - 2,903 1,907 - 4,810
Qther receivables 257 - 860 - 1,117
§ 245019 8 3501 $ 2767 5 - $ 251,377
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

BOND REPAYMENT ASSESSMENT RECEIVABLES

Bond repayment assessment receivables consisted of the following at June 30,
2020:

Water bond receivables $ 207,352
Vega bond receivables 3,636,802
3,844,154
Less current portion (166,914)
Bond repayment assessment receivables,
net of current portion $ 3,677,240
CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity tor the year ended June 30, 2020, consisted of the following:

July 1, 2018 Additions __ Deletions _ June 30, 2020
Capital Assets :

Not Depraciated:
Land $ 1,585739 § 60,714 $ - $ 1,646,453
Construction in process 635,008 1,639,179 {85,144) 2,189,043
2,220,747 1,699,893 (85,144) 3,835,496
Capital Assets Being
Depreciated:
Utility plant 2,347,098 58,275 - 2,406,273
Buildings and
improvements 508,245 16,431 - 520,676
Machinery and
equipment 772,255 96,833 (42,734) 826,354
Vega plant
improvements 4,580,074 29,928 - 4,620,002
Normco tank 296,975 - - 296,975
Langley/\V/P 240,497 - - 240,497
Vierra Estate 175,238 - - 175,238
Moss Landing Water 297,669 4124 - 301,793
Pajaro Park buildings
and improvements 5,613,510 - - 5,513,510
14,739,461 204,591 {42.734) 14,901,318
Total Capital Assets 186,960,208 1,904,484 (127,878) 18,736,814
Less accumulated
depreaciation (6,276,280) {645,920) 42,734 (6,879.466)

$ 10683928 $§  1.258.564 $ {85.144) $ 11.857,348
17




PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

LINE OF CREDIT

In March 2019, the District entered info a collateralized line of credit agreement
with Santa Cruz County Bank to assist with the working capital requirements for
the Pajaro Tank Project. The maximum amount available for borrowing is
$2,316,125 and the interest rate of Wall Street Journal Prime Rate plus 1.00%
totaled 4.25% as of June 30, 2020. The maturity date of the agreement is March
28, 2021. The line of credit balance was $1,252,147 as of June 30, 2020.

LONG-TERWM DEBT

2015 Water Revenue Refuhc_!ing Bonds

In June 2015, the District issued $2,275,000 in Water Revenue Refunding Bonds
to provide resources to purchase U.S. Government Securities that were placed in
escrow for the purpose of generating resources for full payment of the 2010
Certificates of Participation. As a result, the 2010 Certificates of Participation
were considered to be defeased, and the liability was removed from the
statement of net position in 2015. '

The Water Revenue Refunding Bonds mature in installments ranging from
$60,000 to $140,000 from May 1, 2016 through May 1, 2040, and bear interest at
rates from 2.00% to 4.40%, payable annually on May 1 each year.

The Bonds are subject to optional prepayment prior to their respective stated

P. 141

maturities, as a whole or in part in order of maturity, on or after May 1, 2023. The

amount of such optional prepayments is equal to the principal, accrued interest to
the date of prepayment plus a prepayment premium, if applicable. The premium
is computed on the principal prepaid at a rate of 2% for May 1, 2023 through
November 1, 2023, and 1% for prepayment dates May 1, 2024 through
November 1, 2024. There are no premiums applicable to prepayments made on
or after May 1, 2025.

The Bonds maturing on May 1, 2040, are subject fo mandatory prepayments
ranging from $115,000 to $140,000 beginning May 1, 2036 through May 1, 2040.

18
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2020

LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)
2015 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds (Continued)

A Reserve Fund, equal to the lesser of 10% of the proceeds of the Bonds, the
maximum annual debt service, or 125% of the average annual debt service on
the Certificates, is required. The balance in the Reserve Fund at June 30, 2020,
was $147,857 and is included in restricted cash in the statement of net position.

The District is obligated to make installment payments solely from the *Net
Revenues” defined as the gross revenues during each fiscal year, less the
maintenance and operation costs during each fiscal year.

Special Assessment Vega Water Bond

The District has an outstanding special assessment bond which was issued for
the primary purpose of enabling the District to acquire and construct certain
water storage and distribution improvements and appurtenances. The special
assessment bond was issued under, and is subject to, the provisions of the
Improvement Bond Act of 1915 and are collateralized by liens against properties
within the District and repaid from assessments levied against the subject
properties, The District is liable for delinquent unpaid assessments in excess of
the amounts recoverable upon sale or redemption of the subject properties.

At June 30, 2020, unpaid assessments receivable amounted to $3,636,802 of
which $135,000 is current and $3,501,802 is non-current. The assessments are
billed to consumers through property tax rolis by the County of Monterey.

The Vega Special Assessment Bond was originally issued at $4,715,000 with
instaliment payments ranging from $10,000 to $420,000 paid serially from
September 2, 2009 through September 2, 2038, and bear interest at rates 4% to
5%, payable semiannually on March 2 and September 2 of each year.

During fiscal year 2016, the District paid in full the outstanding payable balance

of the 2007 Vega Special Assessment Bond via debt refunding. Referto the
section below for more details.
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PAJAROISUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

2015 Vega Mutual Water Refunding District Bonds

In July 2015, the District issued $4,135,000 in Vega Mutual Water Refunding
Bonds to provide resources to purchase U.S. Government Securities that were
placed in escrow for the purpose of generating resources for full payment of the
original Vega Mutual Water Assessment District, Series 2007 Bonds.

The outstanding principal of the defeased bonds is $4,204,800 at June 30, 2016.
The reacquisition price exceeded the net carrying amount of the old debt by
$110,020. This amount is presented as deferred outflow of resources and is
amortized over the life of the refunded debt, which is the same as the original
debt. This advance refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service
payments over the next twenty-two years by approximately $770,000 and
resulted in an economic gain (difference between the present values of debt
service payments on the old and new debt) of approximately $550,000.

The Bonds are collateratized by liens against properties within the District and
repaid from assessments levied agalnst the subject properties. The District is
liable for delinquent unpaid assessments in excess of the amounts recoverable
upon sale or redemption of the subject properties.

The Bonds mature in instaliments ranging from $80,000 to $275,000 from
September 2, 2016 through September 2, 2037, and bear interest at rates from
3.50% to 4.25%, payable semiannually on March 2 and September 2 of each

year.

The Bonds are subject to optional redemption prior to their respective stated
maturities, as a whole or in part in order of maturity, on or after March 2, 2016.

The redemption price is equal to the principal, accrued interest to the date of
prepayment plus a prepayment premium, if applicable. The premium s
computed on the principal prepaid at a rate of 3% for March 2, 2026 through
September 2, 2025. There are no premiums applicable to redemptions made on
or after March 2, 2026.
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

LONG-TERWM DEBT (Continued)

Special Assessment Water Improvement Bond

The District has an outstanding special assessment bond which was issued for
the purpose of enabling the District to acquire and make improvements to certain
water treatment systems. The special assessment bond was issued under, and
is subject to, the provisions of the Improvement Bond Act of 1915 and are
collateralized by liens against properties within the District and repaid from
assessments levied against the subject properties. The District is liable for
delinquent unpaid assessments in excess of the amounts recoverable upon sale
or redemption of the subject properties.

The Improvement Special Assessment Bond was originally issued at $692,700
with instaliment payments ranging from $1,000 to $43,000 paid serially from
September 2, 1987 through September 2, 2025, and bear interest at 6.375%,
payable semiannually on March 2 and September 2 of each year.

At June 30, 2020, unpaid assessments receivable amounted to $207,352 of
which $31,914 is current and $175,438 is non-current. The assessments are
billed to consumers through property fax rolis by the County of Monterey.

Reorganization Loan

The District obtained a loan in 2007 with an original principal amount of $520,000
for the purpose of refinancing an existing loan with a financial institution and the
construction of various District improvements. The loan constituted a first lien on
all District net revenues. The principal payments range from $20,000 fo $40,000
paid from September 14, 2007 through May 14, 2026, with an interest rate of
5.25%, paid semiannually on September 14 and May 14 of each year.

VYehicle Loan

The District obtained a $33,500 loan from a financial institution on December 2,
2014, for the purchase of a District vehicle. The loan matured on December 16,
2019, and required monthly payments of $609. The District obtained $63,024 in
loans from a financial institution on March 13, 2020, for the purchase of two
District vehicles. These loans mature on September 11, 2025, and require total
monthly payments of $1,189.
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2020

LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

Changes in long-term debt amounts for 2020 were as follows:

Balance Balance Due Within
2019 Additions _Reductions " 2020 One Year
Long-term debf:
2015 Water Revenue :
Refunding Bonds $ 2,010,000 % - $ (65,000) $ 1945000 $ 70,000
2015 Vega Refunding
Bonds 3,762,900 - {125,000 3,637,900 135,000
Water Improvement
Bond 253,000 - {29,000) 224,000 31,000
Reorganization loan 275,000 - {30,000) 245,000. 30,000
Vehicle loan 3,608 63,024 {8,088) 58,644 10,281
Unamortized discount {45,901) - 2.201 {43,610) -
Total long-term debt 6258607 $ 63024 $§ (254797) 6,066,834 § 276281
L.ess current portion (252,608) (276,281)
Total long-term debt,
net of current portion  $_6,005,999 $ 5,790,553
Future debt service requirements for the years ending June 30 are as follows:
Principal Interest Total
Current $ 276,281  § 251,480 § 527,761
2022 291,134 240,118 531,252
2023 303,755 227,691 531,446
2024-2027 - 1,311,374 772,298 2,083,672
2028-2032 1,480,000 691,833 2,181,833
2033-2037 1,820,000 360,197 2,180,197
Thereafter 574,290 42,138 616.426

b g066834 § 2,585,763 8 8,652,587

22

P. 145




P. 146

PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

RESTRICTED NET POSITION

Restricted assets consisted of the following at June 30, 2020:

Amount
Water bond fund $ 306,459
Street maintenance reserve fund 208.221
$ 514.680

The District has established a water trust account at a financial institution to hold
and separate proceeds received from the Vega Water Mutual Refunding Bond
and Water Revenue Refunding Bonds. The funds are held in trust until at which
time expenditures occur for the designated projects and payments are remitted.
In addition, reserve trust accounts are maintained at a financial institution o hold
funds for future debt service as in accordance with the bond agreement.

The District, through county tax rolls, assesses specific home associations for
street maintenance and repairs. Included in the assessments are funds for future
large street projects. The accumulation of these fees, although not actually
segregated from other District assets, are legally segregated by accounting
purposes and restricted for their intended use by enabling state legislation and
District ordinances.
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

POOLED ARRANGEMENTS

The District is a member of the Association of California Water Agencies Joint
Powers Insurance Authority (Authority).

The Authority is a risk-pooling, self insurance authority, created under provisions
of California Government Code Sections 6500 et seq. The purpose of the
Authority is to arrange and administer programs of insurance for the pooling of
self-insured losses and to purchase excess insurance coverage. The Authority
provides coverage to the District for property losses, auto and general liability,
worker's compensation, public official's liability and underground fank storage
losses. Members of the Authority share the costs of professional risk
management, claims administration and excess insurance, The District
establishes an amount which represents the District’s deductible per occurrence
and the Authority provides self-insured coverage up to established pool limits for
the varlous type of insurance coverage. Seftlements have not exceeded
insurance coverage in each of the past three years.

Coverage limits are $2 million per occurrence for general liability, automotive and
public official's liability; replacement cost for property, subject to varying
deductibles: $100,000 for crime coverage, and statutory limits for worker's
compensation.

RETIREMENT PLAN

The District's current defined contribution ptan (Plan) administered by the Public
District Retirement Services (PARS) provides retirement benefits to alt full-time
employees employed on or after January 1, 2010. The District is required to
contribute an amount equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the permanent full-time
employees’ gross salaries. The contribution to the Plan was $104,427 for the
year ended June 30, 2020. Employees become 100% vested in the Plan upon
completion of five years of service. If the age and years of service requirements
are not met at termination of employment, the employee is entitled to one-half of
all their accrued contributions. Any employee forfeitures are either refurned to
the District and used to offset future contributions or reallocated pro-rata among
the remaining employees. The fair market value (and carrying value) of the Plan
is determined by the current vaiue of the Plan's investment portfolio in the open

market.
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PAJAROISUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

The Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District serves the residents of
specific geographic areas of North Monterey County and extends credit o
substantially all of its customers and does not require security deposits for all of
its customers.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The District is subject fo various claims and legal actions relating to a range of
matters that are incidental to the conduct of its operations. In management's
opinion, the outcome of any such litigation will not materially affect the District's
financial condition, and management intends to vigorously pursue their positions
in these matters.

North County Water System Improvement Projects

On May 27, 2010, Certificates of Participation were executed for the purpose of
improving systems in the area that have quantity and quality water issues. The
project will include the construction of the water system to serve potable water
and fire suppression flows to areas within the District which are presently out of
compliance with county and state environmental health standards due to very
high levels of arsenic and nitrate contaminations. As a result of the 2015 Water
Revenue bond refunding, these Certificates of Participation were considered to
be defeased in the year ended June 30, 2015. Refer to Note 7 for additional
information.

PAJARO NEIGHBORHOOD PARK - DONATED CAPITAL ASSETS

On February 11, 2014, the District was given title to the property and
improvements of the newly constructed Pajaro Neighborhood Park (Park).
Funding for the construction of the Parlk was provided by a grant from the State
Department of Parks and Recreation (Proposition 84) and the Redevelopment
District of Monterey County. The total transfer project value was approximately
$6.3 million. As part of the property transfer agreement, the District is now
responsible for the cost to operate and maintain the Park for a period of twenty
years.. Per grant conditions, the District is not allowed to charge a gate fee, or
use fee for the general public. Reservation fees for special events are paid
directly to a third party operator. The District does not generate revenue from the
Pajaro Park.
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

GRANTS

The District has received financial assistance from various federal and state
agencies in the form of grants. These programs are subject to audit by agents of
the granting authority. Management does not believe that liabilities for
reimbursements, if any, will have a materially adverse effect upon the financial
condition of the District.

Grants from State Water Resources Control Board

On June 6, 2017, the District became eligible for funding of cleanup and
abatement activities via a grant received from the State Water Board. The
maximum amount payable under this agresment shall not exceed $153,218, of
which $79,164 is budgeted for prior years with bottled distribution records to be
completed by June 30, 2017. The additional funding of $74,064 was given to
continue the bottled water distribution. Under the grant agreement, the District
may obtain funding for reasonable and necessary costs of clean up and
abatement acivities, including providing interim replacement drinking water to
disadvantaged communities, incurred on or after September 5, 2014, with bottled
distribution records to be completed by December 31, 2019. The District's
funding for the same project for prior period (2013-2016) was amended and
increased by $50,000, with the final claim and disbursement date moved to May
1, 2019.

On October 1, 2019, the District received a grant from the California Water
Boards for the purpose of purchasing and delivering bottled drinking water for
three distinct project areas withing Monterey County. The total grant of $532,565
funds work completed by September 30, 2022, fo provide five-galion water
bottles, totaling approximately. 66 gallons to bottled drinking water to
approximately 218 people.

In September 20186, the District entered into a grant agreement with the State
Water Resources Control Board for the purpose of assisting in financing the cost
of studies, planning and other preliminary activities associated with the
construction of a new well, which will enable the District to mest safe drinking
water standards. The State will provide grant funding to the District in an amount
equal to $500,000. In accordance with the agreement, the District Is required to
complete the project and submit a final planning report to the State Water
Resources Control Board no later than February 15, 2020. The District had six
months from completion to submit all invoices related to the project, and the
project was closed on July 15, 2020.
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2020

GRANTS (Continued)

Grant from California Department of Water Resources

On September 14, 2014, the District entered into a grant agreement with the San
Benito County Water District for the construction of a new 600,000-gallon tank.
The new tank will be constructed in the undeveloped area adjacent to the site of
the existing water storage tank. The total cost of the project is estimated to be -
$1.7 milllon. The funds for this project will be provided by the California
Department of Water Resources. As of June 30, 2020, the project is still in
progress,

WATER RATE INCREASES

in November 2015, the Board of Directors of the District approved water rate
increases, which became effective on January 1, 2016, and in effect for five fiscal
years.

The approved increases are as follows for the years ending June 30:

2016: 15%
2017: 8%
2018: 5%
2019 5%
2020: 5%
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES,
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - WATER ENTERPRISE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Variance
Original Amended Favorable
Budget Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
OPERATING REVENUES
User service charges $ 2,028,700 $ 2,028,700 $ 1,972,885 $ (65,815)
Reimbursements 27,500 27,500 1,633,047 1,605,547
Connection fees 15,800 15,800 38,550 22,750
Miscellaneous 1,850 1,950 2,806 856
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 2,073,950 2,073,950 3,647,288 1,573,338
OPERATING EXPENSES
Selaries and employee benefits 1,002,800 1,002,800 986,197 36,603
Water system repairs and maintenance 275,000 275,000 293,035 (18,035}
Utilities - well site 168,000 168,000 137,591 30,408
Legat expenses 140,000 65,000 61,714 3,286
Other expenses 49,500 49,500 4,288 45,211
Accounting and hookkeeping 37,000 37,000 33,557 3,443
Office expenses 32,9006 32,500 35,951 {3,081)
Soll and water tests 34,000 34,000 28,475 8,525
Casualty insurance 31,000 31,600 28,401 2,599
Fusl 25,500 25,500 36,405 {10,905)
Licenses and permits 25,000 25,000 29,614 {4,614)
Membership fees and dues 19,000 19,000 18,860 140
Telephone 17,000 17,600 16,952 48
Postage 8,500 8,500 8,000 500
Utllitiss - office 4,000 4,000 3,070 930
Bond administrative costs 3,500 3,800 11,471 (7,971)
Enginesring expense 1,000 1,060 2,734 {1,734)
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 1,873,700 1,788,700 1,716,326 82,374
OPERATING INCOME 200,250 275,250 1,930,962 1,665,712
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Assessments ) 312,750 312,750 176,341 (136,409)
Grant revenue - - 105,618 105,615
Income from invesiment 5,700 5,700 8,741 3,041
Other income 1,500 1,500 17,767 16,267
Bond principal payménts and Interest expense {514,050} (514,050} {548,010) (33,960)
Other non-operating expenses - - - -
Grant reimbursement expenses - - (123,147) {123,147)
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) « NET {1924,100) {194,100) (362,603) (168,593)
INCREASE IN NET POSITION - )
BUDGETARY BASIS $ 8,150 $ 81,150 1,568,266 § 1,487,119
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN BUDGETARY AND GAAP EXPENDITURES:
Depreciation and amortization expense (419,225)
Debt principal payments 284,797
TOTAL CHANGE IN NET POSITION REPORTED ON THE STATEMENT OF
REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION $ 1,403,841

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this supplementary information.
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES,
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - STREET MAINTENANCE ENTERPRISE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Variance
Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfaverable)
OPERATING REVENUES
Sireet maintenance reimbursements 3 63,800 $ 64,158 $ 358
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 63,800 64,158 358
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salarles and employee benefits 31,160 22,281 8,869
General, administrative and operating expenses 32,6560 67,490 (34,840)
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 63,800 80,771 {25,971
OPERATING INCORE - {25,613} (26,613)
DECREASE IN NET POSITION -
BUDGETARY BASIS $ - (26,613) § {25,613)

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN BUDGETARY AND GAAP EXPENDITURES: -

TOTAL DECREASE IN NET POSITION REPORTED ON THE STATEMENT OF
REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 3 {25813)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this supplementary information.
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES,
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - LIGHTING ENTERPRISE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Variance
Favorable
Budget Actual {Unfavorable)
OPERATING REVENUES
Street lights service charges $ 44,100 $ 40877 & {223)
TOTAL OPERATING REYENUES 41,100 40,877 (223)
OQPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and employee bensfits 12,000 8,102 3,808
General, administrafive and operating expenses 29,100 27,380 1,720
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 41,100 35,482 5,618
OPERATING INCOME - 5,395 5,395
INCREASE IN NET POSITION -
5388 § 5,385

BUDGETARY BASIS _23;________-____

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN BUDGETARY AND GAAP EXPENDITURES:

TOTAL INCREASE [N NET POSITION REPORTED ON THE STATEMENT OF
REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

S__53%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this supplementary information.
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PAJARO/SUNNY MESA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES,
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - PARKS ENTERPRISE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Variance
Favorable
Budget Actual {Unfavorable)
OPERATING REVENUES
Pajaro Park revenue _ 3 - $ 27,700 % 27,700
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES ‘ - 27,700 27,700
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and employee benefits 49,260 29,069 20,181
General, administrative and operaling expenses 22,600 33,292 {10,682)
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSBES 71,850 62,361 0,489
OPERATING LOSS (71,850) {34,661} 37,188
NON-OPERATING REVENUES {(EXPENSES)
Propertly tax 20,000 23,518 3,618
Other income {expenss) - - -
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 20,000 23,618 3,618
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION -
BUDGETARY BASIS $ (51,850) (i1,143) § 40,707
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN BUDGETARY AND GAAP EXPENDITURES:
Depreciation and amortization expense (237,315)
TOTAL DECREASE IN NET POSITION REPORTED ON THE STATEMENT OF
REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION $ (248,458)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this supplementary information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE
AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
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GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE
AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors
Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District
Royal Oaks, California

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audit contained in
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States, the financial statements of the Pajaro/Sunny Mesa Community Services District
(District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the District's basic financial
statements, and have issued our repori thereon dated January 11, 2021.

Internal Confrol Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the
District's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our
opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an cpinion on
the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not
allow management or -employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in Internal control, such that
there Is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the District’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by

those charged with governance.
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Qur consideration of the internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in infernal control that
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that
have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's financial
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tesis of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements,
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination
of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or
other matters that are required to he reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
the effectiveness of the District's internal control or on compliance. This report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the District's internal controi and compliance.  Accordingly, this
communication is not suitable for any other purpose.
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Salinas, California
January 11, 2021

P e o = e P
o Lo ;é e , R o
B i ;

35



